
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 27 February 2018

Council
Wednesday 7 March 2018, 7.00 pm

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Chair) Councillor John Crouch (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Peter Bales Councillor Barbara Cannon
Councillor Nicky Cockburn Councillor John Colhoun
Councillor John Cook Councillor Joseph Cowell
Councillor Len Davies Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston
Councillor Joan Ellis Councillor Duncan Fairbairn
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Bill Finlay
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Mark Fryer
Councillor Malcolm Grainger Councillor Konrad Hansen
Councillor Hilary Harrington Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor Alan Hedworth Councillor Vaughan Hodgson
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Mark Jenkinson Councillor Frank Johnston
Councillor Angela Kendall Councillor Peter Kendall
Councillor Jim Lister Councillor Tony Lywood
Councillor Patricia Macdonald Councillor Louise Maguire
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey
Councillor Ron Munby Councillor Eric Nicholson
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Bill Pegram
Councillor Alan Pitcher Councillor Martin Pugmire
Councillor Denis Robertson Councillor Joe Sandwith
Councillor Neil Schofield Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Christine Smith Councillor Stephen Stoddart
Councillor Celia Tibble Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor Lee Williamson Councillor David Wilson
Councillor Janice Wood Councillor Martin Wood

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Page 1



Agenda
1. Minutes of meetings Wednesday 17 January 2018 of Council  (Pages 5 - 12)

To sign as a correct record the minutes of the Council meetings held on 17 
January 2018.

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
To consider whether there are any items on the agenda for which the press and 
public should be excluded.

5. Questions and Petitions  
To answer questions under Procedural Rule No. 4.16 from members of the 
public and from Councillors under Procedural Rule No. 4.17.2 and to receive 
Petitions under Access to Information Rules.

6. Notices of Motion  
To receive Notices of Motion.

7. Councillor Speeches  
To hear speeches (not exceeding 5 minutes each), for up to a specified period of 
15 minutes, from individual members on a local issue in the Member’s Ward, of 
which 24 hours’ notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

8. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service  (Pages 
13 - 14)

9. Portfolio Holder Updates  (Pages 15 - 28)

10. Executive Minutes  (Pages 29 - 32)
To note the contents of the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 24 
January 2018. 

11. Reference from Executive 21 February 2018 - Capital Investment Strategy 
2018/19 to 2019/20  (Pages 33 - 48)

12. Reference from Executive 21 February 2018 - Draft Revenue & Capital 
Budget Proposals 2018/19  (Pages 49 - 116)

13. Council Tax Resolution Report 2018/19  (Pages 117 - 130)

14. Reference from Audit Committee 19 February 2018 - Treasury Management 
Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement 2018/19  (Pages 131 - 182)

15. Members' Allowances 2018/19  (Pages 183 - 212)

Page 2



16. Pay Policy Statement 2018/19  (Pages 213 - 222)

17. Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  (Pages 223 - 228)

18. Community Governance Reviews  (Pages 229 - 248)

19. Appointment of Deputy Electoral Registration Officers  (Pages 249 - 252)

20. Reference from Audit Committee 19 February 2018 - Local Code of 
Corporate Governance  (Pages 253 - 268)

21. Waiver of six month councillor attendance rule (section 85 of the Local 
Government Act 1972)  (Pages 269 - 272)

Corporate Director

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 2 May 2018, 7.00 pm
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



At a special meeting of the Council held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, 
Workington on Wednesday 17 January 2018 at 7.00 pm

Members

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Peter Bales Councillor Barbara Cannon
Councillor John Colhoun Councillor John Cook
Councillor Len Davies Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Marion Fitzgerald
Councillor Mark Fryer Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Alan Hedworth
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Frank Johnston Councillor Jim Lister
Councillor Tony Lywood Councillor Louise Maguire
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Alan Pitcher
Councillor Neil Schofield Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Christine Smith Councillor Stephen Stoddart
Councillor Celia Tibble Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson Councillor Janice Wood
Councillor Martin Wood

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor John Crouch, Councillor Nicky 
Cockburn, Councillor Joseph Cowell, Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston, Councillor 
Duncan Fairbairn, Councillor Bill Finlay, Councillor Vaughan Hodgson, Councillor Mark 
Jenkinson, Councillor Angela Kendall, Councillor Peter Kendall, Councillor Patricia 
Macdonald, Councillor Ron Munby, Councillor Eric Nicholson, Councillor Bill Pegram, 
Councillor Denis Robertson, Councillor Joe Sandwith and Councillor Lee Williamson

Staff Present

B Carlin, D Devine, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, K Magnay, 
C Nicholson, A Seekings, E Thompson, L Tomlinson, R Wilkinson, G Wilson and 
P Wood

Also Present

Councillor M Pugmire

290. Appointment of Honorary Freeman of the Borough 

The Mayor welcomed Councillors and guests to the meeting.

Councillor A Smith proposed the following:

That Allerdale Borough Council, in pursuance of the provisions of Section 
249(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, hereby confers the title of Honorary 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Freeman of the Borough upon Malcolm Irving Wilson, OBE in recognition of 
sporting excellence, services to the community and contribution to the borough 
through economic regeneration and tourism.

This was seconded by Councillor T Markley.

A vote was taken on the motion. The vote in favour was unanimous. The motion 
was carried.

The Mayor offered congratulations to the Honorary Freeman on behalf of the 
Council and the people of the borough.

The Honorary Freeman addressed the meeting and thanked the Council for 
bestowing the honour upon him.

Resolved

That Allerdale Borough Council, in pursuance of the provisions of Section 
249(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, hereby confers the title of Honorary 
Freeman of the Borough upon Malcolm Irving Wilson, OBE in recognition of 
sporting excellence, services to the community and contribution to the borough 
through economic regeneration and tourism.

The meeting closed at 7.14 pm

Page 6



At a meeting of the Council held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington on 
Wednesday 17 January 2018 at 7.30 pm

Members

Councillor Mary Bainbridge (Chair)
Councillor Tony Annison Councillor Carole Armstrong
Councillor Peter Bales Councillor Barbara Cannon
Councillor John Colhoun Councillor John Cook
Councillor Len Davies Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Marion Fitzgerald
Councillor Mark Fryer Councillor Malcolm Grainger
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Hilary Harrington
Councillor Michael Heaslip Councillor Alan Hedworth
Councillor Joe Holliday Councillor William Jefferson
Councillor Frank Johnston Councillor Jim Lister
Councillor Tony Lywood Councillor Louise Maguire
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes
Councillor Billy Miskelly Councillor Jacqueline Mounsey
Councillor Jim Osborn Councillor Alan Pitcher
Councillor Martin Pugmire Councillor Joe Sandwith
Councillor Neil Schofield Councillor Alan Smith
Councillor Christine Smith Councillor Stephen Stoddart
Councillor Celia Tibble Councillor Philip Tibble
Councillor David Wilson Councillor Janice Wood
Councillor Martin Wood

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor John Crouch, Councillor Nicky 
Cockburn, Councillor Joseph Cowell, Councillor Adrian Davis-Johnston, Councillor 
Duncan Fairbairn, Councillor Bill Finlay, Councillor Vaughan Hodgson, Councillor Mark 
Jenkinson, Councillor Angela Kendall, Councillor Peter Kendall, Councillor Patricia 
Macdonald, Councillor Ron Munby, Councillor Eric Nicholson, Councillor Bill Pegram, 
Councillor Denis Robertson and Councillor Lee Williamson

Staff Present

B Carlin, D Devine, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, K Magnay, 
C Nicholson, A Seekings, E Thompson, L Tomlinson, R Wilkinson, G Wilson and 
P Wood

291. Minutes of meeting Wednesday 15 November 2017 of Council 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2017 were signed as a 
correct record.

292. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

Page 7



293. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

There were no items on the agenda for which the press and public should have 
been excluded.

294. Questions and Petitions 

None received.

295. Notices of Motion 

Councillor L Davies moved the following:

Recent media announcements have reported an alarming and worsening 
shortage of nurses and associated health professionals in the NHS.

I ask that this Council agrees to write to the Secretary of State for Health urging 
the reinstatement of bursaries for student nurses and associated health 
professionals to be implemented with immediate effect in order to encourage 
those who wish to study for service in the NHS – thus helping to alleviate the 
chronic understaffing in our hospitals.

I also ask that Council agrees to invite the following, to add their signatures to 
the intended letter to underline our joint clear message regarding the legitimate 
concerns, that there are distinct and dire consequences to our National Health 
Service provision if prompt action is not taken:-

 Cumbria County Council
 North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust
 Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
 Royal College of Nursing
 Unison
 GMB
 All MP’s who represent the people of Cumbria

Councillor J Cook seconded the motion.

Councillor A Smith moved that the motion be amended to read as follows:

Recent media announcements have reported an alarming and worsening crisis 
facing the NHS this winter. Despite the efforts of our fantastic NHS staff, 
Government underfunding to the NHS and Adult Social Care has left our health 
service more vulnerable than ever before.

A & E performance was the worst on record, across England over 300,000 
patients waited longer than four hours in A & E, almost 70,000 had to wait 
longer than four hours on a trolley for a hospital bed and so far this winter more 
than 92,000 patients have been stuck in the back of ambulances outside 
hospitals. The latest figures also show 1 in 4 people wait a week or more to 
speak to a GP or nurse, or don’t get an appointment at all. 

Page 8



Demand for NHS Services is up somewhere between 10% and 20%. 
Unfortunately, the number of nurses has started falling and the number of 
vacant posts are rising. The severe cuts to the NHS are having a detrimental 
impact on the retention of nursing staff especially among the under 40’s age 
group. 33,000 nurses quit the NHS last year which equates to approximately 
10% of the nursing workforce. The vote on Brexit has also had an impact. In 
2014/15 and 2015/16 for example 6,000 additional nurses per year came to 
work in the NHS. Last year only 2,900 arrived whilst 4000 left the UK.

It is clear that the Government is letting patients down in Allerdale and across 
the country.

We ask that this council agrees to write to the Secretary of State for Health (& 
Social Care) asking for a reversal of the savage cuts made to both the NHS and 
Adult Social Care which have led to this crisis.

In addition we ask that he also comes up with a longer-term plan to make the 
NHS sustainable including:

a) The reinstatement of bursaries for student nurses and associated health 
professionals to be implemented with immediate effect in order to 
encourage those who wish to study for service in the NHS – thus helping 
to alleviate the chronic understaffing in our hospitals.

b) Put safe staffing levels into law.
c) Halt closure plans to hospitals or wards and especially plans in which 

affect patients in West Cumbria.
d) Join up services from home to hospital with a properly integrated health 

and social care service at the earliest opportunity.

The amendment to the motion was seconded by Councillor C McCarron-
Holmes.

A vote was taken on the amendment – 30 voted in favour, 10 against. The 
amendment was carried and became the substantive motion on the floor.

A vote was taken on the substantive motion – 31 voted in favour, 0 against and 
9 abstained from voting. The motion was carried.

Resolved

That the Council agrees to write to the Secretary of State for Health (& Social 
Care) asking for a reversal of the savage cuts made to both the NHS and Adult 
Social Care.

In addition the Council asks that he also comes up with a longer-term plan to 
make the NHS sustainable including:

a) The reinstatement of bursaries for student nurses and associated health 
professionals to be implemented with immediate effect in order to 
encourage those who wish to study for service in the NHS – thus helping 
to alleviate the chronic understaffing in our hospitals.

b) Put safe staffing levels into law.

Page 9



c) Halt closure plans to hospitals or wards and especially plans in which 
affect patients in West Cumbria.

d) Join up services from home to hospital with a properly integrated health 
and social care service at the earliest opportunity.

296. Councillor Speeches 

None received.

297. Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service 

The Mayor made reference to the engagements she and the Deputy Mayor had 
undertaken since the last meeting.

298. Portfolio Holder Updates 

Councillor A Smith, Leader of the Council presented his report.

Councillor T Markley raised concerns about coastal erosion along the road from 
Silloth to Maryport. He asked for support and awareness from Councillors with 
regard to the issue.

Councillor A Smith assured Councillors that he made sure relevant parties were 
aware of such issues when attending meetings of the Industrial Communities 
Alliance, Northern Powerhouse All Party Parliamentary Group, Joint Districts 
and the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership. He expected that members of 
Cumbria County Council were also raising awareness of such issues.

Councillor M Fryer, Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for
Economic Growth presented his report.

Councillor J Lister left the meeting.

Councillor M Heaslip, Portfolio Holder for Locality and Environmental Quality 
presented his report.

Councillor T Annison asked for information on how to apply for street lights at 
Eaglesfield Paddle CE Primary Academy car park, on behalf of Blindbothel 
Parish Council. Councillor M Heaslip replied that if the Parish Council were to 
write to the Council with regard to this it could be looked into.

Councillor W Jefferson, Portfolio Holder for Tourism and Culture presented his 
report.

Councillor J Lister returned to the meeting.

Councillor L Maguire left the meeting.

Councillor L Maguire returned to the meeting.

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes, Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health and
Wellbeing presented her report.

Page 10



Councillor B Cannon, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Resources (Finance and
Property) presented her report.

Councillor A Pitcher raised concerns on behalf of Wigton Town Council and the 
Wigton Burial Joint Committee. The Town Council had been notified that it 
would no longer be receiving the Burial Support Grant. Councillor B Cannon 
said that she would look into this and provide a response.

Councillor J Ellis, Portfolio Holder for Governance and People Resources 
presented her report.

Councillor L Davies left the meeting.

Councillor K Hansen, Portfolio Holder for Transformation presented his report.

299. Update from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Councillor A Pitcher, Co-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
presented the report.

Members noted the report.

300. Reference from Audit Committee 27 November 2017 - Treasury 
Management Operations – Mid-year review 2017/18 

Councillor N Schofield, Chair of the Audit Committee moved the 
recommendation made by the Committee at its meeting on 27 November 2017. 
This was seconded by Councillor M Fryer.

Members noted the report.

Resolved

That the contents of the Treasury Management Operations – Mid-year review 
2017/18 report be noted.

301. Museums’ Collections Disposals Policy 

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes left the meeting.

Councillor W Jefferson moved the recommendations set out in the report. 
Councillor M Fryer seconded the motion.

A vote was taken on the motion – the vote in favour was unanimous. The 
motion was carried.

Councillor C McCarron-Holmes returned to the meeting.

Councillor N Schofield left the meeting.

Page 11



Resolved

That the Council agrees the revised versions of the policies and specifically, in 
terms of financially motivated disposal, selects option A; the Council will not 
undertake disposal motivated principally by financial gain to be included in the 
policy going forward.

302. Calculation of Council Tax Base 2018/19 

Councillor B Cannon moved the recommendations set out in the report. 
Councillor M Fryer seconded the motion.

Councillor N Schofield returned to the meeting.

A vote was taken on the motion – the vote in favour was unanimous. The 
motion was carried.

Resolved

1. That the report for the calculation of the council’s tax base for the year 
2018-19 as set out in the Appendices, be approved.

2. That pursuant to the report and in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the amount 
calculated by Allerdale Borough Council as its tax base for the whole 
area for 2018-19 shall be 30,359.94.

3. That the major precepting authorities (Cumbria County Council and the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria) be notified for the purpose 
of calculating the basic amount of its council tax.

4. That the tax bases be used by Allerdale Borough Council for calculating 
the basic amount of council tax as required by the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 as amended.

The meeting closed at 8.48 pm

Page 12



The Mayor, Councillor Mary Bainbridge

Engagements since the last Council meeting – 17 January 2018

2 February 2018 Mayor of Barrow’s Charity Dinner Dance, the Forum

7 February 2018 Opening Performance of Barnum (WAOS Juniors) Carnegie 
Theatre

23 February 2018 Mayor of Workington’s Civic Dinner, Hunday Manor

28 February 2018 Mayor of Kendal’s Charity Dinner, Kendal College

4 March 2018 London College of Music Annual Concert, Victoria School

The Deputy Mayor, Councillor John Crouch

Engagements since the last Council meeting – 17 January 2018

No engagements since last Council meeting

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Portfolio Holder Updates

The Reason for the Decision To update Council on the activities and
decisions of Portfolio Holders since the last
meeting

Summary of options considered N/a

Recommendations That Members note the content of the report

Financial /  Resource Implications None arising directly from this report

Legal / Governance Implications None arising directly from this report

Community Safety Implications None arising directly from this report

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None arising directly from this report

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Not considered applicable to this report

Wards Affected As indicated in the main body of the report

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Portfolio Holder activity relates to the
development and delivery of the Council’s key 
priority themes

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith – Leader of the Council 

Lead Officer Senior Management Team – as indicated

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Page 15

Agenda Item 9



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide full Council with an update and 
overview of the activities of individual portfolio holders.

2.0 Content

The activities of the Portfolio Holders are as follows:

2.1 Leader of the Council: Cllr Alan Smith

Planning Policy
The Local Plan (part 2) focused consultation ended on 22 January. This 
consultation sought views on additional sites submitted in the early part of last 
year as well as policy ideas on housing standards, broadband infrastructure in 
new development and introducing a buffer zone along the boundary of the 
National Park for wind energy proposals. A total of 60 responses were 
received. The next steps are to consider all the comments received during all 
stages of the Local Plan consultation and to complete final assessments of 
sites. The intention is for Executive to consider the final version of the Plan in 
July followed by full Council, prior to the Local Plan being submitted to the 
Secretary of State for examination. 

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership
The LEP Board met in January to consider a range of issues including the 
appointment of a new Chief Executive and Chairman. The current Chief 
Executive and Chairman have given notice of their intention to stand down 
and a process to replace them both has been agreed.  It is hoped that the 
new Chairman will be selected by March in order to allow them to play some 
part in the selection of the new Chief Executive. 
The LEP will also be refreshing their Strategic Economic Plan over the 
summer months. The Government are expecting all LEPs to update their 
strategies to strengthen links with the national Industrial Strategy. A writing 
group consisting of a wide range of local partners will be created to oversee 
the development of a Local Industrial Strategy for Cumbria. Allerdale Borough 
Council will seek to support this process where appropriate. 

Multi Agency Hub Opening
The Allerdale Multi-Agency Problem Solving Hub was launched on 30 
January 2018 at Cockermouth Police Station, with an official opening by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner to follow. This community policing initiative 
brings together relevant agencies on a case by case basis to tackle a wide 
range of issues affecting the community. The launch event was attended by 
representatives from many different agencies including Police, Fire & Rescue, 
Cumbria County Council, Housing Associations, Youth Offending Services 
along with several officers from a number teams across Allerdale Borough 
Council. Allerdale officers, including those from Environmental Health, 
Housing and Licencing will be involved in the work of the Hub and will seek to 

Page 16



make the initiative a successful one. Work is underway to ensure that 
appropriate information sharing and referral arrangements are in place so that 
all parties can work more closely together to tackle cross-cutting issues 
affecting the borough. 
The Hub in Cockermouth will build on the successes of Hubs in Whitehaven 
and Carlisle. The Hub is not a replacement for normal police activity and 
crime should still be reported via the normal means. If any Councillors would 
like a detailed briefing this can be arranged upon request.

Industrial Communities Alliance
The Industrial Communities Alliance continue to undertake excellent work in 
ensuring that the full impacts of Brexit and changes to funding for economic 
development are not detrimental to areas such as Allerdale. In order to 
support this aim the Alliance is lobbying Government to create an All Party 
Parliamentary Group on Post Brexit Regional Policy. This work is vital to the 
future economic success of Allerdale and will help shape future economic 
programmes such as the Shared Prosperity Fund.

North West Leaders Board
At the start of February the North West Leaders Board met in Haydock. The 
meeting covered a range of topics and also reviewed the purpose of the 
Board as a forum to create greater cohesion between the sub regions in areas 
such as transport, skills, growth, flooding and inward investment. 
Collaboration between partners in the North West will be a key element of 
success for the region in the future. This could include addressing areas of 
pressing concern such as skills for the over 50’s. 

Corporate Leadership Team Walkabouts
The Corporate Leadership Team are undertaking a programme of walkabouts 
in wards throughout the Borough over the coming months. CLT want to 
understand in more detail issues within particular wards and how any success 
stories can be replicated in other parts of the Borough. The first walkabout 
was held in Clifton ward in February. If other members would like CLT to visit 
their ward then please get in touch.

Corporate Leadership Team – engaging with our key partners 
The Managing Director from GLL, along with the Regional Director and the 
Cumbria Head of Service came for a visit in January. The new leisure centre 
has now been open for 18 months. It’s a huge success, with more women, 
more young people, more older people and more people from lower socio 
economic backgrounds taking part in physical activity. 
Consideration is being given to look at what can be done at some of our other 
leisure centres to improve access, encourage more participation and help 
improve the health and wellbeing of our residents. A number of possible ideas 
and aspirations were discussed and GLL will develop potential options for 
future projects to: enhance our leisure offer to residents and visitors; look at 

Page 17



ways in which the profit share could be maximised; and provide a case for 
development which could result in a reduction in management fee.  

2.2 Deputy Leader: Economic Growth Portfolio: Cllr Mark Fryer

Maryport Facelift Scheme
The Maryport facelift scheme is nearing completion with six business 
properties to complete their improvements by mid-March 2018. The scheme 
has been very successful with 90 properties in the town centre taking 
advantage of the scheme. Grants to the value of £87,741 have been made by 
Allerdale Borough Council which was match funded by £64,525 from the 
property owners giving a total investment of £152,266. 

Wigton Facelift Scheme
The Wigton facelift scheme was recently launched. It is proving popular with 
town centre property owners with 26 applications received and supported with 
grants to the value of £22,131 and further match funding of £13,883. The 
scheme will be further promoted in the new financial year. 

Business Survey
We are currently undertaking a business survey across all seven towns. This 
will provide a useful benchmark in terms of gauging the health and 
performance of our town centres and help inform future council plans and 
policies.

Cockermouth Confluence Scheme 
Stage 2 of the Heritage Lottery funded project at the confluence area in 
Cockermouth is progressing well. A permanent artwork will be installed at the 
confluence area in summer 2018 subject to planning consent. A river-themed 
lantern parade in December 2017 was the best attended to date, with over 
200 people participating.

Town Centre projects
Several funded town centre projects have been completed across Allerdale’s 
seven towns (plus Seaton) in conjunction with the respective Town Councils. 
Examples include the repair of Pups Clock on Keswick Town Hall and the 
refurbishment of all finger post signs in Cockermouth town centre.

2.3 Transformation Portfolio: Cllr Konrad Hansen 

Programme office, procurement and commissioning 
The Programme Office team continue to be fully committed working on a 
number of projects including managing the Community Services waste 
contract project and the Planning, Building Control, Environment replacement 
system.  In addition to this major item of work there are a number of smaller 
service improvement projects across the Customer Operations area to 
improve the customer experience, this includes mobile working for our Visiting 

Page 18



Officers, e billing and the introduction later this year of a risk based verification 
process for validating benefit claims. 
Our Procurement team are also busy on the waste project alongside a 
number of other procurements with 21 active tenders underway and five 
recently completed which included the annual council tax billing printing and 
mail contract, fleet replacement, a new tourism website, a replacement 
homelessness system and an event to promote Allerdale.

Digital Allerdale
Over the last few months the Council has been developing a new programme 
of work called Digital Allerdale.  The programme has been set up to create a 
world class digital environment that not only transforms how the Council 
operates, but also provides local businesses with a competitive advantage 
and enhances the quality of life of residents.
Digital Allerdale contains a number of projects – from exploring opportunities 
to improve broadband for businesses and providing free public Wi-Fi in town 
centres, through to introducing a new “Internet of Things” (IoT) network that 
supports smart technology.
The Council has appointed a supplier to provide a pilot IoT network in 
Workington to test the technology and understand if there is a business case 
for rolling it out.  The IoT network will enable configured smart devices to 
communicate wirelessly across the network – opening up new opportunities 
for both service delivery as well as benefits for residents and businesses.  The 
pilot should be up and running in April and initially include a handful of public 
litter bins and recycling bins to inform officers when they are full, rodent traps 
that alert officers when they have been triggered, flood monitors and a 
number of devices to support vulnerable people living at home.  The Council 
is working together with a range of partners to explore how best the district 
could benefit from this emerging technology.  

  
ICT
ICT are currently reviewing the current ICT strategy and preparing a new 
digital strategy for the organisation to take us into the future.  As part of the 
plan to move systems into the ‘cloud’ and improve resilience, the parking 
system was successfully migrated offsite this month joining our myAllerdale, 
BT Contact Centre, BT One Phone, Office 365 and GIS systems. 
Work to replace IT desktop equipment across the business continues with the 
desktop refresh programme.  The team are not just replacing computers like 
for like but are reviewing with the service areas what they use the machines 
for, and where, as well as taking into account their future requirements to 
ensure that they have the right tools for the job to keep pace with 
technological advances and to make sure we have a flexible agile technology 
solution.

Customer Operations 
Customer Services had a busier than usual January on the telephones 
answering 7,300 calls on the 0303 123 1702 line, this was 1600 more calls 

Page 19



than in January 2016. I am pleased to report that the team were able to deal 
with the increased workload and still deliver an excellent customer experience 
with the average speed of answer being 33 seconds and the abandoned calls 
rate of 5%.  
In addition to the telephone calls, January saw an increase in the use of 
myAllerdale with 759 on-line reports as shown in the graph below, there were 
record 977 new customers registered on the system during January.

 
Our face to face customer service teams across the district were equally busy 
with visitors to area offices and Allerdale House.
 

The newly refurbished reception area in Allerdale House, which opened in 
January, has been well received by customers, staff and visitors alike with 
many positive comments as our customers visit the new reception for the first 
time.

Customer accounts
The national key performance indicators for speed of processing benefit 
claims during Quarter 2 have been released by the Department of Work and 
Pensions - for processing of new claims Allerdale was ranked 20th in the 
country with an average speed of processing of 13 days.

2.4 Localities and Environmental Quality Portfolio: Cllr Michael 
Heaslip 

Sports & Leisure Development
Vulcan Park is due for transfer to Workington Town Council on 1 April 2018. 
Discussions are under way on Community Asset Transfers with other Town 

Page 20



and Parish Councils. I am always willing to discuss transfers of parks, playing 
fields and play areas with other Councils who are interested in taking back 
control of local assets such as these.

Bereavement Services
The month of January was a particularly busy month for the service with 32 
funerals being carried out. At the time of writing the month of February is 
continuing to be busy. We are expecting to offer cremated remains vaults for 
sale at Maryport in the next spring. Memorial inspections have been carried 
out in two more sections at Maryport Cemetery. We are aware of water 
pooling in Maryport Cemetery following heavy rainfall and are currently 
investigating remedial action to address the issue. We are looking at how we 
might improve the access and roadway into Cockermouth Cemetery. Finally 
we are carrying out the demolition work on a disused building at Silloth before 
the end of the financial year.
 
Environmental Heritage
This is an important but previously undervalued element of the Council’s plans 
for “liveability” - places and spaces to live work and visit. 
The Harrington Nature Reserve restoration project is under way. Work has 
also started on the Lottery funded “Resilient Heritage” programme, which is 
hoping to identify a sustainable future for the Workington Nature Partnership 
with Workington Town Council, which is involved in conserving Workington’s 
most important environmental heritage assets.
There has been an inception meeting with Groundwork who are helping us 
develop a Stage 1 application for a Lottery Grant for Workington Hall 
Parklands, due for submission in August this year, and a Project Board is 
being established. If Stage 1 is successful, that will be followed by a 
“development” phase leading to full bid submission in 2020 and a possible 
project start in 2021. 
These are the first elements under way of an overdue long-term programme 
of improvement and investment in many of the Council’s environmental 
heritage assets, which will also be looking at possible alternative sustainable 
management and governance arrangements given the pressure on Council 
budgets. Included in the programme are Bankfield and the Derwent in 
Workington, Mote Hill and Sea Brows at Maryport, Camerton Brickworks, 
Clifton Woods and a number of sites on the Solway Coast.

Open Spaces
The Council is working with West Cumbria Rivers Trust and Environment 
Agency on plans for better and more sustainable management of river 
catchments in Allerdale, particularly where the Council is riparian landowner.

Parking
The Council’s car parking order is currently being refreshed and will come into 
force in April 2018. Council car parks have been improved by new machines 
with card payment functions.  Signage across all carparks will be improved 

Page 21



and replaced in the late spring. The Council’s Civil Enforcement Officers have 
completed their refresher Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) Training. We will be 
introducing a new formal working pattern rota in April which will allow for 
greater flexibility and coverage across the district. 
In order to support these changes two working supervisors have been 
recruited out of the existing team, ensuring we have adequate supervision 
over the seven days. We will shortly take on the enforcement of six car 
parking areas on behalf of the registered social landlord, Castles and Coasts. 
The car parking enforcement base will be moving to the Workington Multi-
Story Car Park (MSCP). Improvement works to the MSCP are ongoing 
following the completion of steel works painting and the replacement of new 
drainage. 
 
Street Scene 
Dog fouling and fly-tipping remain a high priority for the service, and the 
intelligence gained through the My Allerdale App and through investigations is 
being used to pursue culprits and enforce.  Group enforcement will be used to 
tackle larger areas where persistent offenders are identified. Enforcement 
Academy Training is planned for March this year, which will provide refresher 
training in the issuing of Fixed Penalty Notice’s (FPN’s) and ensures that the 
team are up to date with all recent legislative changes. 
Work will soon start on the public realm improvements in Fleming Square, 
Maryport and ISS have been appointed as the contractor to carry out the 
works. 
Plans are in development for improvement works to the approach to the 
Workington Sports Centre through the dismal Brow Top tunnel, and to 
develop areas around the Centre for public activities.
 
Waste and Recycling
Since November 2017 the trade waste service has grown by 140 new 
customers and continues to grow. 
A number of local businesses have been visited to ensure they have the 
correct duty of care process in place regarding their waste disposal 
arrangements.
Green waste collections have resumed after the winter break.
The market for recyclates remains volatile with the price of plastics especially 
affected by changes in China.

2.5 Tourism and Culture Portfolio: Cllr William Jefferson  

Allerdale visitor website
A Cumbrian company, Nicepond Creative Ltd, has been appointed following a 
tender process, to design and build a new Allerdale Visitor website. The 
website will be launched by the end of April 2018. It will be one of the main 
drivers of growing the value of the visitor economy in Allerdale, in line with the 
Business Growth Strategy.

Page 22



Allerdale Day in Manchester
An Allerdale Day in Manchester is being arranged for 10/11 August 2018. 
Featuring stalls from visitor focused businesses, food and drink companies 
and manufacturers, all will be located in front of Manchester Town Hall in 
Albert Square. It will be a strong opportunity to introduce Allerdale businesses 
to potential customers in Manchester and the North West, the region from 
which the largest proportion of visitors to Allerdale originate. The timing is 
optimum following on from the launch of the new visitor website, allowing 
businesses to encourage visits in the quieter autumn and winter seasons. 
Following a competitive tender, CN Events Ltd have been appointed to 
manage the event.

Commemorative town artworks
The Council wishes to commemorate the centenary of the end of WWI by 
commissioning art works in the seven towns of Allerdale. The works are 
intended to complement the commemorative activities planned by town 
councils and other organisations. A tender document will be circulated to 
artists, artists’ organisations and networks, inviting them to present their ideas 
for the commemoration which should focus both on the war at the front and 
the home front.

New ‘scrutineering’ event - Malcolm Wilson Rally
We have worked with the organisers of the Malcolm Wilson Rally and M-Sport 
to launch a new ‘scrutineering’ event as part of this year’s Malcolm Wilson 
Rally. The event on the 2 March 2018 in Cockermouth gives members of the 
public the opportunity to see the rally cars close-up, experience a driving 
simulator and celebrate M-Sport’s success in the 2017 World Rally 
Championships. The event should significantly boost footfall in Cockermouth 
town centre. 

2.6 Housing, Health and Wellbeing Portfolio: Cllr Carni McCarron-
Holmes 

Housing
Westfield Housing Association has appointed a new Chief Executive to 
replace Graham Howarth who is retiring.  He is Neil Venables who has a 
background of Housing Association employment at a high level and a great 
understanding of the housing sector.  He will be operational at Westfield by 
April.
A national survey carried out by Procurement Hub a survey organisation has 
found that the skills shortage is affecting delivery in the housing sector and a 
contributing factor is thought to be Brexit and also the Apprenticeship levy 
which was introduced in 2017 by central Government. This tax is levied on UK 
employers to increase the funding available for apprenticeships and aims to 
deliver three million apprentices by 2020.

Page 23



A recent survey into the Right to Buy facility throughout the country showed 
55,000 houses have been sold but councils have only started building 11,357.  
The Local Government Association is calling for councils to be allowed to set 
discounts locally and to be able to keep 100% of its receipts. The worrying 
aspect is that many of these dwellings sold under Right to Buy end up being 
rented at more expensive rents.
The Council has been successful in securing an additional £100k for DFG 
work and are currently finalising a number of projects with Allerdale housing 
associations.
Also, in relation to Community Led Housing initiatives we have received grant 
applications from Keswick Community Housing Trust and are due to receive 
others over the following weeks.
The team has been working closely with Adult Social Care for several 
hoarding/filthy and verminous cases and have had some very positive results. 
The collaborative working is helping clients in crisis remain in their homes and 
we are gaining a greater insight into each other’s roles. The team have been 
able to go in and resolve a number of issues using enforcement powers and 
also able to grant fund some renovation and adaptation work. The Housing 
Grants and Assistance Policy is having a positive impact as we are finding 
these clients homes are in desperate need of renovation. 
The team are currently planning for the introduction of the new Homeless 
Reduction Act, which introduces a new approach to supporting homeless 
people across Allerdale. Next month will see the introduction of a new I.T. 
system, funded by central government, to enable the team to provide an 
improved service and reporting mechanism. 

Flooding
Community drop-ins have been arranged by the Environment Agency to 
discuss future flood risk management proposals. These will be held in; Market 
Hall, Wigton on 28 March 2-7pm, Cockermouth Town Hall on 7 March 2–7pm, 
St. Michaels Church Hall on 20 March 2–7pm to discuss both Workington and 
Barepot, and the Skiddaw Hotel on 13 March 2–7pm to discuss Keswick and 
Braithwaite. Officers will attend all sessions and local residents and 
Councillors are encouraged to attend.
In relation to the Allerdale Flood Recovery Programme, the team have now 
delivered 1153 grants totalling almost £4.5m. 
Corporate Health and safety remains a priority and the team are currently 
reviewing all fire management arrangements in all council owned and run 
buildings.

Health
The Environmental Protection team have welcomed a new member of staff, 
Stephen Bewsher, as a graduate trainee Environmental Health Officer.
At the last meeting of the Allerdale Health and Wellbeing Forum it welcomed a 
third sector representative, Cath Clarke from Cumbria Youth Alliance.  This 
organisation has received funding of £492k to use in Allerdale, Copeland and 

Page 24



Barrow for Emotional Resilience programmes for young people. The Forum 
has appointed a health and wellbeing advisor through CADAS to focus on 
smoking cessation and healthy attitudes towards alcohol. The Forum will be 
hosting a “Working towards a smoke free Allerdale” workshop in Workington 
on 14 March. The Forum is receiving positive feedback from its targeted 
slipper exchange scheme.
The Healthy Weight Declaration is a pledge which is currently out with all 
districts and the County Council on how we can encourage and support local 
communities and our employees to eat more healthily. The document can be 
tailored by each authority so that it is appropriate for each area. The 
declaration is to be considered at the March Executive meeting and the 
intention is that this will be signed by all Cumbria Council Leaders in March.
On 23 March there is a Healthy Weight Summit being held in Penrith hosted 
by Cumbria County Council public health team.
 

2.7 Corporate Resources (Finance and Property) Portfolio: Cllr 
Barbara Cannon 

2017/18 Budget and Strategy Statements 
Over the course of the last quarter the workload of the financial services team 
has been dominated by preparation of several key reports. In particular:

 Quarter 3 Finance Report April to December 2017

 The (draft) Revenue budget for 2018/19 and the three-year capital 
budget 2018/18 to 2020/21 

 The Council's Capital Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

 The Treasury Management and Investment Strategies and Minimum 
Revenue provision policy for 2018/19 (presented to Audit Committee 
on 19 Feb)

Training
The financial services team has continued with its programme of finance 
training for non-finance staff.  The latest quarterly finance cascade - to raise 
awareness of the Authority’s financial position at the end of quarter 3 2017/18 
- was held in February. 
This event was also used to discuss the challenges presented by the revised 
statutory deadlines for accounts closedown and publication.  From this year, 
2017/18, the Council will be required to publish its unaudited accounts, 
narrative report and Annual Governance Statement (AGS) no later than 31 
May – compared to 30 June last year. The audited statement of accounts – 
including the auditors’ certificate or opinion, narrative report and AGS – must 
now be published by 31 July (compared to the previous deadline of 30 
September).   
Feedback from those attending these training events remains extremely 
positive.

Page 25



Workington Hall
An updated condition survey has been carried out, however the original 
ecology survey needs to be updated as it is more than two years old. The 
outcome of the ecology survey will determine the period of time in which 
works can be carried out. This is likely to be September/October 2018.
A grant application to Heritage England (HE) is currently being prepared 
following a site meeting with the conservation architect and HE.

Allerdale House
The refurbishment works are now complete to the Customer Services area of 
the building which we believe has enhanced the experience of not only 
customers visiting the building but also the staff working in that area.  

2.8 Governance and People Resources Portfolio: Cllr Joan Ellis 
 

Assurance, Risk & Audit 
The Assurance Risk and Audit Team have been working on the delivery of the 
Financial Services audit reviews. The Assurance Risk and Audit Manager has 
met with all Heads of Service to begin risk planning work for the financial year 
ahead.
The Assurance Risk and Audit Manager attended Lancaster City Council for 
two days to complete a Peer Review of their Internal Audit Service with her 
Audit colleague from Burnley Council. This has been a beneficial experience 
with lots of opportunities to share best practice. A further Peer Review of 
Wyre Council is planned for April 2018.

Democratic Services
We welcome back Gayle Roach on her return from maternity leave and thank 
the team for managing the department so efficiently in her absence.
Members are reminded that the Civic Dinner is on Friday 23 March 2018 and 
all councillors are welcome to attend to support the Mayor’s charity.
Training for elected members:
Since the last Council meeting in January, training has taken place on 
chairing skills, being an effective councillor, handling casework and taxi 
licensing. Councillors have also attended speed reading training at Carlisle 
City Council and we will also be putting on a similar workshop on 29 March to 
which all councillors have been invited to attend. 
At the request of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health and Wellbeing we 
are in the process of arranging Universal Credit training for councillors with 
the Department for Work and Pensions.  
As always, Councillors are reminded of the time and effort that goes into 
arranging training sessions and are encouraged to attend. Timing of sessions 
can be varied to accommodate commitments.

Page 26



Members’ tablet devices:
The team have been meeting with councillors on an individual basis to provide 
extra training on using their tablet devices. The aim is to be paperless early in 
the new financial year. If the team have not already contacted you or if you 
would like some further training, please get in touch.
Allerdale fleet and transport vehicle policy:
A new policy for fleet and transport vehicles has been agreed. In order to 
meet insurers’ requirements and to fulfil our duty of care, this new policy 
requires employees and councillors alike to have a current full driving licence 
and to provide proof of a valid insurance policy covering business use and 
present their driving licence for inspection in advance of driving for work and 
thereafter on request by People Resources or Democratic Services, among 
other criteria.
The Democratic Services team have emailed councillors who have claimed 
travel expenses in the past, asking them to provide the information required 
by the policy and will likely email all other councillors in due course. If 
councillors do not provide this information or if the information they provide 
does not meet the criteria then they may not be able to claim for travel 
expenses.

Legal Services
The team continues to support the Authority in the delivery of the Council’s 
priorities and objectives, as well as contributing to the successful 
implementation of corporate projects by working closely with officers from 
across all services, elected members and the public.
Legal Services has assisted departments from across the Authority with 
ongoing enforcement, including the successful grant of a number of charging 
orders in respect of Council Tax arrears and ongoing enforcement work in 
respect of gypsies and travellers.  In respect of debt recovery, work is ongoing 
to amend procedures, ensuring the effective and efficient recovery of 
outstanding debts. Other work includes provision of support to Community 
Services in the procurement of the waste management contract and to other 
large projects such as Reedlands Road Business Park and the acquisition of 
land at Lillyhall.

Community Safety
The Strategy Group and the Tactical Delivery Group are working closely as 
part of the Community Safety Partnership to deliver initiatives on a multi-
agency basis to combat crime, disorder and anti-social behaviour across West 
Cumbria.

Electoral Services
Members of the team attended the annual conference of the Association of 
Electoral Administrators in February, during which they attended several 
sessions and workshops providing practical assistance for the successful 
running of future elections. It was clear from conference that the challenging 

Page 27



experiences of the past few years will continue as the requirements of 
electoral administration continue to change and evolve.
Following a meeting with representatives from CALC, we have contacted all 
Parish Clerks within Allerdale to invite them to consider whether their parish 
councils would like us to conduct a Community Governance Review to make 
any necessary changes. We provided information on the size of the council 
and the number of nominations received during the elections in 2015 to give 
an indication of which councils struggle to fill all of their seats and could 
benefit from a review of councillor numbers. We have received several 
responses and, to date, five parish councils have expressed an interest.
Visiting Registration Officers are currently carrying out house visits to new 
electors who have yet to complete their registration forms in an attempt to get 
the electoral register as complete and up to date as possible.

Licensing & Land Charges
The Legal and Licensing Team and Members of the Licensing Committee 
attended update training regarding licensing law and procedures on 8 and 9 
February 2018.  This training was held by the President of the Institute of 
Licensing and was well received.  
The team continues to achieve and exceed its performance target of 
completing 95% of land charges searches within 10 days. The Team met with 
a representative from HM Land Registry in January to discuss the digitisation 
of land charges and work is ongoing across the departments to ensure that 
the Authority is sufficiently prepared for the transition.

People Resources
In January we welcomed Emily Clamp as our HR Trainee to the department. 
Nisha Merrett also returned back to work on a part time basis following 
maternity leave.
A lot of focus has recently been spent in readiness for the introduction of the 
new General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). The team have recently 
been re-organising the department to apply a more systematic approach to 
bring the team and the wider organisation in line with GDPR rules.  
The new E-Learning platform is 80% complete with our providers and we are 
aiming for a go live date of 1 April 2018.
The team are also currently undertaking a review of the ‘What Great Looks 
Like’ appraisal and behaviours framework to enhance and streamline the 
process. Sessions have started with managers to obtain their feedback and 
suggestions for improvements.
In addition, the team is also working with managers to create a training plan 
for the forthcoming year.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 That Members note the content of the report.

Page 28



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Wednesday 24 January 2018 at 9.00 am

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Staff Present

B Carlin, D Devine, A FitzGerald, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, 
C Nicholson, A Seekings, E Thompson, L Tomlinson and P Wood

310. Minutes of meeting Wednesday 8 November 2017 of Executive 

The minutes were signed as a correct record.

311. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

312. Questions 

None received.

313. Members' Announcements 

None received.

314. Q2 Performance Report 2017/18 

The subject of the decision

The Senior Policy and Performance Officer submitted a report which sought to 
advise Members on the Council’s performance at the end of quarter 2 2017/18 
as measured by projects/activities and Key Performance Indicators set out in 
the Corporate Business Plan 2017/18.

The Council was on track with 57 of its 71 key projects/activities, 4 were 
complete, 10 had concerns over achieving their deadlines or outputs and 0 had 
significant concerns.

There were 52 Key Performance Indicators. 30 of those were on target, 8 were 
worse than target and 9 were significantly worse than target. 5 were not 
targeted.

Page 29

Agenda Item 10



Councillor A Smith moved that the report be noted. This was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

None

The reason for the decision

To advise Members of the Council’s performance at the end of quarter 2 
2017/18

The decision

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

315. Reedlands Business Park - ERDF/Delivery of the project 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought the Executive 
to approve a European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant offer of 
£1.5m to develop 23,500 sq ft (2,183 sq m) of industrial workshops at 
Reedlands Business Park, Clay Flatts in Workington and to note the novation of 
a designer and external project manager for the £2.5m development scheme.

The Executive had previously agreed the appointment of Pick Everard, who had 
completed the first phase of the design work to RIBA 3 specification which 
allowed the full application to be submitted and resulted in the current offer of 
the grant.

Members noted there would be a significant impact on the Council’s budget 
through the commitment to £1m match funding for the development. This 
funding requirement had already been approved as part of the Council’s revised 
budget.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendations set out in the report. This was 
seconded by Councillor A Smith. The recommendations were unanimously 
agreed.

Alternative options considered

1. Decline the offer of grant and not proceed with the scheme.

2. Accept the offer of grant and proceed with delivery of the scheme.

Page 30



The reason for the decision

The Council had received a European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) 
grant offer of £1.5m to develop 23,500 sq ft (2,183 sq m) of industrial 
workshops at Reedlands Business Park, Clay Flatts in Workington.

By accepting the grant offer the Council would have to commit to constructing 
the £2.5m development scheme, which meant committing to the £1m match 
funding required as the award of the grant covered 60% of the total 
development cost.

Under the terms of the appointment of Pick Everard, by using the Scape 
Framework, the council had the ability to novate Pick Everard as designers and 
project managers for the scheme.

The decision

Resolved:

That:

1. The £1.5m offer of European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant 
funding from DCLG/Europe be accepted.

2. The match funding requirement of £1m, which had already been 
approved as part of the revised budget be confirmed.

3. The novation of Pick Everard as designer and external project manager 
for the scheme allowable under the Scape Framework be noted.

The meeting closed at 9.23 am

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Recommendations Referred to Council

Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Executive 
held on 21 February 2018.

The Prudential Code (2017 edition) states that approval of the capital strategy 
will be undertaken by the same body that takes the decisions for the local 
authority’s budget – i.e. the Full Council.  The requirement for approval by 
Council contained in the Prudential Code is replicated in the Statutory 
Guidance on Local Government Investments issued in February 2018.

Recommended

That Council be requested to agree that the Capital Investment Strategy be 
approved and following best practice it is renewed on an annual basis to 
ensure a strong link to the Council’s priorities.

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 33

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



 Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

The Reason for the Decision This capital investment strategy defines at the 
highest level how the capital programme is to be 
determined.  It identifies the issues and options 
that influence capital spending and sets out how 
the resources and capital programme will be 
managed.

Summary of options considered The documents sets out the Council’s ambitions 
and priorities over the medium to longer term and 
provides a framework for the review and 
management of existing assets.  It indicates the 
opportunities for partnership working and has a 
direct relationship with the Treasury Management 
Strategy and the opportunities and limitations on 
activity through the treasury management 
prudential indicators.

Recommendations That the strategy is approved and following best 
practice it is renewed on an annual basis to 
ensure a strong link to the Council’s priorities.

Financial /  Resource Implications There is a commitment to affordability of capital 
investment decision over the longer term and a 
recognition that the Council’s own resources are 
limited and will only be used to fund those capital 
priorities that are unlikely to be able to access any 
other funding sources.

Legal Implications Underpinned by the Prudential Code for Local 
Authority and prudential indicators

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

As noted in the report

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Will be considered as part of the Full Business 
Cases for capital schemes

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The focus of this strategy is to ensure that the 
Council is able to make capital investment 

Page 35



decision in order to meet its corporate priorities 
and objectives.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith

Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson, Head of Financial Services, 
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk
01900 702503

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management Y

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers: None

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This Capital Investment Strategy sets out, at a high level, how the capital 
programme will be formulated.  It highlight the issues and options that 
influence capital spending and sets out how the resources and capital 
programme will be managed. 

1.2 The document also sets out the Council’s ambitions in the short, medium and 
longer terms and the strategy includes:

 A link to the Council Plan and priorities
 Current capital priorities and potential investment levels
 A framework for the review and management of existing and future 

assets
 Opportunities for partnership working
 Methods of resourcing the capital programme
 Appraisal process for investments and disposals
 Decision making cycle for investment
 A direct relationship with Treasury Management Strategy and the 

limitations on activity through the Prudential Indicators.
 Managing and measuring performance.

Page 36

mailto:catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk


1.3 The document is intended for use by all stakeholders to how the Council 
makes decisions on capital investment.

1.4 Borrowing decisions for capital investment have long term financial 
consequences and whilst this strategy concentrates on the investments in 
assets (for example investment property) it is important that the Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategy considers the long and short-term risks 
of borrowing decisions and that those decisions are carefully documented.

2.0 Strategic Ambition
 

2.1 The aim of the Council is to make a sustainable improvement to the long-term 
quality of life for our residents.  The ambitions are clearly set out in the 
Council Plan and the priorities are:-

 Tackling Inequality
 Enhancing our Towns
 Creating a Sustainable Business
 Strengthening our Economy
 Improving Health and Wellbeing

2.2 The Chancellor’s Spending Review has continued with significant cuts to local 
government funding and the phased removal of Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) as we anticipated a move to 100% funding from Business rates.  
Reductions in the level of funding that we receive from central government will 
not relent any time soon.  Protecting the services that are most important to 
our residents will mean challenging the current ways of working and 
embracing change where it will bring better services for the people of 
Allerdale.

2.3 Further reductions in government funding will impact on already limited 
financial resources, making this Capital Investment Strategy an essential tool 
for the Council to focus its capital resources on outcomes that deliver the 
maximum benefit to residents.

2.4 Allerdale is a great place to live, work and visit and this administration is 
committed to continuing to being forward-thinking and commercial in its 
approach to opportunities for economic growth.   Inward investment and follow 
on investment will play a key role in driving through these benefits.  

2.5 Underlying the capital strategy is the recognition that the financial resources 
available to meet these priorities and aspirations are constrained in the 
current economic and political climate.  Therefore we must rely more on 
internal resources and seek ways in which investment decisions can generate 
positive returns – either in being cost neutral, deliver revenue or efficiency 
savings or produce additional income streams.

Page 37



2.6 The Council recognises that it is likely to need significant investment to 
advance the priorities stated within the Council Plan and is exploring 
possibilities around:- 

 Economic Investment - seeking investments that generate longer term 
growth and those that will yield a combination of revenue generation for 
example commercial rents, jobs and capital infrastructure investment.  
Decisions to invest will be based on sound business cases with an 
emphasis on continuing to make acquisitions or grant support with 
strategic site assembly for major investment projects, e.g. Lillyhall, 
Reedlands Road.

 Leisure Provision – building on the success of the new leisure centre in 
Workington, look at the possibility of extending the leisure offer in Allerdale 
by creating first class sporting venues and facilities and to work with our 
local amateur and professional sporting clubs.  Given the success of the 
investment at Workington the Council is keen to work with our leisure 
provider GLL to look at the potential to invest in other facilities and reduce 
the revenue costs.
 

 Employment – looking at working with others to create long term 
employment opportunities through capital investment.  These investments 
to also increase income from business rates and rentals.

 Housing – determining the Council’s need to develop or intervene in the 
housing market will be a key opportunity to establish both a commercial 
return and also support parts of the failing market. These could include the 
provision of a mixture of housing tenures for older people (including 
extracare that supports early hospital release), a potential for commercial 
house building on Council and other land that drives a different tenure mix 
in some parts of our towns, and supporting affordable housing in areas 
with high levels of second homes.

 Asset Management Plan – this identifies significant backlog maintenance 
across the Council’s property portfolio and would require a level of 
investment that is currently unaffordable.  Therefore the Council’s priority 
is to dispose of surplus assets and use the receipts to reduce assets 
ongoing future revenue costs

Page 38



2.7 The existing capital programme is as set out below and full provision is made 
for the ongoing borrowing costs of these schemes in the Revenue Budget.

Proposed Capital Budget 
2018-

19 2019-20 2020-21 TotalProposed Capital Programme 

£0 £0 £0 £0
Gross expenditure1 :     
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 1,638 2,150 2,000 5,788
Tourism & Culture 1,250 0 0 1,250
Localities & Environmental Quality 465 150 0 615
Transformation 40 40 40 120
Economic Growth 11,200 0 0 11,200
Total Expenditure 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
Financed by:     
External funding sources:     
Disabled Facilities Grant (Better 
Care Fund)  1,358 1,000 1,000 3,358

SCP Housing grant 30 33 0 63
ERDF grant 1,500 0 0 1,500
LEP Growth Deal funding 4,800 0 0 4,800
Solway Pathways grants 1,250 0 0 1,250
Other grants and contributions 105 0 0 105
ABC resources:     
General Fund/Revenue contribution 4 0 0 4
Earmarked Reserves   16 0 0 16
Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0
Unfinanced expenditure (borrowing) 5,530 1,307 1,040 7,877
Total financing 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973

2.8 The Council is ambitious about transforming the Borough in terms of growth, 
inequality and sustainability.  

2.9 As well as the proposed capital programme, the current administration is 
continuing with its ambitions to make sustainable improvements to the 
borough and the lives of the residents.  The Council recognises that it is likely 
to need significant investment to advance the priorities and ambitions being 
identified and is exploring the possibility of significant capital projects with 
could add £30 million to the capital programme.

Page 39



2.10 It is envisaged that this will be a major commitment for this Council and that a 
commitment to working with both the private sector and other public sector 
bodies to identify new funding streams will play a significant role in the future.  
In these periods of continuing austerity these challenges must be met with 
more creative and bold ideas and solutions.

2.11 A number of aspirational programmes and projects are currently at initial 
concept stage and include the following projects:

Page 40



Page 41



2.12 These schemes will all need to follow the principles as set out in this Capital 
Investment Strategy and full business cases will need to be submitted and 
approved before the schemes are recommended for inclusion in the capital 
budget.   

2.13 The Table below shows an indicative capital programme should it be 
increased to incorporate and additional regeneration budget of £30 million 
over the next two financial years and funded by additional borrowing:

2.14 Should the council be unable to secure the levels of external funding required 
to proceed with these schemes, then it will also explore the option to increase 
borrowing.  The cost of borrowing the full amount would result in additional 
revenue costs of £2.3m per year by 2021/22. 

Indicative Capital Budget 
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 TotalIndicative Capital Programme 

£0 £0 £0 £0
Gross expenditure1 :     
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 1,638 2,150 2,000 5,788
Tourism & Culture 1,250 0 0 1,250
Localities & Environmental Quality 465 150 0 615
Transformation 40 40 40 120
Economic Growth 11,200 15,000 15,000 41,200
Total Expenditure 14,593 17,340 17,040 48,973
Financed by:     
External funding sources:     
Disabled Facilities Grant (Better 
Care Fund)  1,358 1,000 1,000 3,358

SCP Housing grant 30 33 0 63
ERDF grant 1,500 0 0 1,500
LEP Growth Deal funding 4,800 0 0 4,800
Solway Pathways grants 1,250 0 0 1,250
Other grants and contributions 105 0 0 105
ABC resources:     
General Fund/Revenue contribution 4 0 0 4
Earmarked Reserves   16 0 0 16
Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0
Unfinanced expenditure (borrowing) 5,530 16,307 16,040 37,877
Total financing 14,593 17,340 17,040 48,973

Page 42



2.15 The financial implications of any potential schemes will be incorporated into 
the Treasury Strategy and Budgets as and when the scheme business cases 
are given full approval.

3.0  Capital Resources

3.1 The Council’s capital investment falls within, and needs to comply with, the 
“Prudential Code for Capital finance in Local Authorities” (the Code).  Under 
the Code local authorities have greater discretion over the funding of capital 
expenditure especially with the freedom to determine, within the regulatory 
framework of the Code, the level of borrowing they wish to undertake to 
deliver their capital plans and programmes.

3.2 As the pressure on local authority finances continues, it is becoming 
increasing important to explore alternative sources of funding capital 
expenditure.  These options are summarised as follows:-

 Local Asset backed vehicles – the Council will seek to attract 
investment into the borough through partnership working and 
innovation.  These vehicles allow the authority to use assets (usually 
land and buildings) to attract long term investment from the private 
sector in order to deliver socio-economic development and 
regeneration.  They are designed to encourage parties to pool 
resources to deliver regeneration with an acceptable balance of risk 
and return for all involved.
We will continue to explore the potential for developing such 
partnerships and private sector involvement and each case will be 
subject to specific financial appraisal and Executive approval.

 Collaborative Working – this type of approach encourages interest 
from expert developers to promote a site or work together on the 
planning and infrastructure process, to enhance the attractiveness of 
the site to end users.

 Community Involvement – changes in legislation brought in under the 
Localism Act have introduced the concept of Community Asset 
Transfer, Community Right to Challenge and Community Right to Bid 
for services.  This has opened up a whole spectrum of opportunities of 
private sector investment in community-led capital projects, where 
deemed appropriate.

3.3 The Council’s service and budget planning process ensures decisions about 
the allocation of capital, and revenue, resources are taken to achieve a 
corporate and consistent approach.

Page 43



3.4 The main sources of funding of the capital programme are as follows:-

 External Grants / Contributions
 Capital Receipts from disposal of assets
 Balances and Reserves
 Borrowing
 Partnership opportunities / Joint Ventures

3.5 External Grants / contributions

Grants from external sources can be a valuable source of capital finance and 
have enabled capital developments to go ahead that would not have been 
possible without the grant support. Given the scale of the Council’s ambitions 
to improve and add to its asset base much will depend on our ability to secure 
external funding. Key to this will be the on-going relationship with the LEP and 
the emerging local Industrial Strategy.

Section 106 agreements are contributions from developers tied into new 
construction or development projects, such as funding a new play area when 
building a housing development.  The provision of this funding can be 
contingent upon a certain state in the development being met and at times 
can be complex and difficult to monitor. This would only be relevant in limited 
circumstances as the new regulations require developers to put in place 
management arrangements for future maintenance of open space or to 
transfer it to a town or parish council.  This is intended to ensure that there are 
no ongoing service costs for the Council.

Where there is a revenue element to provide ongoing maintenance of 
facilities, this needs to be correctly reflected in service revenue budgets.

3.6 Capital Receipts

The council can generate its own capital resources through the sale of surplus 
land and buildings and these resources can then be used to invest in new 
capital projects.  The Asset Management Group will identify assets surplus to 
requirements and recommend sale where relevant.  It is fair to say the 
opportunity for sale are becoming limited and the current economic climate 
may well restrict capital values.

Generally, all capital receipts will be treated as a corporate resource and 
become available for reinvestment in capital opportunities.

3.7 Balances and Reserves

The Council currently holds a healthy level of both general and earmarked 
reserves.  This reflects the robust financial management and policy decisions 
made in recent years and enables internal borrowing and cash-flow to be 
managed.  Earmarked reserves are set aside for identified specific projects 
which limits funding for new initiatives.

Page 44



3.8 Prudential Borrowing

Prudential borrowing is where the debt costs have to be funded from the 
Council’s revenue budget, or from generating additional ongoing longer term 
income streams. The principle of affordability is therefore a key consideration.

The Council will continue to consider, on a cautious and prudent basis, the 
extent to which prudential borrowing may be undertaken to fund new capital 
investment which generates returns over and above the revenue costs of the 
debt.

Given the pressure on the Council’s revenue budget in future years, 
borrowing will only be used where there is a clear financial case, such as 
major regeneration schemes which provide a net return over and above the 
borrowing cost, “ invest to save” projects, or “spend to earn” schemes.

Given the long-term nature of borrowing and the risk of change in economic 
conditions, such as interest rate risk and counter-party risk, it is important that 
the long and short-term risks of borrowing are carefully documented.

3.9 Opportunities from Partnerships / JV’s

The Council recognises that certain services have greater potential for 
attracting capital finance from external sources and will seek to maximise 
opportunities available.   Full business cases will be presented and require full 
approval before entering into any alternative service delivery model.

4.0 The Capital Programme 

4.1 From 2018/19 onwards the Council is likely to need significant investment to 
advance its ambitions and priorities as set out in the Council Plan and will 
need a flexible approach to how it invests in capital schemes.

4.2 Service Managers and Portfolio Holders submit proposed capital schemes 
bids at the start of the budget setting process, which commences in August. 

4.3 A scoring methodology is used to ensure that schemes that best fit the 
Council’s priorities, within funds available, are taken forward.

4.4 In order to deliver on our ambitions, we need to deliver efficiencies, seek 
additional funds and review regularly how we are using our capital resources.

4.5 To assist the decision making process in determining whether a capital 
investment should be included within the capital programme, the following 
four core principles will be used:- 

1. Manage impact on revenue

Page 45



2. Optimise opportunities to deliver priorities
3. Effective appraisal of capital schemes
4. Performance management

4.6 Managing the impact of investment decisions on the revenue budget

This is ensuring that any capital investment decision does not place additional 
pressure on the Council Tax or the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Capital investment will be supported and recommended when it:-
 Allows investment to save
 Generates a revenue or capital return
 Generates additional new funding from NNDR or NHB
 Level of risk consistent with Council’s risk appetite
 A key regeneration priority where the Council makes the 

decision to reduce spending elsewhere to fund it from borrowing

4.7 Optimise the availability of capital funding where this supports our priorities

This will be done by:-
 Reviewing our assets and disposing of surplus or poor 

performing assets and using the receipts to re-invest
 Developing effective working relationships with potential funders 
 Creating effective partnership arrangements

4.8 Have in place and effective appraisal process 

Underlying this strategy is the recognition that the financial resources 
available to meet all the ambitions and priorities are constrained.
To ensure that resources are allocated effectively the capital programme 
planning is determined in parallel with the service and revenue budget 
planning process within the framework of the budget strategy and MTFP.

Rolling programme items are the first call on available resources to ensure 
that existing approved service levels can continue to be developed.

For all new projects and programmes a Strategic Outline Case will be 
submitted that needs to include capital investment, repayment mechanisms, 
revenue impacts and full lifetime costings.  These will be scored against an 
agreed weighting and appropriate recommendations made to the Commercial 
Board.

Subject to the outline proposal being approved a detailed full business case 
will need to be submitted and appraised, including full identification and 
assessment of the risks and due diligence report, prior to being submitted to 
Executive.

Page 46



4.9 Performance Management

The Council maintains comprehensive and robust procedures for managing 
and monitoring the Capital Programme and is a reciprocal process between 
service areas and financial services.

All capital projects identify milestones and key outputs. A project manager is 
identified for each scheme and they are responsible for monitoring progress, 
spend and income and producing action plans to respond to key variances – 
financial or time.  The project manager liaises closely with their finance 
business partner to produce the monthly budget monitoring statement.

Capital budget monitoring is reported to Senior Management Team (SMT) on 
a monthly basis and on a quarterly basis to Executive.

At year-end Financial Services collate the outturn position and report any 
under/ over spend and recommend budget carry forwards.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 This strategy is a working document with enables the Council to make rational 
capital investment decisions in order to achieve its priorities.

5.2 It sets out clear ambitions to drive capital investment in Allerdale and 
recognises that a commitment to partnership working with both the private 
sector and other public sector bodies will play a significant role in the future.  
The Council will focus on maximising the opportunities to attract such 
partnership or third party funding.

5.3 The Council will maintain comprehensive and robust procedures for managing 
and monitoring its capital programme.

5.4 This strategy should be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it is relevant 
and up to date.  Any other policy that requires capital investment must be 
consistent with the Capital Investment Strategy.

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 The Council is faced with diminishing capital finance which means that it has 
to monitor capital investment decisions against available funds to ensure that 
it does not spend or commit in advance of receiving funding.  The Capital 
Financing Requirement will need to be monitored carefully.

6.2 Capital projects will be managed via an identified Project Manager to the 
Commercial Board.  All risks that may affect a project are considered.  These 
will include political, economic, legal, technological, reputational and financial 
risks. Significant projects will use appropriate project management tools.

Page 47



6.3 If the Council considers capital investment in the form of loans then exposure 
to non-repayment will be carefully managed through contract management 
arrangements.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That the strategy is approved and following best practice it is renewed on an 
annual basis to ensure a strong link to the Council’s priorities

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services (S151)

Page 48



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Recommendations Referred to Council

Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Executive 
held on the 21 February 2018. It is for Council to consider its response.

Recommended – That Council be requested to agree that –

1. The total planned revenue expenditure be £15,670,916 including parish 
precepts of £2,024,054

2. £14,604,435 be approved as the Council’s net Budget requirement for 
2018-19

3. An increase in Council Tax of £5 on band D Properties, with 
proportionate increases being applied to properties, in other council tax 
bands be approved

4. No changes be made to the Council’s Council Tax Reduction discount 
scheme and that the current scheme remains in place for 2018-19

5. The amount of council tax support funding to be paid to Town and 
Parish Council be set at £20,666 (Appendix A)

6. The revenue estimates as approved are used in the calculation of the 
basic amount of tax under Section 31of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992

7. The minimum level of non-earmarked general fund balances be set at 
£2.7m and that no maximum level be set

8. That the capital budget of £18,972,755 (comprising £14,592,755 in 
2018-19, £2,340,000 in 2019-20 and £2,040,000 in 2020-21) be 
approved

9. That the proposed capital budget for 2018-19 be financed as follows:
 grants and contributions …..£9,043,255 
 borrowing………………...….£5,530,000
 revenue …………………………..£3,500
 earmarked reserves ………….. £16,000

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 49

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Budget 2018-19 – Revenue and Capital

The Reason for the Decision To present the Council’s draft revenue and capital 
budget and the formal advice of the chief financial 
officer on the robustness of the estimates included in 
the budget and the adequacy of the reserves which 
support the Council’s budgetary plans.

Summary of options considered The Council has a statutory requirement to approve a 
balanced budget.   
The draft budget proposes an increase in Council 
Tax of £5 on band D properties with proportionate 
increases being applied to properties in other council 
tax bands. 
A number of growth bids and savings bids have been 
submitted and are considered in this report.
A public consultation exercise relating to options 
included in the Council’s draft budget proposals was 
carried out between December 2017 and January 
2018.

Recommendations It is recommended that:
1. The total planned revenue expenditure is 

£15,670,916 including parish precepts of 
£2,024,054. 

2. £14,604,435 is approved as the Council’s net 
Budget requirement for 2018-19.

3. An increase in Council Tax of £5 on band D 
Properties, with proportionate increases being 
applied to properties, in other council tax 
bands is approved.

4. No changes are made to the Council’s Council 
Tax Reduction discount scheme and that the 
current scheme remains in place for 2018-19. 

5. The amount of council tax support funding to 
be paid to Town and Parish Council is set at 
£20,666 (Appendix A).

6. The revenue estimates as approved are used 
in the calculation of the basic amount of tax 
under Section 31of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992.

Page 51



7. The minimum level of non-earmarked general 
fund balances is set at £2.7m and that no 
maximum level is set.  

8. That the capital budget of £18,972,755 
(comprising £14,592,755 in 2018-19, 
£2,340,000 in 2019-20 and £2,040,000 in 
2020-21) is approved.

9. That the proposed capital budget for 2018-19 
is financed as follows:

 grants and contributions …..£9,043,255 
 borrowing………………...….£5,530,000
 revenue …………………………..£3,500
 earmarked reserves ………….. £16,000 

Financial / Resource Implications As set out in the report.  The revenue estimates will 
form part of the calculation of the overall council tax 
level to be set.

Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set a balanced budget.

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The budget contains provision for the Council to 
discharge its obligations under health and safety 
legislation, and to maintain a reserve in order to 
manage risks.
There are also risks that the Council will not be able 
to operate within agreed budgetary provisions but 
this can be minimised by the financial monitoring 
process and by the prudent policy on the level of 
reserves and balances.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

As part of the budget growth bids and savings bids 
process.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

The revenue budget is set to support the Council in 
achieving priorities through the Council Plan and to 
facilitate control of expenditure on its activities.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Barbara Cannon

Page 52



Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson 
Head of Financial Services
01900 702503
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) Y

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Council has a statutory responsibility to set a balanced budget for each 
financial year. In short, this means the Council’s expenditure on services must 
be contained within the available funding envelope. 

1.2 This report sets out the: 

 outcome of the 2018-19 Budget Consultation exercise 

 proposed revenue budget for 2018-19, and

 proposed capital budget for the three year period 2018-19 to 2020-21.

1.3 This report also sets out the chief finance officer’s report to the Council (made 
under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003) on the:

(a) the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the 
Council’s budget calculations, and

(b) the adequacy (or otherwise) of the Council’s financial reserves.

1.4 Members are required to have regard to the report made under s25 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 when making decisions about the Council’s 
budget calculations.

2. Budget Consultation

2.1 Consultation with the public and other key stakeholders is essential to 
informing the Councils priorities and the financial plans which underpin 
delivery of those priorities, including the Councils annual budget. 
Consultations informing the 2018/19 budget process comprised:

 the survey of residents undertaken during July and August 2016 

Page 53



 a budget consultation focusing on specific budget issues carried out  
during December 2017 and January 2018.

Survey of Residents

2.2 The Council commissioned NWA Social and Market Research to undertake a 
general survey of residents seeking their views on satisfaction with services, 
with their quality of life and their area. During the survey exercise a total of 
7,078 questionnaires were posted out to randomly selected addresses across 
the Council’s area. A total of 2048 surveys were completed (29%).

2.3 The headlines of the survey included:

 very high levels of satisfaction (82%) with their locality as a place to live 
and with the way Allerdale Borough Council provides services (74%)

 very high levels of satisfaction with key services for example household 
waste recycling sites (84%), refuse collection (93%) and doorstep 
recycling 78%

 less than half of respondents expressing satisfaction with ‘public car 
parking’ (48%), ‘public sport/ leisure facilities’ (47%), ‘theatres/ concert 
halls’ (45%), ‘museums/ galleries’ (37%), and ‘public toilets’ (36%)  

 over half of respondents (52%) indicating they would like to see more 
‘preparation for flooding events’ whilst ‘street cleaning’ (38%), ‘public 
toilets’ (31%), ‘public car parking’ (29%) and local markets (28%) 
ranked highest amongst the services which respondents would like to 
see more of 

 economic development and job prospects are key concerns for 
residents

 support from the majority of respondents for the different ways the 
Council could provide services, including working with other 
organisations to reduce costs, making services operate commercially 
and providing better quality facilities, but less of them

 support from the majority of respondents, for a rise in Council Tax to 
protect key services. 

Budget Consultation

2.4 The 2018-19 Budget consultation was held between 14th December 2017 and 
19th January 2018. The consultation was accessible via the Council’s 
website. Hard-copy versions of the consultation were also made available at 
Council offices.  The consultation document was sent out to numerous partner 
organisations such as town and parish councils and other local bodies and 
was actively promoted through the local press, the Council’s website and 
social media.  Responses could be submitted on-line using the Cumbria-wide 
consultation portal, by email or in hard copy format. 

Page 54



2.5 The consultation document summarised the financial challenges facing the 
Council and the steps being taken by the Council to bridge the financial gap 
arising from the year on year reductions in central government grants. To 
supplement the feedback received from the residents’ survey the budget 
consultation sought views on proposals related to: 

 setting next year’s Council Tax 
 increasing fees and charges in line with inflation.

2.6 The majority of the responses to the budget consultation were in favour of the 
proposals put forward in the consultation document with approximately two 
thirds of respondents in favour of increasing: 

 Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D properties 
(with proportionate increases to properties in other council tax 
bands) 

 the Council Tax empty homes premium from 50% to 100% 
 fees and charges by 3% in line with inflation.

2.7 A summary of consultation responses can be found in Appendix K. 

3.       National and Local Context

2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement

3.1 Local authorities have taken the biggest hit in terms of central government 
cuts since 2010.  The scale of reduction, along with a degree of volatility 
around the phasing and timing of these cuts has made it very difficult for 
authorities to plan their spending priorities strategically.  The need for effective 
medium term planning has never been stronger.

3.2 The government’s response to these concerns was the offer of a 4 year 
settlement guarantee, paid to councils for the 4 year period from April 2016 to 
the financial year 2019-20.  It covers Revenue Support Grant, transitional 
funding and Rural Services Delivery Grant. 97% of councils accepted the 
multi-year settlement offer for 2016-17 to 2019-20. 

3.3 This Council chose to take advantage of this offer and published, in line with 
terms of the multi-year offer, its Efficiency Plan in October 2016. DCLG duly 
confirmed that we were to receive the multi-year settlement.

Autumn Statement 2016

3.4 The Autumn Statement 2016, delivered on 23 November 2016 confirmed the 
government’s commitment to the departmental spending plans set out in the 
2015 Spending review. It also included the announcement that the 
Government will no longer seek to deliver a budget surplus by the end of the 
current parliament but will instead seek to return public finances to balance ‘as 
early as possible in the next Parliament. Although reductions in departmental 

Page 55



spending and further fiscal tightening were avoided, there was no easing of 
austerity for public services. 

Spring and Autumn Budgets 2017

3.5 The 2017 Spring Budget presented to the House of Commons on 8 March  
and the Autumn  Budget presented on 22 November 2017, contained a 
number of announcements relevant to local government and in particular to 
changes to business rates. Changes impacting on 2018/19 included:

 provision of funding to local authorities to provide discretionary relief to 
business rate payers where bills have increased significantly following 
revaluation

 targeted support for those businesses that lost Small Business Rate 
Relief entitlement as a result of revaluation 2017 

 from April 2018, the use of Consumer Price Index (CPI) rather than 
Retail Price Index (RPI) to uprate the multiplier for business rates, 
bringing forward the change already announced from April 2020;

 switching the business rates revaluation cycle from five years to three 
years following the next planned revaluation in 2022

 extending by one year the £1,000 discount to business rates bills for 
pubs with a rateable value of less than £100,000 to 2018/19

 from April 2018, providing local authorities with the power to increase 
the council tax empty homes premium from 50% to 100%

 a wide breadth of measures to support the governments objective of 
increasing the numbers of new homes being built 

 a package of measures to support the continued roll out of Universal 
Credit.

Local Government finance report and provisional settlement 2018-19

3.6 The provisional local government finance settlement for 2018-19 was issued 
on 19 December 2017 and sets out the distribution of centrally allocated 
resources for local authorities in England. The final settlement was issued on 
6 February 2018 . The figures included in the provisional local government 
finance settlement for 2018-19 are broadly in line with the indicative figures 
announced in the four year settlement last year. The only change of note 
between the provisional and final settlements was the announcement of 
additional funding through the Rural Services Delivery Grant (see paragraph 
4.6). 

3.7 The Settlement outlines the [provisional] Settlement Funding Assessment – 
(SFA) (comprising Revenue Support Grant and retained business rates 
income (baseline funding)) for local authorities and the impact on the core 
spending power of local authorities.  Core Spending Power is the 
Governments measure of the core components of local government funding. It 
comprises the aggregate of the Settlement Funding Assessment, assumed 
income from council tax, New Homes Bonus, Improved Better Care Fund 
funding and rural services delivery grant).

Page 56



3.8 A summary of the Council’s provisional Settlement Funding Assessment and 
Core Spending Power – over the spending review period - is set out in table 1.

Table 1: Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) & Core Spending Power
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue Support Grant 2,523 1,700 1,061 652 196
Baseline funding 3,284 3,346 3,414 3,517 3,595
Total – SFA 5,807 5,046 4,475 4,169 3,791
Assumed Council tax 4,537 4,714 4,920 5,150 5,388
New Homes Bonus 1,079 1,533 1,612 1,004 940
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant 63 324 261 261 261

Other grants1 48 48 44 73 110
Core spending power 11,534 11,665 11,312 10,657 10,490
Annual change - 1.1% -3.0% -5.8% -1.6%
Cumulative change - 1.1% -1.9% -7.6% -9.1%

1Compensation for under-indexing the business rates multiplier

3.9 Nationally, the government’s figures indicate that Core Spending Power will 
increase by an average of 1.5% in 2018-19, assuming that every council 
raises their council tax by the maximum permitted without a referendum. For 
the local government sector as a whole the change over the whole Spending 
Review period is +2.1%. Despite this broadly ‘flat-cash’ settlement, this 
nevertheless presents very significant challenges ahead for councils who will 
have to make savings sufficient enough to compensate for any additional cost 
pressures they face.

3.10 The maintenance of a broadly flat cash settlement, in the context of significant 
grant reductions, is achieved largely through an assumption that for 2018-19 
and 2019-20:

 social care authorities take up the option to raise council tax in line 
with the in line with the 3% referendum limit and set the Adult Social 
Care precept to the maximum allowable level 

 average annual growth in the council tax base remains consistent with 
the growth achieved by each local authority between 2013-14 and 
2017-18 

 district councils will increase their Band D council tax by whichever is 
the greater of £5 or 3%.

3.11 For Allerdale the figures highlight a projected reduction in the Council’s core 
spending power by around 9.1% in cash terms, from £11.53m to £10.49m 
between 2015-16 and 2019-20. This includes a reduction of approximately 
£2m (35%) in the Settlement Funding Assessment offset by a projected 
increase of approximately £0.9m (19%) in council tax income (including base 
growth and levels increasing by CPI) and £0.12m (10%) in the levels of New 
Homes Bonus and Rural Services Delivery Grant and other grants over the 

Page 57



spending review period. The revenue grant funding element of the Council’s 
Settlement Funding Assessment is expected to fall from £2.523m in 2015-16 
to £0.196m in 2019-20.

3.12 The reductions in RSG which underpin the reduction in the Settlement 
Funding Assessment over the spending review period were timetabled to 
coincide with the planned transition to 100% local rates retention in 2019-20. 
However, the Local Government Finance Bill which had been progressing 
through Parliament until the General Election was called was not included in 
the Queens speech. The Finance Bill would, amongst other things, have 
provided the legislative framework for the introduction of 100% Business 
Rates Retention (BRR). Without a change to primary legislation the move to 
100% BRR is not possible. Therefore whilst the Government has indicated 
they intend to move to 75% local retention by 2020-21 any further move to 
100% local retention is unlikely to be implemented before 2022-23 (if at all).

3.13 The current four year settlement runs out in 2019-20. Whilst the Government 
has acknowledged the need to provide future certainty beyond the existing 4-
year funding deal, and to meet its manifesto commitment to give councils 
more control of the taxes they raise locally, there remains a lack of clarity over 
funding levels after 2019-20. At a time when pressure on local services is 
increasing this lack of clarity over funding - both at national and local level- 
places significant limitations on the Council’s financial planning beyond the 
end of the current multi-year settlement. 

3.14 The Council tax referendum principles have also been announced with the 
basic referendum limit for Council Tax increased from 2% to 3% for both 
2018-19 and 2019-20 to reflect the level of inflation.  For district councils 
increases of less than 3% or up to and including £5 (on a band D property), 
whichever is higher can be made without triggering a referendum. 

3.15 For social care authorities the referendum limit, a 3% basic referendum 
principle will apply in 2018-19 and 2019-20, in addition to the adult social care 
precept under previously announced rules. The adult social care precept 
enables social care authorities to increase their council tax by up to 3 per cent 
(over the existing basic referendum threshold of 3% referred to above) 
provided the additional (social care) precept increases do not exceed 6% over 
the 3 year period from 2017-18 to 2019-20. For Police and Crime 
Commissioners, the limit for 2018-19 is £12 on a Band D property. No 
referendum limits apply to parish councils for the next three years.

3.16 The Core Spending Power figures announced in the provisional settlement 
include the New Homes Bonus allocations for 2018-19 along with the New 
Homes Bonus returned element of the funding. The provisional settlement 
confirms that, as consulted on in 2016, the length of time that the bonus is 
paid for will reduce from five years to four years in 2018/19. The baseline for 
housing growth (over which bonus will be paid) will remain at 0.4%. The 
government has also confirmed that it will not be implementing changes that 
would have involved withholding New Homes Bonus from local authorities 
where it considers that planning is not effective in terms of decisions on 
planning applications and delivering new homes.

Page 58



3.17 Illustrative levels of core spending assume that New Homes Bonus allocations 
for 2019-20: 

 will reduce in line with the national totals set at the Spending Review 
and which  will see payments reduce to £900m in 2019-20 

 are based on each authority’s legacy payments with any remaining 
allocation split between authorities based on their share of the total 
legacy payments 

 no returned funding associated with the distribution of unclaimed New 
Homes Bonus funding in 2018-19 or 2019-20. 

3.18 The actual amount of new homes bonus therefore remains dependent on 
growth locally and on any future changes to the scheme. 

3.19 In addition to the Core Spending Power amounts other changes announced 
as part of the 2018-19 provisional settlement included: 

 publication of a consultation paper “Fair funding review: a review of 
relative needs and resources”; a technical consultation setting out the 
government’s current thinking on updating the current needs 
assessment formulae; the results of the review will be introduced in 
2020-21

 confirmation that there will be a business rates baseline reset in 2020-
21 (to better reflect how much local authorities are actually collecting 
from business rates) and, from 2020/21, business rates retention will 
be at 75% (with existing grants, including RSG and Public Health 
Grant incorporated into business rates retention); At a reset, tariff and 
top-up levels would be recalculated

 details of potential business rate pools to pilot 100% rates retention in  
2018-19 (The bid submitted by all seven local authorities across 
Cumbria was not among the successful applications)

 other funding allocations outside of the local government finance 
settlement – including allocations of Flexible homelessness support 
grant: and Homelessness Reduction Act: new burdens funding

 continuation of the flexibility to use capital receipts to help meet the 
cost of transformation programmes for a further three years

 confirmation that planning departments will be able to increase 
planning fees by 20% where they commit to spending the additional 
income on their planning services. 

4. Local Government funding - resources available to support the 2018-19 
Revenue Budget

4.1 Following introduction of the Business Rate Retention Scheme (BRRS) in 
April 2013 central government support for local government (the Settlement 
Funding Assessment) now comprises two main funding streams: 

i. Revenue Support Grant (RSG), and
ii. amounts funded through the Business Rates Retention scheme (the 

(NNDR) baseline funding level). 

Page 59



4.2 The Settlement Funding Assessment represents the authority’s share of 
central government’s local government spending control total. In addition to 
the Settlement Funding Assessment there are also various specific grants 
(sometimes called targeted grants) distributed outside the settlement. The 
basis on which these grants are distributed varies from grant to grant. They 
include non-ringfenced grants, which have no accompanying restrictions on 
what councils can spend the money on, and ring-fenced grants where the 
expenditure is controlled to fund a particular service that is a national priority.

4.3 The Council’s net revenue budget is funded from the following:
 Central Government grants
 the Business Rate Retention Scheme (non-domestic rates)
 Council Tax
 Income from fees and charges
 Interest and investment income.

Revenue Support Grant 

4.4 Revenue Support Grant is a non-ringfenced central government grant that can 
be used to finance revenue expenditure on any service. The amount of 
Revenue Support Grant to be provided to local authorities is established 
through the local government finance settlement. 

4.5 The Council’s RSG settlement for 2018-19 - included in the Provisional 
Finance Settlement for 2018-19 - is £652k. This represents a reduction of 
£0.408m (38%) on the amount (£1.06m) awarded in 2017-18 and a 
cumulative reduction of £4.15m (86%) on the amount received in 2013-14 
(£4.8m). The Council’s RSG allocation for 2018-19 is unchanged from amount 
included in multi-year settlement announced in 2016-17.

Table 2: Provisional local government settlement 2018-19
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20Settlement Funding 

Assessment £000 £000 £000
Revenue Support Grant 1,061 652 196
Baseline funding 3,414 3,517 3,595
Total 4,475 4,169 3,791

Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG)

4.6 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) is a non-ringfenced section 31 grant 
paid by central government to rural authorities in recognition of the extra costs 
of delivering public services in sparsely populated areas. The grant is paid to 
the upper quartile of authorities based on the super-sparsity indicator, a proxy 
for rurality which ranks authorities by the proportion of the population which is 
scattered widely using census data and weighted towards the authorities with 
the sparsest populations. 

4.7 The Authority’s RSDG allocation for 2018-19 is £325,556. This includes the  
funding increase – announced as part of the provisional 2018-19 settlement – 

Page 60



which increased the indicative amount included in four year settlement to 
match 2017-18 funding level of £261,249. It also incorporates the additional 
funding allocation announced as part of the 2018/19 Final Settlement. The 
allocation for 2019-20 is £261,249. 

Other Government Grants – New Homes Bonus

4.8 The New Homes Bonus was announced as part of the Comprehensive 
Spending Review in 2010. It match funds the council tax raised on the net 
number of additional new homes and long term empty properties brought back 
into use and is based on data included in the Council Tax Base Return 
(CTB1) submitted in October each year. In two-tier areas the bonus is split 
80:20 between the district and county councils. 

Table 3: New Homes Bonus Grant
Year of Payment (Allerdale Borough Council Share)

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19Year
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

- 84 84 84 84
- 16 16 16 16
- 222 222 222 222 222
-  469 469 469 469
1   277 277 277 277
2    458 458 458
3 178 178
4 91

Total 322 791 1,068 1,526 1,604 1,004

4.9 The provisional allocations of new homes bonus funding for 2018-19 were 
announced in early December. Final allocations were published alongside the 
final local government finance settlement in February 2018. The Council’s 
allocation of New Homes Bonus grant funding for 2018-19 is £1,003,560. This 
is paid as a non-ring-fenced grant meaning the Council is free to decide how 
to spend it and can spend it on either revenue or capital or place it in 
reserves. 

4.10 The 2018-19 settlement confirms that, as announced last year, the length of 
time the bonus is paid will reduce from five years to four years in 2018-19. 
However, the government has decided not to make any additional change to 
the national baseline, below which the Bonus will not be paid. The threshold 
over which bonus will be paid therefore remains at 0.4% of the council tax 
base (weighted by band) for 2018-19. The Government does however retain 
the option to adjust the baseline in subsequent years. After considering 
responses to the 2018-19 local government finance settlement technical 
consultation - issued in September 2017- the Government has decided not to 
implement proposed changes which would have meant bonus being withheld 
for homes approved by the Planning Inspectorate.

Page 61



4.11 The changes to the methodology for calculating New Homes Bonus coupled 
with the cessation of legacy payments from earlier years has resulted in a 
reduction of £600,000 in the amount of grant receivable by the Authority in 
2018-19 compared to 2017-18.

Business rates (non-domestic rates- NNDR) 
4.12 Under the business rates retention scheme, 40% of business rates (NNDR) 

collected is retained by the Council. The remainder is paid to Central 
Government (50%) and Cumbria County Council (10%). The scheme also 
provides that certain sums are to be treated as being outside the scheme and 
retained in their entirety by the Council (or by the Council and the County 
Council).The Council is also able to retain the growth in the local share of 
business rates subject to the payment of a levy to central government 
designed to prevent disproportionate increases in the Council’s funding as a 
result of growth in business rates income.

4.13 A system of top-up and tariffs ensures the Council’s share of estimated 
business rates income (business rates baseline) does not exceed the level of 
funding to be provided through the business rates retention scheme (baseline 
funding). Tariffs, top-ups and baseline funding levels are indexed each year in 
line with the small business rates multiplier (usually set at the September 
RPI). Top-up, tariffs and baseline amounts have also been adjusted to ensure 
that the impact of the 2017 revaluation was revenue neutral for local 
authorities. The Council’s baseline funding for 2018-19 is £3.517m and the 
amount of tariff payable £7.135m. 

4.14 The amount of business rates income available to the Council’s general fund 
and taken into account when setting the budget is based on an estimate - 
made in January preceding the start of the financial year and included in the 
government return NNDR 1. This estimate of business rate income, reported 
in the government return NNDR 1, also determines how much the Council 
must pay to central government and the County Council during the course of 
the year.

4.15 The estimate of business rates income takes into account any projected 
changes in the tax base, estimated losses due to appeals and expected 
collection rates. The amounts paid to the county council and central 
government and the amount retained by the Council are fixed at the outset of 
each year (based on the estimates included in the Council’s NNDR 1return). 
As a consequence any difference between estimated amounts and the actual 
amounts receivable will result in a surplus, or deficit on the Council’s 
Collection Fund. An estimate must therefore be made by the Council of the 
surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund at the end of the previous financial 
year. This estimated amount is then shared between the Council, Cumbria 
County Council and central government and added (or subtracted) from each 
Authorities share of the following year’s non-domestic rating income. The 
estimated Collection Fund deficit at 31 March 2018 is £1,408,988. The 
Council’s share of this deficit is £563,595.

Page 62



4.16 A summary of the business rate income included in the 2018-19 budget is 
shown in table 4. 

Table 4: Estimated Business Rates (NNDR) funding 2018-19 
Funding Element £’000
Allerdale Share of NNDR Income 11,075
Renewable Energy disregard – retained by billing authority 557
Net tariff payable to Central Government (7,135)
Share of estimated Collection Fund deficit at 31 March 2018 (564)

3,933
Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (516)
Section 31 grant 1,547

1,031
Total estimated income from Business Rates 4,964

4.17 As part of the business rates retention scheme, local authorities have the 
option of working with neighbouring authorities to seek formal designation as 
a pool which is treated as a single authority for the purpose of certain 
calculations under the scheme. This provides the opportunity to increase the 
amount of growth in the local share retained locally (through a reduction in the 
levy rate). Pooling also provides scope to manage the impact of volatility in 
rates income across a wider economic area.

4.18 After undertaking appropriate due diligence including modelling the individual 
position alongside the pool position the Authority entered into a formal pooling 
arrangement comprising Cumbria County Council and all six Cumbrian District 
councils.  A Cumbria Business Rates Pool has been in place since April 2014. 
Membership of the pool previously consisted of Cumbria County Council 
Allerdale Borough Council, Barrow Borough Council, Carlisle City Council, 
Cumbria County Council, Eden District Council and South Lakeland District 
Council. Membership of the pool has been extended in 2018-19 to include 
Copeland Borough Council.

4.19 In 2018-19 it is estimated that additional business rates income of £423k – 
that would otherwise have been paid to central government through the levy 
payment – will remain available to the Council’s general fund. 

4.20 The 2017 Budget and Autumn Statements (2013 – 2017) included various 
changes to the business rates system that affect the business rates income of 
local authorities. The following changes will affect the Council’s business rates 
income in 2018-19:

(i) permitting ratepayers receiving Small Business Rate Relief that take 
on an additional property to continue to receive their current relief for 
12 months) 

(ii) making permanent the doubling of small business rates relief from 1 
April 2017 and changing eligibility thresholds from 2017-18 

Page 63



(iii) providing discretionary relief of £1,500 in respect of the office space 
occupied by local newspapers

(iv) doubling rural rate relief; to be awarded through discretionary relief 
until such time as the Government can make the necessary changes 
to primary legislation.

(v) providing support to small businesses, facing large increases as a 
result of the loss of small business or rural rate relief, due to the 
revaluation. This relief took effect from 1st April 2017 for a period of 
5 years.

(vi) discretionary scheme administered by Billing Authorities, available to 
ratepayers facing large increases as a result of revaluation. This 
relief would take effect from 1st April 2017, for a period of 4 years

(vii) providing relief of up to £1,000 relief, to Pubs with a Rateable Value 
below £100,000, ratepayers facing large increases as a result of 
revaluation. This relief would take effect from 1st April 2018, for 1 
year. 

4.21 A central government grant under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003 will be paid to authorities to compensate them for the ongoing loss of 
business rates income they suffer as a result of these changes. A grant is also 
paid to compensate local authorities for the ongoing loss of income they suffer 
as a result of past decisions made by Government to cap the increase in the 
small business multiplier and for the impact of the decision to use CPI rather 
than RPI to uprate the business rates multiplier from April 2018.

4.22 A reconciliation of the baseline funding contained in the 2018-19 local 
government finance settlement to the total estimated income from business 
rates is set out in table 5.

Table 5: Reconciliation of 2018-19 business rates income to baseline funding
Funding Element £’000
Baseline funding 3,517
Share of retained growth 939
Pool gains 423
Renewable Energy disregarded income retained by Authority 557
Share of Collection Fund Deficit (564)
s31 Grant on multiplier cap (excluded from growth/levy) 92
Total estimated income from Business Rates 4,964

Council tax 

4.23 Each year the Council must calculate the amount of revenue it needs to raise 
through council tax (the council tax requirement). Calculation of the council tax 
requirement is calculated based on the Authority’s estimates of: 

 the expenditure it will incur in the year less estimates of the income it 
will receive from government grants, business rates, fees and charges 
and interest and investment income 

Page 64



 allowances required for contingencies in relation to amounts to be 
charged or credited to revenue 

 the financial reserves it will be appropriate to raise in the year for 
meeting its estimated future expenditure, less

 the amount of the financial reserves that will be used in the financial 
year to meet expenditure.

4.24 The Authority’s council tax requirement must also take into account the 
amounts the Council is required to transfer during the year between its 
General Fund and Collection Fund in respect of its share of any surpluses or 
deficits on the Collection Fund for the previous year in respect of business 
rates and council tax.

4.25 The amount of council tax income available to the Council’s general fund in 
the financial year is fixed at the level determined when the council tax is set. 
This amount is paid out of the Council’s Collection Fund regardless of how 
much council tax is actually collected during the year. As a consequence if 
more council tax is collected than expected a surplus on the Collection Fund 
will arise; if less is collected, a deficit will result. Statutory provisions require 
the surplus or deficit on the council tax element of the collection fund for the 
previous year to be estimated on 15th January of that year. The estimated 
surplus/deficit on the Collection Fund is shared out – in accordance with 
statutory provisions - between the Council and the major precepting 
authorities (Cumbria County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for Cumbria) in the following year and taken into account in the budget 
calculations for that year. 

4.26 The estimate of the collection fund surplus in respect of council tax at 31 
March 2018, to be distributed in 2018-19, is £696,200 of which Allerdale 
Borough Council’s share is £91,201.

Table 6: Allocation of collection fund surplus (council tax) at 31 March 2018
Share of 

surplus/(deficit)
£000

Cumbria County Council 516
Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner 89
Allerdale Borough Council 91
Total estimated surplus 696

Proposed council tax increase

4.27 The Council has the ability to set any level of council tax increase. However, 
whilst the Localism Act 2011 abolished Council Tax capping in England it 
introduced, in its place, a power for local electorates to approve or veto 
excessive council tax rises. Since 2012-13 an authority setting a council tax 
increase which exceeds principles endorsed by the House of Commons 
alongside the local government finance settlement (i.e. which is “excessive”) 

Page 65



will be required to hold a council tax referendum. The result of a council tax 
referendum is binding. 

4.28 For 2016-17 and 2017-18 the threshold level, above which council tax 
increases was considered excessive was set at 2% or more than £5 above 
the amount of council tax in previous year (whichever is higher). This 
threshold was also included in the technical consultation on the 2018-19 Local 
Government Finance Settlement issued by the Government in September. 
The Council’s budget consultation was therefore conducted on the 
assumption that the threshold that applied in 2017-18 would continue to apply 
in 2018-19. 

4.29 However, in the Provisional Finance Settlement the Government announced 
an increase in the referendum threshold. For shire district councils the 
threshold for 2018-19 was increased to 3% or up to and including £5, 
whichever is higher, to reflect the level of inflation. The £5 threshold applies to 
band D properties with proportionate increases being applied to properties in 
other council tax bands.

4.30 The Council therefore proposes to increases Council Tax by £5 on band D 
Properties, with proportionate increases being applied to properties, in other 
council tax bands. This equates to an increase equal to 3.19% across all 
council tax valuation bands.

Council tax base 

4.31 After calculating its council tax requirement each local authority then sets its 
basic amount of council tax (band D) at the level necessary to raise this 
amount, taking into account its likely collection rate. The basic amount council 
tax is calculated by reference to the Council’s council tax requirement and its 
council tax base.

4.32 The council tax base is the number of Band D equivalent dwellings in a local 
authority area. The tax base is therefore an estimate of the taxable capacity 
for the borough as a whole and for each parish area. To calculate the tax the 
number of dwellings in each council tax band is reduced to take account of 
discounts and exemptions. This includes reductions awarded under the 
Council’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The resulting figure for each 
property band is then multiplied by its proportion relative to Band D (from 6/9 
for Band A to 18/9 for Band H) and the total across all eight bands is 
calculated. An adjustment is then made for the collection rate.

4.33 The tax base for 2018-19 has been set at 30,359.94. This represents an 
increase of 0.6% on the 2017-18 tax base of 30,183.13.

4.34 Council tax raised on behalf of parish and town councils (‘Parish Precepts) are 
incorporated into the Council’s general fund budget and council tax 
requirement.  Details of parish precepts for 2018-19 are set out in Appendix B.

Page 66



Grant to Parish Councils re Local Support for Council Tax

4.35 Under the Welfare Reform Act 2012, Council Tax benefit paid to low income 
households was abolished from 1st April 2013. In its place, all Billing 
Authorities were required to put in place a Local Support for Council Tax 
scheme (LSCT),which is a discount scheme (similar to single person 
discounts but with variable rates of discount depending on individual 
circumstances). The changes introduced by the 2012 Act also necessitated 
amendments to the way in which the Council Tax base is calculated.

4.36 Prior to 2014-15, funding for Council Tax Support schemes was separately 
identifiable in the formula grant settlement. However, since 2014-15 this 
funding has been “rolled up” into the Council’s Revenue Support Grant which 
has subsequently been scaled back and hence the amount of grant available 
to pass onto parishes continues to reduce.

4.37 MHCLG has continued to stress that it is for each local authority to determine 
how the funding to Town and Parish councils is allocated. Whilst there are no 
plans to make the redistribution of these monies compulsory, the Government 
is expecting some funding to be allocated to parishes. As this Authority’s 
revenue budget continues to come under pressure from reductions in Central 
Government funding, the level of redistributed to parishes also needs to be 
reviewed.

4.38 The MHCLG’s preferred approach to funding local precepting authorities in 
relation to local council tax support schemes is through a voluntary 
arrangement whereby billing and local precepting authorities agree the 
amount of funding, allocated initially to billing authorities, to be passed down 
to local precepting authorities.

4.39 In 2017-18 the amount of CTRS grant funding passed to Town and Parish 
Councils was reduced from £61,997 to £41,332. In 2018-19 it is proposed 
that: 

 the budget for CTRS grant is set at £20,666; the reduction of £20,665 
reflecting the previously agreed phased withdrawal of funding in 
response to the reductions in Central Government grant received by 
the Council 

 the grant to be redistributed is allocated based on the indicative 
council tax discount entitlements included in calculation of the 
Council’s Council Tax Base.

4.40 The proportionate share of the £20,666 grant allocated to individual Parish 
and Town Councils is summarised in Appendix A to this report.

4.41 Members are requested to approve the allocation of this grant to Parish 
Councils. The grant will be paid as part of the normal precept funding to 
Parish & Town Councils. Members are also requested to note that 2018-19 

Page 67



will be the final year that CTRS grant will be paid to parish and town 
councils.

5. Determination of the council’s net budget (budget requirement)

5.1 Preparation of the council’s 2018-19 net revenue budget begins with a roll 
forward of the 2017-18 recurring base budget (£11,932k). This figure is then 
adjusted to accommodate:

 changes to salary costs including the impact of pay awards, 
incremental pay increases and changes to establishment 

 recurring growth and savings;
 self-sufficiency savings, and
 non-recurring growth and savings - i.e. those required for the current 

year only. 

5.2 The key the assumptions / parameters adopted as part of this budget are to:-
 prioritise delivery of the council plan with a strong emphasis on 

supporting economic growth to support our self-sufficiency plans
 continue to identify areas where efficiencies, can be made
 increase income from fees and charges in line with the Council’s  

charging policy
 increase the base budget to reflect inflationary in line with our 

contractual commitments based on the relevant measure of inflation 
 not to apply a general inflationary uplift to non-pay expenditure  in 

order to drive further efficiencies
 cost salary expenditure based on revised structures and continue to 

allow for a 2% reduction to accommodate staff turnover during the 
year;  

 increase expected income from Council tax based on an increase of 
by £5 p.a. on band D Properties, with proportionate increases being 
applied to properties, in other council tax bands is approved. 

5.3 The Council’s net revenue budget (budget requirement) for 2018-19 is shown 
in table 7. 

Page 68



Table 7: 2018-19 Revenue Budget
2018-19 Reference

£000
Base Budget 11,932
Change in salary costs 135 5.7
Recurring growth 526 5.8/Appendix D
Recurring savings (676) 5.9/Appendix D
Self-sufficiency savings (422) 5.10
Recurring (base) budget 11,495
Non-recurring growth 1,102 5.13/Appendix E
Non-recurring savings (17) 5.15/Appendix E

12,580
Expenditure on earmarked priorities 1,066 Appendix I
Proposed Budget (excluding parish precepts) 13,646
Parish precepts 2,024 Appendix B
Proposed Budget (including parish precepts) 15,670
Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (1,066) Appendix I
Net Budget Requirement 14,604

5.4 The Council’s net budget requirement is funded as follows:

Table 8: 2018-19 Revenue Funding 
2018-19 Paragraph

£000
Revenue support grant 652 4.4
Rural Services Delivery Grant 325 4.6
Other government grants (New Homes Bonus) 1,004 4.8
Council tax – excluding parish element 5,100 4.23
Council tax – parish element 2,024
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 91 4.26
NNDR funding 5,528 4.12
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - NNDR (564) 4.12
Use of /(contribution to) General fund Balances 444
Total funding 14,604

5.5 The draft net expenditure for 2018-19, excluding parish precepts and spend 
on earmarked priorities (met from the use of earmarked reserves) is £12,580k.  
This compares with a total of £12,715k for 2017-18 (revised budget).  A 
summary of the changes underlying the movement between the 2017-18 
(revised budget) and the proposed 2018-19 budget is set out in Appendix F.

5.6 A breakdown of the Revenue Budget for 2018-19 by Executive member 
portfolio is set out in Appendix C. 

Page 69



Change in salary costs - £135k

5.7 This is the total increase required to cover a number of changes in the salary 
budgets. These changes include the cost of the nationally agreed pay award, 
the cost of annual increments due and changes to staffing structures 

Recurring growth - £526k

5.8 Details of recurring growth bids included as adjustment to the Council’s base 
budget are summarised in table 9:

Table 9: Recurring growth bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Parks & Grounds Maintenance: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary 
increase) 24

Street Cleansing: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase)  25

Domestic Waste: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 36

Trade Waste: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 6

Recycling: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 31

Off-street Car Parks - Owned: Increase in NNDR costs 74
Sports & Leisure Centres: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 25
Sports & Leisure Centres: Scheduled reduction in contribution received 
from GLL to compensate the Council for additional revenue financing costs 
associated with improvement works at Cockermouth Sports centre

22

Fleet management: Increase on the annual cost of Allerdale Fleet to reflect 
current vehicles lease costs 11

Asset Transfer: Increase in budget to bring Community assets up to a 
transferable state 50

Banking & Interest: Increase in interest costs to reflect full year impact of 
additional PWLB loans expected to be drawn down in 2017-18 and the part 
year cost of additional loans expected to be drawn down in 2018-19 

82

Minimum Revenue Provision: Increase in MRP charge associated with 
unfinanced capital expenditure incurred prior to 1 April 2018 65

Revenues: Reduction in recovery of court costs reflecting improvements to 
collections and arrears as a result of increased choice of payment methods, 
improved take up of Council Tax direct debits and more targeted recovery 
action

20

IT Services: Increase in existing budget to accommodate renewal of 
software licences to enable continued usage of Office 365, Microsoft 
Enterprise Mobility Solutions and Azure Premium Products, as well as a 
number of tools used to support the remainder of the on-premise IT 
infrastructure

35

Council tax discounts: Discretionary council tax discount for care leavers 3
AONB: Increase in match funding related to annual DEFRA grant 2
Second Homes Grant: Revision to second homes grant income from 
Cumbia County Council 15

Total recurring growth bids 526

Page 70



Recurring savings – (£676k)

5.9 Details of recurring savings bids included as adjustment to the Council’s base 
budget are summarised below:

Table 10: Recurring savings bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Bereavement Services: Uplift in income to reflect increases in fees and 
charges 

(5)

Trade Waste: Increase in net income to reflect current trends in income, 
increases in fees and charges and expected growth in customer numbers

(32)

Recycling Services: Increase in net income from recycling credits and sale 
of recycled materials

(3)

Off-street - Owned Car Parks: Increase in pay and display income to reflect 
increases in fees and charges (35)

Carnegie Trust: Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded (15)
Building control (chargeable): Increase in Building Regulations fees (25)
Planning and Development: Increase planning fee income (49)
Planning and Development: Reduction in consultancy costs (15)
Town Centres: Reduction to budget for town centre environmental projects (30)
Insurances: Reduction in insurance premiums  (38)
Environmental Protection: Reduction in expenditure associated with private 
water supplies risk assessments (Programme will be completed in 2017-18 in 
accordance with the Private Water Supply Regulations)

(6)

Gypsy & Travellers: General reduction in budget (10)
Assistance - Housing Services: Increase in fees (net of additional pay 
costs) levied in connection with the award of Disabled Facilities, Discretionary 
and Empty Homes grants 

(30)

Referral Centre:  Reduction in support required by Referral centre for victims 
of sexual assault (15)

Revenues & Benefits: Reduction in cost of housing benefit payments (net of 
subsidy payments received) (14)

Multi- Storey Car Park (MSCP): Reduction in MSCP net operating budget (75)
Property services: Reduction in operational property maintenance budget (30)
Footway lights: Reduction in footway lighting utility and maintenance budget (13)
Public Conveniences: Reduction in budget for repair, facility and utilities of 
public toilets (25)

Electoral Registration: Reduction to budget for printing and postage costs (10)
Apprenticeships: Reduction to salary budget for apprentices (25)
Economic Regeneration: Moot Hall, Hadrians Wall & Cumbria Tourism 
costs to be met from the tourism budget (30)

Economic Regeneration: Reduction in recurring Economic Regeneration 
(partnership services) budget (10)

Corporate Management: Reduction in external audit fees (10)

Page 71



Bid Detail Bid
£000

Camping and Caravan site Keswick: Uplift in lease rental income to reflect 
increase in revenue received by the site operator following completion of site 
improvements 

(119)

Total of service bids with an individual value <10k  (7)

Total recurring savings bids (676)

Self - sufficiency savings (£422k)

5.10 The 2018-19 budget is set within the context of the Council’s Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (see Appendix J). This shows that, in order for the Council to 
remain financially sustainable and continue to meet its statutory obligation to 
deliver a balanced budget it will need to address a funding deficit of 
approximately £2.6m over the period 2018-19 to 2020-21. These savings are 
in addition to delivering the self-sufficiency savings (£422k) and other 
recurring savings included in the proposed 2018-19 budget.

5.11 The Council’s self- sufficiency programme includes the delivery of targeted 
reductions (recurring savings) in the Councils base budget of £422k in 2018-
19 (summarised in Table 11 below).

Table 11: 2018-19 Self Sufficiency Savings Target
2018-19

Service
£000

Economic Growth
Economic Development Initiatives (60)
Operational Efficiencies
IT Services (30)
Planning and Development (20)
Sports & Leisure Centres (87)
Service Delivery
Corporate & Service Reviews (175)
Town and parish transfers (50) 
Total self-sufficiency savings (422)

Non-recurring growth/savings

5.12 There are a number of bids that are non-recurring, i.e. they are required for 
one year only, and therefore will not directly impact on the base budget . 
These are summarised in the following tables:

Non-recurring growth - £1,102k

5.13 The non-recurring growth bids included in the Council’s net budget 
requirement are summarised in table 12:

Page 72



Table 12: Non-Recurring growth bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Shop Front Improvements: Continuation of the existing town centre 
improvement scheme for a further year. 50

IT Services: One-off cost of renewing of software licensing, maintenance 
and support for firewalls and IT security appliances for a further 3 years 17

IT Services: Replacement of existing data storage equipment and software 20
Supporting Leisure Activities: Support for Wigton Baths 15
Strategic Priorities: Budget provision to meet revenue costs associated 
with the development and delivery of major capital projects, procurement 
activities and other tasks connected with the delivery of strategic priorities 

1,000

Total non-recurring growth bids 1,102

5.14 In addition to the items identified above the Council holds a central 
contingency budget for unquantifiable risks. The contingency balance held for 
2018-19 is £111,780.

Non- recurring savings - (£17k)

5.15 Details of non-recurring saving bids included in the Councils net budget 
requirement are summarised in table 13.

Table 13: Non-recurring savings bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Community Safety: Reduction in £10k annual funding to Cumbria 
Community Safety Partnership 

(10)

Homelessness: Homeless Reduction Act new burdens grant (net of 
expenditure associated with the additional duties contained within the 
Homelessness Reduction Act)  

(7)

Total non-recurring savings bids (17)

Page 73



6. Capital budget

6.1 Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-current 
assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in excess of 12 
months as well as expenditure on additions to or enhancement of existing 
non-current assets. It also includes items such as grants towards capital 
expenditure incurred by third parties (for example Disabled Facilities Grants). 

6.2 The following paragraphs set out the Council’s proposed capital programme 
for 2018-19 and the following two financial years (2019-20 and 2020-21) 
together with a summary of how this expenditure will be financed. 

6.3 Capital expenditure may also impact on the Council’s revenue budget. Where 
this is the case the revenue implications of capital expenditure are dealt with 
as part of the Revenue Budget process. Examples of the revenue implications 
of capital expenditure include:

 increases/decreases in operating costs, e.g. utilities, maintenance, staff 
costs or increased income from new or enhanced assets.

 the requirement to set aside from the General Fund an annual amount 
(the Minimum Revenue Provision), to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded from borrowing or other credit arrangements 

 increased finance costs, either by way of interest on borrowing or the 
loss of income on investment balances, used to fund capital 
expenditure.

Financing the capital programme 

6.4 Resources available to finance capital expenditure include:
 Capital receipts (usable proceeds from asset sales)
 Grants and contributions from third parties
 Direct financing from revenue. 

6.5 Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front from these resources will 
increase the Council’s underlying need to borrow, as measured by the capital 
financing requirement (CFR). The Council’s underlying borrowing is not 
necessarily the same as its actual borrowing position. The level of external 
debt will be determined in accordance with the Council’s treasury 
management strategy and practices. As a consequence an increase in the 
Council’s underlying borrowing position will not necessarily mean a 
corresponding increase in the amount of external borrowing.

Page 74



6.7 Statutory provisions set out the purposes to which the Council can apply its 
available capital receipts. The uses specified in regulations include:

 to meet capital expenditure in the current year

 to reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with capital 
expenditure not financed from capital receipts, grants or revenue 

 to pay a premium charged in relation to any amount borrowed

 to meet the administrative costs of or incidental to a disposal of an 
asset.

6.8 Capital receipts and grants received to date together with (capital) grant 
funding  allocations for 2018-19 have been fully committed to support the 
Council’ s capital programme.

6.9 In accordance with the Codes of Practice published by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy and good professional practice, capital 
receipts received in 2018-19 and subsequent years will only applied to fund 
new (capital) priorities where – after carrying out option appraisals and whole 
life costings - it can be demonstrated this offers better value for money to the 
Council when compared with alternative uses. Alternative uses include their 
application to reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with 
past expenditure. 

Proposed capital programme

6.10 The proposed capital programme covering 2018-19 and following two financial 
years is summarised in table 14. A detailed summary of individual schemes 
included in the proposed three year capital programme is included in 
Appendix G.

6.11 As well as the proposed capital programme, the current administration is 
continuing with its ambitions to make sustainable improvements to the 
borough and the lives of the residents.  The Council recognises that it is likely 
to need significant investment to advance the priorities and ambitions being 
identified and is exploring the possibility of significant infrastructure projects 
with could add £30 million to the capital programme.

6.12 These schemes will all need to follow the principles as set out in the new 
Capital Investment Strategy and full business cases will need to be submitted 
and approved before the schemes are recommended for inclusion in the 
capital budget.   Please refer to the Capital Investment Strategy report which 
is a separate item on this agenda for further details on this.

6.13 It is envisaged that this will be a major commitment for this Council and that a 
commitment to working with both the private sector and other public sector 
bodies to identify new funding streams will play a significant role in the future.  

Page 75



6.14 Should the council be unable to secure the levels of external funding required 
to proceed with these schemes, then it will also explore the option to increase 
borrowing.

6.15 The financial implications of these potential schemes will be incorporated into 
the Treasury Strategy and Budgets as and when the scheme business cases 
are given full approval.

Table 14: Proposed Capital Programme & methods of financing
Proposed Budget 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross expe nditure1 :
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 1,638 2,150 2,000 5,788
Tourism & Culture 1,250 0 0 1,250
Localities & Environmental Quality 465 150 0 615
Transformation 40 40 40 120
Economic Growth 11,200 0 0 11,200
Total Expenditure 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
Financed by:
External funding sources:
Disabled Facilities Grant (Better Care Fund)  1,358 1,000 1,000 3,358
Single Capital Pot (SCP) Housing grant 30 33 0 63
ERDF grant 1,500 0 0 1,500
LEP Growth Deal funding 4,800 0 0 4,800
Solway Pathways grants 1,250 0 0 1,250
Other grants and contributions 105 0 0 105
ABC resources:
General Fund/Revenue contribution 4 0 0 4
Earmarked Reserves   16 0 0 16
Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0
Unfinanced expenditure (borrowing) 5,530 1,307 1,040 7,877
Total financing 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
1  Gross expenditure does not include any proposed budget carry forwards from the approved 2017-18 

capital programme; these requests will form part of the Capital Outturn Report.

6.16 The proposed capital programme for the three year period to March 2021 
includes the following changes to the existing three year rolling capital 
programme:

Page 76



Table 15: Summary of changes to existing capital programme 
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
£000 £000 £000 Para

Gross expenditure
Previously approved capital programme (2017/18 
revised budget) 15,266 2,190 0 -

Previously approved recurring capital expenditure 
programme (IT replacement) 0 0 40 -

Re-profiling of previously approved expenditure (1,000) 0 1,000 6.18
Capital growth & savings bids submitted for 
approval 327 150 1,000 6.20

Proposed capital programme 2018/19 to 2020/21 14,593 2,340 2,040

6.17 A detailed reconciliation of the proposed 2018-19 capital budget to the revised 
2017-18 capital budget is included in Appendix H.

Re-profiling adjustments 

6.18 Re-profiling adjustments involve the transfer of previously agreed budgets and 
associated financing across financial years from 2018-19 to 2020-21 to reflect 
current expenditure forecasts. 

Table 16: Re-profiling adjustments 
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

£000 £000 £000 Para
Gross expenditure
Healthy Homes (1,000) 0 1,000 6.13
Total re-profiling adjustment (1,000) 0 1,000
Financed by:
Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) (1,000) 0 1,000 6.13

(1,000) 0 1,000

Healthy Homes

6.19 The Healthy Homes scheme is aimed at securing improvements to sub-
standard homes on an individual, block or area basis. This budget was 
originally allocated to deliver key objectives within the Housing Strategy 
including securing improvements to sub-standard homes on an individual, 
block or area basis.  The Council is currently undertaking a number of 
economic development studies which are also relevant to the Healthy Homes 
scheme. Pending completion of these studies work on delivering the Healthy 
Homes programme has been deferred to enable the findings from these 
studies to be considered. To reflect this deferral the previously agreed budget 
of £1m allocated to 2018-19 has moved to 2020-21. No changes are 
proposed to the previously agreed budget of £1m in 2019-20.

Page 77



Capital Growth and Savings 

6.20 A number of new capital expenditure bids have been submitted for approval 
as part of the 2018-19 budget setting process. These are summarised in table 
17. 

Table 17: Summary of Capital Bids 
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total bid
Capital Scheme £000 £000 £000 £000 Para
DFG - Mandatory Grants 750 750 6.16
DFG - Discretionary Grants 89 250 339 6.16
Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 100 100 6.18
Securing Affordable Homes (20) (20) 6.20
Harrington Reservoir 8 8 6.22
Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 150 150 300 6.23

327 150 1,000 1,477
Financed by:
DFG Housing Grant 89 0 1,000 1,089
SCP Housing Grant (20) 20 0
Other grants & contributions (12) (12)
Earmarked reserves 16 16
Revenue 4 4
Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) 250 130 380

327 150 1,000 1,477

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG)

6.21 The DGF programme involves the provisions of grant support to cover the 
cost of housing adaptations to enable people to stay living in their own home 
for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty to provide adaptations to the 
homes of disabled people who qualify for a mandatory DFG. Expenditure on 
DFGs is fully funded from an annual grant from central government. This grant 
is paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding allocations 
and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing DFGs. 

6.22 Pending confirmation of the Authority’s grant funding allocation for 2018-19, 
budgeted expenditure for 2018-19 has been set at £1,358k, based on the 
grant income allocation and forecasted expenditure in 2017-18. This figure 
includes a growth adjustment of £89k to align the proposed expenditure 
budget with the estimated funding available. For 2019/20 and 2020/21 
budgeted expenditure on DFGs has been set, provisionally at £1m. These 
estimates will be revised to align with funding allocations once these are 
known. This will ensure that budget expenditure continues to reflect available 
funding.

Page 78



Healthy Homes – Empty Homes (£100k growth bid)

6.23 The Healthy Homes scheme is aimed at securing improvements to sub-
standard homes on an individual, block or area basis. The 2016-17 capital 
budget included an allocation of £200k to support the introduction of a Home 
Improvement programme and extend the existing grant scheme to install 
central heating systems in homes that currently have no heating. This was 
accompanied by a budget of £1m in each of the three subsequent years 
(2017-18 to 2019-20).

6.24 As noted above the previously agreed budget allocation of £1m for 2018-19 is 
no longer required. The current budget of £50k (allocated to support bring 
empty homes back into use) comprises £100k unspent budget brought 
forward from 2016-17 less a re-profiling adjustment of £50k included in the 
revised 2017-18 budget to move £50k from 2017-18 to 2018-19. A growth bid 
of £100k will bring the budget for 2018-19 to £150k. This will be used to 
provide grant support to enable empty homes to be brought back into use. 
Expenditure on this scheme is unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  

Securing Affordable Homes ( £20k reduction in budget)

6.25 As part of the 2016-17 capital programme a budget of £50k was approved for 
2016-17 and each of the three subsequent  years. This budget was targeted 
at providing grant support to assist registered housing providers to improve 
housing stock in high need areas, which would otherwise be sold. It was 
anticipated that there would be 5 grants provided each year based on prior 
experience.  However the Council has received fewer requests for disposals 
than was initially anticipated.

6.26 It is therefore proposed that the previously agreed budget for 2018-19 of £50k 
is reduced by £20k to £30k. Combined with the expected carry-forward of 
£20k from 2017-18 this will bring the total available budget for 2018-19 to 
£50k and allow the scheme to continue as originally planned. Expenditure on 
this scheme over the two year period 2018-19 to 2019-20 (excluding the 
expected budget carry forward) will be funded from grants (£63,000) and 
borrowing (£17,000).

Harrington Reservoir (£8k growth bid)

6.27 The scheme - approved during the 2017-18 budget cycle - involves restoration 
works at Harrington Reservoir Local Nature Reserve.  The scheme 
expenditure of £175k includes and adjustment of £8k to update previous 
expenditure estimates following completion of a tendering exercise for the 
required works. The scheme will be partially financed from external grants and 
contributions totalling £105k and £20k from Revenue (£4k) and Earmarked 
Revenue Reserves (£16k). The remaining unfinanced expenditure of £50k will 
be met from borrowing. 

Page 79



Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes (£300k growth bid)

6.28 A capital bid of £300k has been submitted as part of the 2018-19 budget 
proposals to enhance the quality of the public realm in the vicinity of Brow 
Top, Workington, transform the Central Way underpass and develop vacant 
land immediately to the west of the Leisure Centre to create a dedicated 
events and activity area. The proposed budget, which will be funded from 
borrowing, includes:

 £125k (£25k of which is expected to be incurred in 2018/19 and £100k 
in 2019/20) to support a redesign of the Central Way Underpass

 £100k for public realm enhancement works in the Brow Top and 
Derwent Street, including new paving and fencing, alleviation of surface 
drainage problems, the creation of new landscaped seating area and 
comprehensive signage replacement

 £75k to develop vacant land adjacent to the Workington Leisure Centre 
as an events and activities space.

Financing of capital expenditure

6.29 Capital Expenditure in 2018-19 will be partly financed from:
 capital grants and contributions of £9,043k (£11,076k for the three year 

period 2018-19 to 2020-21)
 Earmarked reserves and revenue contributions (£20k – 2018-19 only)

6.30 The remaining capital expenditure, £5.53m in 2018-19 and £7.88m in total 
across the three year period 2018-19 to 2020-21, is unfinanced and will be 
funded from borrowing. Borrowing will be undertaken in accordance with the 
Councils Treasury Management Strategy, either through additional PWLB 
loans or by using cash and investment balances (internal borrowing).

6.31 The revenue implications of this unfinanced expenditure including the 
amounts chargeable to the general fund in respect of the associated minimum 
revenue provision and interest costs on additional external loans is included in 
the revenue budgets for 2018-19 and subsequent years. 

6.32 Details of all schemes included in the proposed three year capital programme 
2018-19 to 2020-21 are set out in appendix G. 

Page 80



7. Budget Assurance statement from the Chief Financial Officer

7.1 Section 25 of the local Government Act 2003 places a duty on the chief 
financial officer (Head of Financial Services) to make a report to the Council 
on the robustness of budget estimates and the adequacy of the Council’s 
reserves.  The Council must have regard to this report when making its 
decisions about budgets and council tax for the forthcoming year.  This is 
because the Council is setting the council tax before the commencement of 
the year and cannot increase it during the year.   It is therefore important that 
there is an understanding of the risks of increased expenditure or reduced 
income during the year.

Robustness of Estimates

7.2 The budget estimates for 2018-19 have been prepared by appropriately 
qualified and experienced staff in consultation with the service managers.  All 
the budgets have been scrutinised by the Corporate Leadership Team with 
the relevant Portfolio Holder and the whole process has been properly 
managed by the Senior Management Team.

7.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Task and Finish Group) has also 
reviewed the budget process and the draft budget position at their meetings 
during November and December 2017 and February 2018.

7.4 Budgets for staff pay in 2018-19 allow for incremental progression and for a 
pay award of 2%.  The budgets also include a 2% reduction for staff turnover.  
Contractual inflation has been built in, but in order to drive further efficiencies 
no other inflation has been provided for on expenditure.

7.5 Income levels have been subject to regular review at the Commercial Board 
and prudent estimates have been made.  Fees and charges have been 
increased for inflation where appropriate and volatile budgets will continue to 
be closely monitored.

7.6 The advice of the Council’s treasury management advisers has been taken 
into account in estimating investment income and borrowing costs.  The 
Council will continue to monitor financial markets closely.

7.7 The announcement in the Local Government settlement that Cumbria was not 
awarded status to pilot 100% business rates retention was disappointing.  
However, we are now part of a Cumbria wide Business Rates Pool and we will 
continue to monitor our position in the Pool carefully and look at further 
opportunities to pilot 100% retention should they arise.

7.8 The Council has identified its key corporate risks and continues to monitor 
these regularly.  There is an increased risk of retaining adequate reserves for 
unforeseen circumstances, due to the potential impact of the proposed 
business rates baseline reset and the Fair Funding review.  This is making 
forecasting the medium term financial position beyond 2019/20 particularly 

Page 81



difficult.  Additional monitoring has been put in place to ensure early 
recognition of additional losses.

7.9 Reductions in our government grant have continued.  Our self-sufficiency 
plans have worked well to date in helping us to deal with the funding 
challenges and to reduce our recurring base budget.  We now know that by 
2019-20 we will be wholly reliant on Council Tax and locally retained Business 
Rates. 

7.10 This means that we will need to focus on Growth to ensure that we are a self-
funded Council with additional income streams from investments and selling 
services 

Adequacy of Reserves

7.11 In the current climate it is essential that the Council maintains reserves to deal 
with the unexpected, such as continued spending pressures or further 
reductions in income.

7.12 The Council’s financial strategy has been to maintain the strength of the 
balance sheet to provide resilience in the challenging financial environment, 
whilst reducing the recurring net cost base.

7.13 The Executive has previously agreed to deploy balances to meet priorities 
and this budget continues to ensure funds are set aside for these and to focus 
on creating economic growth and development. This spend has been taken 
into consideration when looking at the adequacy of general fund balances.

7.14 Given the increased level of financial risks due to the localisation of business 
rates, then there is a case for retaining higher levels of balances.  The current 
minimum level of balances of £2.7 million is still therefore considered to be 
prudent. 

7.15 A summary of the expected movement in the general fund reserves over the 
period covered by the Councils medium term financial plan remaining is 
shown in table 18.

Page 82



Table 18: Estimated General Fund balances 

 
2017-181

£000
2018-19

£000
2019-20

£000
2020-21

£000
Opening Balance at 1 April 5,099 4,446 4,002 3,322
Add: transfer (to)/from Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0
Less: Use to finance 2017/18 Capital 
Programme (including carry-forwards) (730) 0 0 0

Less: budgeted use of GF to support 2017-18 
Revenue Budget 0 0 0 0

Forecast revenue Outturn variance 77

Less: Use to fund 2018-19 Revenue Budget 0 (444) 0 0

Less: Use to fund 2018-19 Capital Budget 0 0 0 0

Less: Projected Revenue Deficit per MTFP2 0 (680) (2,645)

Projected Balance at 31 March 4,446 4,002 3,322 677

Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) (2,700) (2,700) (2,700)

Available for use 1,746 1,302 622 -
1 Based on revised 2017/18 budget;    2 net of planned transfers to Earmarked Reserves 

7.16 In addition to general fund balances the Council also holds Earmarked 
Reserve balances. These have largely been created from under spends and 
additional income received in previous years and have been set aside for 
specific purposes. They include a balance of £1,083k set aside to provide 
protection against the potential volatility of NNDR income under the business 
rates retention scheme.

7.17 These reserves are reviewed on a monthly basis to ensure they are applied in 
line with corporate priorities. A detailed breakdown of the remaining 
earmarked reserves is included at Appendix I.

8. Conclusions 

8.1 The proposed total revenue expenditure for 2018-19 including Parish precepts 
is £15,670k. This includes expenditure of £1,066k that will be funded from 
earmarked reserves. This results in a net budget requirement of £14,604k.

8.2 The proposed three year capital budget (2018-19 to 2020-21) is £18,973k 
comprising expenditure of £14,592k in 2018-19, £2,340k in 2019-20 and 
£2,040k in 2020-21. It is proposed this is funded by following resources:

 Grants and contributions…. £11,076k  
 Earmarked reserves……… £16k
 Revenue contributions…… £4k
 Borrowing…………………...£7,877k  

Page 83



8.3 The Council has seen unprecedented reductions in Government funding since 
the Comprehensive Spending Review 2010.  Coupled with the impact of 
service pressures and increased demand for some services this has meant 
the Council has had to make significant budget savings.

8.4 In order to strengthen our financial position we recognise that we will have to 
consider other ways to generate income and be self-sufficient.  This will 
include changes in local taxation, fees and charges and trading activities as 
well as supporting and prioritising economic growth within the Borough.

8.5 The Council has responded in a systematic and planned way and we will 
continue with this strategy.  In order to avoid cuts to frontline services we will 
explore alternative service delivery options to ensure that we continue to be fit 
for purpose.

8.6 Our future focus will be on economic growth as we recognise that investment 
in growth supports both our residents and businesses.

Catherine Nicholson

Head of Financial Services

Appendices 
Appendix A Council tax support for parishes
Appendix B Parish precepts
Appendix C Budget analysed by portfolio
Appendix D 2018-19 recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio.
Appendix E 2018-19 non-recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio.
Appendix F Movement in revenue budget 2017-18 (revised) to 2018-19 (original).
Appendix G Three year capital budget 2018-19 to 2020-21 - summary by portfolio
Appendix H Reconciliation of 2018-19 capital budget to revised 2017-18 capital budget
Appendix I Summary of Earmarked Reserves by portfolio
Appendix J Medium Term Financial Plan
Appendix K Summary of Consultation responses

Page 84



Appendix A

Council Tax Support for Parishes

Parish
Council Tax

Support
Grant

Parish
Council Tax

Support
Grant

£ £
Above Derwent 112.34 Greysouthen 67.54
Aikton 21.60 Hayton & Mealo 41.41
Allerby & Oughterside 137.00 Holme Abbey 149.72
Allhallows 88.36 Holme East Waver 16.61
Allonby 111.88 Holme Low 62.69
Aspatria 822.39 Holme St Cuthbert 32.49
Bassenthwaite 29.33 Ireby & Uldale 25.63
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 Keswick 939.35
Blennerhassett & Torpenhow 53.49 Kirkbampton 28.74
Blindbothel 0.00 Kirkbride 79.58
Blindcrake 31.80 Little Clifton 92.25
Boltons 70.74 Lorton 27.45
Borrowdale 9.93 Loweswater 22.56
Bothel & Threapland 65.71 Maryport 3,678.59
Bowness on Solway 122.45 Papcastle 30.11
Bridekirk 35.51 Plumbland 49.83
Brigham 119.07 Seaton 656.37
Bromfield 49.01 Sebergham 22.15
Broughton 304.71 Setmurthy 7.73
Broughton Moor 161.67 Silloth-on-Solway 739.00
Buttermere 1.51 St Johns,Castlerigg & Wythburn 39.49
Caldbeck 44.16 Thursby 165.56
Camerton 27.68 Underskiddaw 23.75
Cockermouth 1,372.83 Waverton 36.33
Crosscanonby 192.51 Westnewton 22.56
Dean 71.80 Westward 36.24
Dearham 382.39 Wigton 1,194.73
Dundraw 23.34 Winscales 27.41
Embleton 12.63 Woodside 41.37
Gilcrux 26.08 Workington 7,460.28
Great Clifton 346.40 Wythop 0.00

Total 20,665.84

Page 85



Appendix B

Parish Precepts 2018-19

Parish Precept Parish Precept

£ £
Above Derwent 26,741.65 Holme Abbey 12,570.27 *
Aikton 4,678.40 Holme East Waver 6,500.00
Allerby & Oughterside 10,436.00 Holme Low 1,937.31
Allhallows 9,411.64 Holme St Cuthbert 4,967.51
Allonby 9,888.12 Ireby & Uldale 6,529.37
Aspatria 64,869.06 Keswick 246,700.00
Bassenthwaite 7,350.00 Kirkbampton 8,471.26
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 Kirkbride 9,700.00
Blennerhassett& Torpenhow 10,396.50 Little Clifton 7,407.75
Blindbothel 3,400.00 Lorton 5,472.54
Blindcrake 3,367.19 Loweswater 2,477.44
Boltons 5,029.25 Maryport 194,459.97
Borrowdale 6,205.50 Papcastle 9,954.89
Bothel & Threapland 5,434.29 Plumbland 5,200.17
Bowness on Solway 18,784.00 Seaton 56,146.98
Bridekirk 6,464.49 * Sebergham 4,950.00
Brigham 9,879.93 Setmurthy 588.55
Bromfield 5,950.90 Silloth-on-Solway 170,149.00
Broughton 16,241.50 St Johns,Castlerigg & Wythburn 8,087.08
Broughton Moor 16,038.33 Thursby 21,738.33
Buttermere 1,426.49 Underskiddaw 6,102.25
Caldbeck 11,855.84 Waverton 2,150.00
Camerton 800.00 Westnewton 5,227.44
Cockermouth 193,012.00 Westward 6,963.76
Crosscanonby 14,000.00 Wigton 183,975.27
Dean 11,928.20 Winscales 3,972.59
Dearham 29,117.61 Woodside 5,947.13
Dundraw 1,726.66 Workington 482,933.00
Embleton 4,883.87 Wythop 1,038.64
Gilcrux 8,773.91
Great Clifton 9,653.60
Greysouthen 9,932.46
Hayton & Mealo 4,058.58

Total 2,024,054.47

Change in Precept

   Precept 2017-18 1,913,535     Precept 2018-19 2,024,054
   % Change in Precept 5.78%

* estimated 

Page 86



SUMMARY OF BUDGET BY PORTFOLIO

Portfolio

Net

2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring Salary
Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings One-off Growth One-off

Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE
Leader of the Council 902,480 (60,925) 306,900 0 (39,940) 0 0 0 1,108,515
Economic Growth (1,099,223) (69,585) (144,540) 0 (244,679) 50,000 0 0 (1,508,027)
Corporate Resources 4,696,224 (82,286) 146,720 165,340 (116,161) 1,000,000 0 0 5,809,837
Housing, Health & Well-being 1,052,390 (20,800) (96,720) 0 (46,700) 0 (7,000) 0 881,170
Locality & Environmental Quality 2,964,013 (124,359) (9,730) 303,889 (164,806) 15,000 0 0 2,984,007
Governance & People Resources 1,352,912 (10,390) 12,570 0 (50,000) 0 (10,000) 0 1,295,092
Tourism & Culture 250,820 (2,735) (3,820) 2,200 0 0 0 0 246,465
Transformation 1,812,949 (51,420) (75,975) 55,000 (13,716) 36,484 0 0 1,763,322

Revenue Sub Total 11,932,565 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 0 12,580,381

Parish Precepts 2,024,054 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,024,054

Total Revenue 13,956,619 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 0 14,604,435

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS
Leader of the Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192,804 192,804

A
ppendix C

Economic Growth 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,742 50,742
Corporate Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 118,915 118,915
Housing, Health & Well being 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 438,437 438,437
Locality & Commercial Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62,695 62,695
Governance & People Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 168,790 168,790
Tourism & Culture 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,098 29,098
Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000

Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,066,481 1,066,481

Total 13,956,619 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 1,066,481 15,670,916

P
age 87



PORTFOLIO : LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Grants to Voluntary Organisation 72,130 (15,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 57,130
Communications and Marketing (900) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (900)
Corporate Improvement Team 9,970 (950) 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,020
Strategic Partnership 102,920 (30,000) 0 0 (39,940) 0 0 0 32,980
Planning Policy 44,250 (2,100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,150
Localities & Partnerships 12,000 (4,005) 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,995
Leaders Portfolio 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
Heads of Service 34,360 (4,060) (20) 0 0 0 0 0 30,280
Head of Strategy, Policy & Performance 63,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Director of Resources & PA 129,750 (830) (14,850) 0 0 0 0 0 114,070
Chief Executive 171,840 (890) (30) 0 0 0 0 0 170,920
Strategy, Policy & Performance Pay Group 144,490 (3,090) 430,460 0 0 0 0 0 571,860
Policy & Performance 108,660 0 (108,660) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Revenue 902,480 (60,925) 306,900 0 (39,940) 0 0 0 1,108,515

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Planning Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37,454 37,454
Corporate Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 155,350 155,350
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192,804 192,804

TOTAL 902,480 (60,925) 306,900 0 (39,940) 0 0 192,804 1,301,319

P
age 88



PORTFOLIO : ECONOMIC GROWTH

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Tenanted Properties (199,590) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (199,590)
Industrial Units (218,800) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (218,800)
Other Land & Buildings (80,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (80,000)
Camping & Caravan Sites (582,263) 0 0 0 (118,979) 0 0 0 (701,242)
Workington Town Centre (558,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (558,000)
Circuses & Fairs (5,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,000)
Building Control - Chargeable (314,340) (600) 0 0 (29,000) 0 0 0 (343,940)
Planning and Development (521,150) (20,100) 0 0 (64,000) 0 0 0 (605,250)
Markets (79,000) 0 0 0 (2,500) 0 0 0 (81,500)
Anti-Poverty 35,000 0 (35,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Building Control - Non-Chargeable 1,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,010
Corporate Property (26,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (26,000)
Town Centres 80,000 0 0 0 (30,000) 0 0 0 50,000
Shop Front Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000

Building Control Pay Group 295,060 (10,330) 13,160 0 0 0 0 0 297,890
Planning and Development Pay Group 499,550 (4,050) (92,600) 0 0 0 0 0 402,900
Regeneration Pay Group 161,600 (1,910) (32,910) 0 (200) 0 0 0 126,580
Head of Place Development 64,010 (310) 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,700
Business Support Unit, Devt Services 171,200 0 10,470 0 0 0 0 0 181,670
Estates 162,490 (27,285) (7,660) 0 0 0 0 0 127,545
Disposal of Allerdale Sites 15,000 (5,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue (1,099,223) (69,585) (144,540) 0 (244,679) 50,000 0 0 (1,508,027)

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Local Development Framework 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,742 50,742
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,742 50,742

TOTAL (1,099,223) (69,585) (144,540) 0 (244,679) 50,000 0 50,742 (1,457,285)

P
age 89



PORTFOLIO : CORPORATE RESOURCES

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
REVENUE
Corporate Management (128,000) 0 0 15,000 (10,000) 0 0 0 (123,000)
Corporate Property Maintenance 562,640 (1,500) 0 0 (30,000) 0 0 0 531,140
Footways 124,940 (500) 0 0 (12,500) 0 0 0 111,940
Coastal Protection and Inland Flooding 45,200 (1,200) 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,000
Harrington Harbour 9,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,000
Banking and Interest 994,117 0 0 81,786 0 0 0 0 1,075,903
MRP & Finance Charges 648,270 0 0 65,054 0 0 0 0 713,324
Insurances 232,300 0 0 0 (38,661) 0 0 0 193,639
Parish Councils 68,120 (50,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 18,120
Contingencies 111,780 0 148,570 0 0 0 0 0 260,350
Public Building Cleaning 74,960 0 (630) 0 0 0 0 0 74,330
Public Convenience Cleaning 121,330 0 (5,500) 0 (25,000) 0 0 0 90,830
Council Tax Discounts 0 0 0 3,500 0 0 0 0 3,500
Car Parks Inspection & Maintenance 30,300 (2,300) 0 0 0 0 0 0 28,000
Pension Deficit Employer Contribution 949,300 (20,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 929,300
Self Sufficiency Programme (22,733) 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 (22,659)
Multi Store Car Park Utility & Maintenance 117,910 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117,910
Street Name & Numbering (8,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (8,000)
Strategic Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 1,000,000 0 0 1,000,000
Property Services Pay Group 246,510 (3,330) 800 0 0 0 0 0 243,980
Finance and Accounting Pay Group 448,860 (3,530) 3,490 0 0 0 0 0 448,820
Head of Financial Services 69,420 0 (10) 0 0 0 0 0 69,410

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue 4,696,224 (82,286) 146,720 165,340 (116,161) 1,000,000 0 0 5,809,837

Parish Precepts 2,024,054 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,024,054

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Risk Management/insurance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33,500 33,500
Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16,046 16,046
Direct Debits & System Development 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,369 29,369
Footway Lighting Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15,000 15,000
MSCP Maint Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25,000 25,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 118,915 118,915

TOTAL 6,720,278 (82,286) 146,720 165,340 (116,161) 1,000,000 0 118,915 7,952,806

P
age 90



PORTFOLIO : HOUSING, HEALTH & WELL-BEING

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Emergency Planning 20,400 (700) 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,700
Pest Control (32,690) 0 30,280 0 0 0 0 0 (2,410)
Health and Safety 1,500 (150) 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,350
Food and Occupational Health 230 (4,020) 0 0 (200) 0 0 0 (3,990)
Environmental Protection (9,700) 0 0 0 (6,450) 0 0 0 (16,150)
Housing Strategic Function 1,190 (1,680) 0 0 (50) 0 0 0 (540)
Homelessness 6,750 (1,130) 0 0 0 0 (7,000) 0 (1,380)
Assistance - Housing Services (52,000) 0 0 0 (30,000) 0 0 0 (82,000)
Gypsy & Traveller Sites 18,000 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0 0 8,000
Head of Housing & Health 64,010 (760) 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,250
Housing & Health Pay Group 1,034,700 (12,360) (127,000) 0 0 0 0 0 895,340
Total Revenue 1,052,390 (20,800) (96,720) 0 (46,700) 0 (7,000) 0 881,170

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Community Housing Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 394,500 394,500
Major Incident Response 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,937 43,937
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 438,437 438,437

TOTAL 1,052,390 (20,800) (96,720) 0 (46,700) 0 (7,000) 438,437 1,319,607

P
age 91



PORTFOLIO : LOCALITY & ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Confidential Waste 3,600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,600
Bereavement Services (114,270) (3,200) 0 4,810 (5,000) 0 0 0 (117,660)
Parks and Grounds Maintenance 482,560 0 0 19,440 0 0 0 0 502,000
Street Cleansing 1,132,980 0 0 24,972 0 0 0 0 1,157,952
Animal Welfare 41,840 (8,620) 0 0 0 0 0 0 33,220
Domestic Waste 1,610,150 0 0 35,797 0 0 0 0 1,645,947
Trade Waste (515,024) 0 0 6,438 (32,084) 0 0 0 (540,670)
Recycling 581,104 (1,450) 0 30,732 (2,722) 0 0 0 607,664
Environmental Initiatives 104,120 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104,120
Off-street parking- Owned (2,226,130) (6,809) 0 74,000 (35,000) 0 0 0 (2,193,939)
Multi-storey Car Park 35,070 0 (55,450) 0 (75,000) 0 0 0 (95,380)
Off-street parking - Managed (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (60,000)
Sports & Leisure Centres 503,210 (37,500) 0 46,700 0 0 0 0 512,410
Sports Development 21,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,700
Maryport Wave 229,083 (50,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 179,083
Festivals & Events 104,080 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104,080
Supporting Leisure Activity across Aller 0 0 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 15,000
Carnegie Trust Contribution 120,000 0 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 105,000
Workington Nature Partnership 12,300 0 (20) 0 0 0 0 0 12,280
Allerdale Fleet 55,000 0 0 11,000 0 0 0 0 66,000
Asset Transfer 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 50,000
Head of Community Services 63,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Comm Serv Paygroup 779,630 (16,780) 45,740 0 0 0 0 0 808,590
Total Revenue 2,964,013 (124,359) (9,730) 303,889 (164,806) 15,000 0 0 2,984,007

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Off Street Parking-System Upgrade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,000 9,000
Bereavement Services-System Upgrade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,446 10,446
Parking Review 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25,740 25,740
Weekly Collection Support Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,594 13,594
Festivals & Community Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,915 3,915
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62,695 62,695

TOTAL 2,964,013 (124,359) (9,730) 303,889 (164,806) 15,000 0 62,695 3,046,702

P
age 92



PORTFOLIO : GOVERNANCE & PEOPLE RESOURCES

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Training 73,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73,010
Corporate Recruitment 13,350 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,350
Pensions 164,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 164,000
Mayoral Services 13,570 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,570
Mayor's Fund 3,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,250
Members Services 270,850 (2,570) 0 0 0 0 0 0 268,280
Leaders Services 30,000 (390) 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,610
Electoral Registration 60,000 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0 0 50,000
Elections 40,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,200
Corporate Advertising Statutory 1,000 (1,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Referral Centre 20,000 0 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 5,000
Licensing Service (172,160) (5,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (177,160)
Land Charges Service (99,640) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (99,640)
Community Safety 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0
Human Resources Pay Group 175,750 (130) (17,140) 0 0 0 0 0 158,480
Democratic Services Pay Group 125,980 (210) 12,240 0 0 0 0 0 138,010
Internal Audit Pay Group 94,645 (150) 6,220 0 0 0 0 0 100,715
Licensing Pay Group 77,380 (630) (30) 0 0 0 0 0 76,720
Legal Services 159,630 (310) 2,970 0 0 0 0 0 162,290
Head of Governance 68,787 0 4,010 0 0 0 0 0 72,797
Governance Support Assistants 65,540 0 3,580 0 0 0 0 0 69,120
Elections - Pay Group 85,770 0 720 0 0 0 0 0 86,490
Apprentices & Graduates 72,000 0 0 0 (25,000) 0 0 0 47,000
Total Revenue 1,352,912 (10,390) 12,570 0 (50,000) 0 (10,000) 0 1,295,092

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Legal Counsel 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,000 35,000
Members Training 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 4,000 A

ppendix C
 C

ont'd

Allerdale Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,952 2,952
External Legal Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,887 75,887
Community Safety (Funded) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,951 50,951
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 168,790 168,790

TOTAL 1,352,912 (10,390) 12,570 0 (50,000) 0 (10,000) 168,790 1,463,882

P
age 93



PORTFOLIO : TOURISM & CULTURE

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Silloth TIC 10,180 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 10,480
AONB Contribution 29,000 0 0 2,200 0 0 0 0 31,200
Museums 51,570 (2,735) 0 0 0 0 0 0 48,835
Arts Development 10,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,150
Tourism Incentive 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100,000
Economic Dev & Tourism Paygroup 49,920 0 (4,120) 0 0 0 0 0 45,800

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue 250,820 (2,735) (3,820) 2,200 0 0 0 0 246,465

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Solway AONB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,098 29,098
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,098 29,098

TOTAL 250,820 (2,735) (3,820) 2,200 0 0 0 29,098 275,563P
age 94



PORTFOLIO : TRANSFORMATION

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
IT Services 337,377 (14,940) 0 35,000 0 16,484 0 0 373,921
Shared Revs & Bens IT Costs 79,084 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 79,084
Multi-functional Printers 20,530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,530
Revenues (386,600) (640) 0 20,000 0 0 0 0 (367,240)
Benefits (547,190) (7,330) 0 0 (13,716) 0 0 0 (568,236)
Shared Revs & Bens 117,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117,000
IT Infrastructure Costs 54,600 (8,000) 0 0 0 20,000 0 0 66,600
Corporate Postage & Stationery 142,530 (8,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0 134,030
Shared IT Services Pay Group 319,615 (9,450) (7,975) 0 0 0 0 0 302,190
Customer Services Pay Group 430,990 (1,150) 610 0 0 0 0 0 430,450
Head of Customer, Transformation & Commissioning 63,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Customer & Transformation Programme 97,630 0 2,450 0 0 0 0 0 100,080
Communications 76,120 0 (76,120) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Commissioning Support Pay Group 102,420 (1,410) 1,160 0 0 0 0 0 102,170
Revs, Bens & Recovery Paygroup 853,480 0 3,900 0 0 0 0 0 857,380
Project X 52,353 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 52,353

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue 1,812,949 (51,420) (75,975) 55,000 (13,716) 36,484 0 0 1,763,322

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
IT Service-Corporate Printers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000

TOTAL 1,812,949 (51,420) (75,975) 55,000 (13,716) 36,484 0 5,000 1,768,322

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 96



Appendix D
Recurring Growth Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon

Banking and Interest
Increase in interest costs to reflect full year impact of additional PWLB loans expected
to be drawn down in 2017-18 and the part year cost of additional loans expected to be
drawn down in 2018-19

82

MRP & Finance Charges Increase in MRP charge associated with unfinanced capital expenditure incurred prior
to 1 April 2018 65

Discretionary Council tax
discounts Discretionary council tax discount for care leavers 3

Corporate Management Revision to second homes grant income from Cumbia CC 15

165

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip
Street Cleansing Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 25
Domestic Waste Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 36
Trade Waste Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 6
Recycling Services Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 31

Grounds Maintenance Contract Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 24

Off-street - Owned Car Parks Increase in NNDR costs 74
Sport/Leisure Centres Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 25

Sport/Leisure Centres
Scheduled reduction in contribution received from GLL to compensate the Council for
additional revenue financing costs associated with improvement works at Cockermouth
Sports centre

22

Allerdale Fleet  Increase on the annual cost of Allerdale Fleet to reflect current vehicles lease costs 11

Asset Transfer Increase in budget to bring Community assets up to a transferable state 50

304

Portfolio - Tourism and Culture - Bill Jefferson
AONB Increase in match funding related to annual DEFRA grant 2

2

Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen

IT Services 

Increase in existing budget to accommodate renewal of software licences to enable
continued usage of Office 365, Microsoft Enterprise Mobility Solutions and Azure
Premium Products, as well as a number of tools used to support the remainder of the
on-premise IT infrastructure

35

Revenues
Reduction in recovery of court costs reflecting improvements to collections and arrears
as a result of increased choice of payment methods, improved take up of Council Tax
direct debits and more targeted recovery action

20

55

Total Recurring Growth 2018-19 526

Page 97



Appendix D Cont'd
Recurring Savings Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Leader of the Council - Alan Smith

Economic Regeneration Moot Hall, Hadrians Wall & Cumbria Tourism costs to be met from the tourism budget (30)

Economic Regeneration Reduction in recurring Economic Regeneration (partnership services) budget. (10)

(40)

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer

Building Control Chargeable Increase in Building Regulations fees. (25)

Planning and Development Increase planning fee income (49)

Planning and Development Reduction in consultancy costs (15)

Town Centres Reduction to budget for town centre environmental projects (30)

Camping and Caravan Uplift in lease rental income to reflect increase in revenue received by the site operator
following completion of site improvements. (119)

Various Service bids with an individual value <10k (7)
(245)

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon
Property services Reduction in operational property maintenance budget (30)
Footway lights Reduction in footway lighting utility and maintenance budget (13)
Public Conveniences Reduction in budget for repair, facility and utilities of public toilets. (25)
Corpoarte Management Reduction in external audit fees. (10)
Insurances Reduction in insurance premiums (38)

(116)

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes
Environmental Protection Reduction in expenditure associated with private water supplies risk assessments

(Programme will be completed in 2017-18 in accordance with the Private Water Supply
Regulations)

(6)

Assistance - Hsg Serv. Increase in fees (net of additional pay costs) levied in connection with the award of
Disabled Facilities, Discretionary and Empty Homes grants. (30)

Gypsy & Travellers General reduction in budget (10)
(46)

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip
Bereavement Uplift in income to reflect increases in fees and charges (5)

Trade Waste Increase in net income to reflect current trends in income, increases in fees and
charges and expected growth in customer numbers (32)

Recycling Services Increase in net income from recycling credits and sale of recycled materials. (3)
Off-street - Owned Car Parks Increase in Pay and display income to reflect increase in fees and charges. (35)

Off-street - Owned Car Parks Reduction in MSCP net operating budget (75)
(150)

Portfolio -Governanace and People Resources - Joan Ellis
Apprenticeships Reduction to salary budget for apprentices (25)
Electoral registration Reduction to budget for printing and postage costs (10)

Referal Centre Reduction in support required by Referral centre for victims of sexual assault. (15)
(50)

Portfolio - Tourism and Culture - Bill Jefferson
Carnegie Trust Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded (15)

(15)
Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen

Benefits Reduction in cost of housing benefit payments (net of subsidy payments received). (14)

(14)
Total Recurring Savings 2018-19 (676)

Page 98



Appendix E
Non-Recurring Growth Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer

Shop Front Improvements Continuation of the existing town centre improvement scheme for a further year. 50

50

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon

Strategic Priorities
Budget provision to meet revenue costs associated with the development and
delivery of major capital projects, procurement activities and other tasks connected
with the delivery of strategic priorities

1,000

1,000

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip

Supporting Leisure Activities
Support for Wigton Baths

15

15
Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen

IT Services One-off cost of renewing of software licensing, maintenance and support for firewalls
and IT security appliances for a further 3 years 17

IT Services Replacement of existing data storage equipment and software 20

37

Total Non-Recurring Growth 2018-19 1,102

Non-Recurring Savings Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes

Homelessness Homeless Reduction Act new burdens grant (net of expenditure associated with the
additional duties contained within the Homelessness Reduction Act) (7)

(7)

Portfolio -Governanace and People Resources - Joan Ellis
Community Safety Reduction in £10k annual funding to Cumbria Community Safety Partnership (10)

(10)

Total Non-Recurring Savings 2018-19 (17)

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



Appendix F

MOVEMENT IN REVENUE BUDGET 2017-18 to 2018-19

£'000 £'000 £'000

REVISED BUDGET 2017-18 (excluding Parish Precepts) 12,715,583

Less: Non-Recurring Growth (989,963)
Plus: Non- Recurring Savings 194,073
Plus: Non- Recurring Salary changes 12,872
ADJUSTED OPENING BASE BUDGET 2017-18 11,932,565

Changes for 2018-19:

Recurring Growth
Capital Financing Costs 146,840
Salary Related Adjustments 135,405
Recurring Growth Bids 379,589

661,834
Recurring Savings
Increase in income (676,002)

(676,002)
Plans for Self sufficiency
Economic Growth (60,000)
Operational Efficiencies (137,500)
Service Delivery (225,000)

(422,500)

Total Recurring changes (436,668)

Non-Recurring Growth/Savings
Non-Recurring Growth 1,101,484
Non-Recurring Savings (17,000)

Total one-off changes 1,084,484

TOTAL CHANGES 647,816

REVENUE BUDGET 2017-18 (excluding Parish Precepts) 12,580,381

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



Appendix G

Proposed three year capital programme 2018/19 to 2020/21

Budget 
Scheme Description £000
Housing Health & Wellbeing
Mandatory 
Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG) 2,394

DFG  
Discretionary 
Grants

This scheme involves mandatory and discretionary grant support to 
individuals to meet the cost of housing adaptations that enable people to 
stay living in their own home for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty 
to provide adaptations to the homes of disabled people who qualify for a 
mandatory DFG. Expenditure on DFGs is fully funded from an annual 
grant paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding 
allocations and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing 
DFGs. 

964

Healthy Homes
The Healthy Homes scheme is aimed at securing improvements to sub-
standard homes on an individual, block or area basis. The current budget 
comprises £150k in 2018/19 and £1m in each of the following two years. 
The scheme is funded from borrowing 

2,150

Securing 
Affordable Homes

The budget of £80k - comprising £30k in 2018/19 and £50k in 2019/20 - is 
targeted at providing grant support to assist registered housing providers 
to improve housing stock in high need areas, which would otherwise be 
sold.

80

Flood resilience An annual budget of £100k (in 2018/19 and 2019/20) is intended to 
support a range of small and medium sized projects in the borough that 
can demonstrate a clear link to reducing the risk of flooding in the future. 
These will be community based schemes supported by local flood action 
groups and medium sized schemes in partnership with the EA and other 
partners. Expenditure on this scheme will be met from borrowing.

200

Total for portfolio 5,788
Corporate Resources
- - -
Localities & Environmental Quality 
Harrington 
Reservoir

A budget of £175k (including a revision of £8k to the amount previously 
approved) is required for a restoration project on Harrington Reservoir 
Local Nature Reserve which is a key target of the Workington Nature 
Partnership. The scheme will be partially financed from external grants 
and contributions totalling £105k and £20k from Revenue (£4k) and 
Earmarked Revenue Reserves (£16k). Unfinanced expenditure of £50k 
will be met from borrowing.

175

Brow-Top 
Enhancement 
Schemes

Proposed budget allocation to enhance the quality of the public realm in 
the vicinity of Brow Top, Workington, transform the Central Way 
underpass and develop vacant land immediately to the west of the Leisure 
Centre to create a dedicated events and activity area.

300

Highfield 
Community 
Centre

The budget of £140k - agreed as part of the 2017/18 revised budget – is 
to provide a capital grant to support construction of an extension to the 
Community Centre at Highfield. The scheme will be funded from 
borrowing

140

Total for portfolio 615
Tourism & Culture
Solway Coast 
Pathway

Allocation for the creation of a multi-user coastal pathway linking Silloth-
on-Solway, the West Cumbria Cycle network and the Hadrian’s cycle 
route. The scheme will be funded by a grant of £1m from the Coastal 
Communities Fund (CCF) and £250k from the RDPE Tourism 
Infrastructure Fund (subject to successful outcome of funding bid)

1,250

Page 103



Appendix G

Scheme Description 
Budget 

£000
Total for portfolio 1,250

Transformation
IT Equipment With an increasing reliance on data and cloud based services it is 

imperative that staff have the appropriate equipment to be able to access 
information and systems quickly and efficiently. A recurring capital budget 
of £40k per annum is required to upgrade and replace desktop 
computers, laptops and tablets on a rolling program. The rolling 
programme will replace 25% of equipment annually to ensure staff are 
working on equipment compatible with the latest software. Expenditure on 
this scheme will be met from borrowing.

120

Total for portfolio 120
Economic Growth
Lillyhall 
Development

Budget allocation to support the acquisition of undeveloped portions of the 
Lillyhall site from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and their 
subsequent development to provide the premier employment site for West 
Cumbria capable of supporting future invest to save projects. Expenditure 
planned for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21will be partially funded from 
grants of £4.8m. The remaining expenditure will be funded from 
borrowing.
The total value of the scheme is £9.753m including expenditure of £953k 
expected to be incurred in 2017/18. The scheme is funded from a 
combination of capital grants £5m, capital receipts £97k; general fund 
£285k and prudential borrowing of £4.371m.

8,800

Reedlands Road 
Development

Invest to save project involving the development of additional industrial 
units on land, owned by Allerdale Borough Council, at Reedlands Road, 
Workington. These units will allow the Authority to secure additional 
revenue income whilst supporting business in the area. The total scheme 
budget is £2.55m including expenditure of £250k expected to be incurred 
in 2017/18. The scheme is subject to an external funding (ERDF) bid of 
£1.5m. The balance of expenditure (£1.05m) will be met from borrowing.
The final decision to proceed with the scheme remains subject to final 
costings and financial appraisal.

2,300

Kirkgate Centre 
Contribution

The budget of £100k, originally approved in 2017/18, will enable the 
Council to make a capital contribution to support the financing of a project 
to renovate and extend the facilities at the Kirkgate Arts and Heritage 
Centre, Cockermouth. The Council’s contribution is subject the outcome of 
a bid made to the Heritage Lottery Fund by the charitable body 
responsible for running the centre. This expenditure will be met from 
borrowing.

100

Total for portfolio 11,200
Total capital budget for three years 2018/19 to 2020/21 £18,973

Page 104



Appendix H

Summary of changes to existing 3 year Capital programme 

Proposed Proposed Proposed 
Budget Budget Budget
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£ £ £

Expenditure

TOTAL EXPENDITURE - 2018/19 revised budget 15,266,362 2,190,000 40,000

Proposed Changes 

Reprofiling of existing expenditure:
Health Homes (1,000,000) - 1,000,000

(1,000,000) 0 1,000,000

New Bids 
DFG - - 1,000,000
Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 100,000 - -
Discretionary Grants 88,893 - -
Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 150,000 150,000 -
Securing Affordable Homes (20,000) - -
Harrington Reservoir 7,500

326,393 150,000 1,000,000

Total change to expenditure (673,607) 150,000 2,000,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURE - proposed 2018/19 budget 14,592,755 2,340,000 2,040,000

Financing

TOTAL FINANCING - 2017/18 Original budget 15,266,362 2,190,000 40,000

Proposed Changes: 

Reprofiling of existing expenditure:
External Grant Funding:

- - -
Allerdale BC Resources
Prudential Borrowing - Healthy Homes (1,000,000) - 1,000,000
Prudential Borrowing - Securing Affordable Homes

New Bids 
External Grant Funding:
DFG Housing Grant 88,893 - 1,000,000
SCP Housing Grant - Securing Affordable Homes (20,000) 20,000 -
Other grants and Contributions (12,000) - -

Allerdale BC Resources
General Fund 
Earmarked Reserves 16,000 - -
Revenue 3,500 - -

Prudential Borrowing - Securing Affordable Homes 0 (20,000) -
Prudential Borrowing -Health Homes (Empty Homes) 100,000 - -
Prudential Borrowing -Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 150,000 150,000 -

Total change in financing (673,607) 150,000 2,000,000

TOTAL FINANCING - proposed 2018/19 budget 14,592,755 2,340,000 2,040,000

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



Appendix  I

Earmarked Reserves by Portfolio

Reserves Projected 2018/19
Opening Balance

2018/19
Contribution to

Reserves

2018/19 Profiled
Spend

Profiled Spend
after 2018/19 Held in Reserves

£ £ £ £ £

Revenue Reserves

Leader of the Council
Planning Policy 37,454 0 37,454 0 0
Corporate Priorities - Credit Union 153,600 0 40,000 113,600 0
Corporate Priorities 230,700 0 115,350 115,350 0

421,754 0 192,804 228,950 0

Economic Growth
Local Development Framework 50,742 0 50,742 0 0

50,742 0 50,742 0 0

Corporate Resources
Direct Debits & System Development 29,369 0 29,369 0 0
Footway Lighting Scheme 63,500 0 15,000 48,500 0
Risk Management/insurance 77,928 0 33,500 44,428 0
Emergency Planning - Flooding 28,260 0 0 0 28,260
MSCP - Ongoing Maintenance 25,000 0 25,000 0 0

224,057 0 102,869 92,928 28,260

Hsg, Health & Wellbeing
Community Housing Fund 725,213 0 394,500 330,713 0
Major Incident Response 43,937 0 43,937 0 0

769,150 0 438,437 330,713 0

Localilty & Env Quality
Off Street Parking - Signage 9,000 0 9,000 0 0
Bereavement Services - System Upgrade 10,446 0 10,446 0 0

P
age 107



Appendix  I

Weekly Collection Support Scheme 13,594 0 13,594 0 0
Festivals & Community Events 3,915 0 3,915 0 0
Parking Review 25,740 0 25,740 0 0

62,695 0 62,695 0 0

Governance & People Resources
Allerdale Options 2,952 0 2,952 0 0
External Legal Services 75,887 0 75,887 0 0
Legal Counsel 67,491 0 35,000 32,491 0
Provision for Election 70,000 35,000 0 105,000 0
Member Training 4,000 0 4,000 0 0
Community Safety 107,096 0 50,951 56,145 0

327,426 35,000 168,790 193,636 0

Tourism & Culture
Solway AONB 29,098 0 29,098 0 0

29,098 0 29,098 0 0

Transformation
IT Services - Corporate Printers 23,228 0 5,000 18,228 0

23,228 0 5,000 18,228 0

Other
NNDR Rate Pool Volatility Fund 101,714 0 0 0 101,714
Business Rate Income 981,000 0 0 0 981,000
AIP Loan Note Interest 552,800 0 0 0 552,800
AIP Loan Notes 222,000 0 0 0 222,000
Hugh Barbour Bequest 8,661 0 0 0 8,661

1,866,175 0 0 0 1,866,175

SUB TOTAL - REVENUE 3,774,325 35,000 1,050,435 864,455 1,894,435

Reserves Projected 2018/19
Opening Balance

2018/19
Contribution to

Reserves

2018/19 Profiled
Spend

Profiled Spend
after 2018/19 Held in Reserves

£ £ £ £ £

P
age 108



Appendix  I

Capital Reserves
Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 16,046 0 16,046 0 0

SUB TOTAL - CAPITAL 16,046 0 16,046 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 3,790,371 35,000 1,066,481 864,455 1,894,435

Reserves Projected 2018/19
Opening Balance

2018/19
Contribution to

Reserves

2018/19 Profiled
Spend

Profiled Spend
after 2018/19 Held in Reserves

£ £ £ £ £

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 110



Appendix J

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Revenue Budget 2017/18* 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Base Budget 12,213 11,932 11,495 12,249
Pension Deficit (62) 0 0 0
Change in salary costs - recurring 78 135 175 175
Recurring growth 875 526 611 137
Recurring savings (434) (676) (32) (125)
Self-sufficiency savings (738) (422) 0 0
Recurring (base) budget 11,932 11,495 12,249 12,436
Change in salary costs -non-recurring (13)
Non-recurring growth 990 1,102 0 0
Non-recurring savings (194) (17) 0 0
Net Service Expenditure budget 12,715 12,580 12,249 12,436

Expenditure on earmarked priorities 2,684 1,066 0 0

Proposed budget (excl. parish precepts) 15,399 13,646 12,249 12,436

Parish Precepts 1,914 2,024 2,024 2,024

Proposed Budget (incl. parish precepts) 17,313 15,670 14,273 14,460

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (2,684) (1,066) 0 0

Net Budget Requirement 14,629 14,604 14,273 14,460

Funding 2017/18* 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Revenue support grant 1,060 652 196 0
Rural Services Delivery Grant 261 325 261 0
New Homes Bonus 1,604 1,004 727 269
Council tax – Allerdale only 4,920 5,100 5,248 5,348
Council tax – parish element 1,914 2,024 2,024 2,024
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 139 91 0 0
NNDR funding 5,603 5,528 5,137 4,174
NNDR - Collection fund surplus/(deficit) (872) (564) 0 0
Use of general fund balances 444
Total funding 14,629 14,604 13,593 11,815

Funding Gap 0 0 680 2,645

*revised budget

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



Appendix K

Budget 2017/18 consultation – response document

Questions & Summary of responses

Question 1
We collect Council Tax for ourselves but also on behalf of Cumbria County Council, 
Cumbria Police and your local town or parish council. Only about 10% of your 
Council Tax pays for services provided by us. For 2017/18 the annual charge (from 
Allerdale Borough Council) for an average Band D property is £162.99 a year; a little 
over £3 a week.
Feedback from latest residents’ survey carried out in 2016 showed that nearly 60% 
of residents supported an increase in Council Tax if this meant services that were 
important to them were protected. An increase in Council Tax will allow us to protect 
front-line services such as:

 Street cleaning
 Bin collections
 Recycling services
 Grass-cutting

We would like to know your views on whether we should increase the amount of 
Council’s share of your Council Tax bill.
Over the past year, inflation has been rising, placing additional pressure on the 
Council’s budgets. In October, inflation measured by the Consumer Prices Index 
(CPI) stood at 3%, its joint highest in more than five years. Inflation measured by the 
Retail Prices Index (RPI) has been on a similar upward path hitting 4% in October 
2017. Further increases in CPI and RPI inflation are expected to occur in the coming 
months.
District councils like Allerdale have the option of increasing their Band D Council Tax 
by £5 per annum (with proportionate increases to properties in other Council Tax 
bands) or 2% whichever is the higher.
We are therefore proposing to increase our portion of the annual Council Tax bill by 
the maximum amount of £5. This would mean an extra £5 a year on a Band D 
property (or about 10p a week) or £3.33 a year for a Band A property (equivalent to 
6p a week). This increase equates to a percentage increase in the Council’s share of 
Council Tax bills, consistent with inflation, of just over 3%.
The table below shows how a £5 increase on a Band D property would impact on 
Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill for all Council Tax bands. 

Page 113



Appendix K

Council Tax 
band

Proportion 
of band D 

charge 
2017/18 

Annual charge
£5 increase on 

band D 
property

2018/19 
proposed 

annual charge
Percentage 

increase 

 £ £ a year £ %
Band A 6/9 108.66 3.33 111.99 3.1
Band B 7/9 126.77 3.89 130.66 3.1
Band C 8/9 144.88 4.44 149.32 3.1
Band D 9/9 162.99 5.00 167.99 3.1
Band E 11/9 199.2 6.11 205.31 3.1
Band F 13/9 235.43 7.22 242.65 3.1
Band G 15/9 271.65 8.33 279.98 3.1
Band H 18/9 325.98 10.00 335.98 3.1

To maintain services which are important to you, should we increase Allerdale’s 
portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D properties (with proportionate 
increases to properties in other council tax bands) in 2018

Budget Consultation Response:

Response Number Percentage
Yes 21 63.6
No 10 30.3
Don’t know 2 6.1

Question 2
Since April 2013, the Council has been able to charge a Council Tax premium on a 
property that has been unoccupied and unfurnished for two years or more. The 
premium can currently be up to 50% of the Council Tax on the property. In the 2017 
Autumn Budget the Chancellor announced that, from April 2018, local authorities will 
be given the power to increase the Council Tax premium on empty homes from 50% 
to 100%.
Should we increase the Council Tax empty homes premium from 50% to 
100%? 

Budget Consultation Response:

Response Number Percentage
Yes 22 66.7
No 10 30.3
Don’t know 1 3.0

Page 114



Appendix K

Question 3
Fees and charges are an important source of income, offsetting the cost of service 
provision and reducing the amount of expenditure that needs to be met from central 
government grants, Council Tax and business rates.
For existing charges, the Council’s general policy is that levels of fees and charges 
should rise each year in line with inflation as determined as part of the budget 
planning process.
This general policy is not applied where fees and charges are set nationally by 
central government, or where it is necessary to revise the amount the Council 
charges, other than in line with inflation, to ensure it complies with statutory 
requirements governing the amount charged for a particular service.
In 2018/19 should we increase fees and charges by 3% in line with inflation?

Budget Consultation Response:

 Response Number Percentage
Yes 21 63.6
No 12 36.4
Don’t know 0 0

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 116



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Council Tax Resolution 2018-19

The Reason for the Decision To approve the necessary resolutions for Council 
Tax setting in accordance with Sections 31 – 36 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

Summary of options considered The Council is required to set a Council Tax in 
support of its budget each year.

Recommendations That the resolutions, set out in Appendix A be 
approved.

Financial/Resource Implications The Council is required to set the Council Tax 
each year in accordance with the legislative 
requirements summarised in this report.  
The Council will be required to hold a referendum 
if Members decide to increase the Council Tax by 
the higher of 3% or £5, above its 2017-18 level.

Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set the Council Tax.

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

If the Council Tax is not set in accordance with 
the legislation then there is a risk the Council will 
be unable to bill in a timely manner with a 
consequential loss of revenue that may affect, 
adversely on the prudent management of the 
Council’s financial affairs.

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

Considered in entitlement to certain discounts 
and benefits.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s Strategic 
Objectives

Setting the Council Tax enables the Council to 
collect the income it needs to fulfil its key aims 
and objectives.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon

Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson, 
Head of Financial Services, 01900 702503
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 117

Agenda Item 13



Report Implications 

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers - working papers within Financial Services and Revenues,
Calculation of Council Tax Base for 2018-19 was approved at Council on 10 January 
2018.

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A – Recommendations for Council approval

Appendix B1 – The amount of Council Tax which relates to the Parish Precepts       
applicable to each valuation band

Appendix B2 – Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council and 
Parish Precept by valuation band 

Appendix B3 – The Total amount of Council Tax to be levied in 2018-19, inclusive 
of Cumbria County Council, and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria 
Precept, applicable to each valuation band in each part of Borough

Appendix C – Parish Precept Council Tax Band D charge for 2018-19

Page 118



1.0 Background

1.1 The purpose of this report is to enable the Council to calculate and approve 
the Council Tax requirement for 2018-19, as required by The Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, as amended. 

Town and Parish Councils

1.2 The Town and Parish Council Precepts for 2018-19 are detailed in Appendix 
C and total £2,024,054.47. This results in an average Band D Council Tax of 
£66.67 for 2018-19.

1.3 The Precept figure included in Appendix A and Appendix C is based on the 
information that the Council has received from Parishes on the 2018-19 
precepts. 

1.4 However, under section 41 (4) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 a 
local precepting authority has until the 1st March to submit their Precept to the 
billing authority. If any revised Precepts are submitted after this report is 
published, these will be tabled at the Council meeting on the 7 March 2018.

 Cumbria County Council

1.5 Based on information that the Council has received from Cumbria County 
Council, their precept is £40,443,386.87, this results in a Band D Council Tax 
of £1,332.13.

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria

1.6 Based on information that the Council has received from The Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Cumbria, their precept is £7,065,972.44, this results 
in a Band D Council Tax of £232.74.

Page 119



2.0 Proposed Tax Levels

2.1 The recommendations are set out in the formal Council Tax resolution in 
Appendix A.

2.2 If the formal Council Tax Resolution at Appendix A is approved, the total Band 
D Council Tax will be as follows:-

2017-18
£

2018-19
£

Increase
£

Increase
%

Allerdale Borough Council 162.99 167.99 5.00 3.07%
Cumbria County Council 1,281.02 1,332.13 51.11 3.99%
Police and Crime Commissioner 
for Cumbria 220.77 232.74 11.97 5.42%

Sub Total 1,664.78 1,732.86 68.08 4.09%
Town and Parish Council 
(average) 63.40 66.67 3.27 5.16%

TOTAL 1,728.18 1,799.53 71.35 4.13%

3.0 Other Options

3.1 The Localism Act 2011 makes provision for Council Tax referendums to be 
held if an authority increases its basic amount of Council Tax (Town and 
Parish Council precepts are excluded when making this calculation) in excess 
of principles determined by the Secretary of State. The referendum threshold 
levels above which Council Tax would be considered excessive are set each 
year by Central Government, for 2018-19 a referendum will be triggered if 
Allerdale Borough Council set a Council Tax increase which by the higher of 
3% or £5, above its 2017-18 level.
 

4.0      Policy Decisions 

4.1 At the Council meeting held on 10 January 2017, the Council approved the 
calculation of its Council Tax Base for 2018-19. The report considered by 
members outlined the method for calculating the Tax Base, including the 
impact of estimated:

 discounts awarded for single person households, disregarded 
properties, second homes, unoccupied properties, family annex and 
uninhabitable properties

 discounts and premiums for empty properties 
 discounts awarded through the Council’s Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme.

5.0 Recommendations

5.1 That the resolutions, set out in Appendix A be approved.

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services

Page 120



APPENDIX A

The Council is recommended to resolve as follows:

1) It be noted that on 10 January 2018 the Council calculated:

a) the Council Tax base 2018-19 for the whole Council area as 30,359.94 
(item T in the formula in Section 31B of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, as amended (the “Act”)) and;

b) the dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish Precept 
relates, as in the attached Appendix C.

2) The Council calculates that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own 
purposes for 2018-19 (excluding Parish precepts) is £5,100,166.32.

3) That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2018-19 in accordance 
with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act.

a) £49,276,404.47 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into 
account all precepts issues to it by Parish Council;

b) £42,152,183.68 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act;

c) £7,124,220.79 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) above 
exceeds the aggregate at (b) above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 31A (4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year.  (Item R in the formula in Section 31B of the 
Act);

d) £234.66 being the amount at (c) above (Item R) divided by Item T (1 a) 
above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B of 
the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including 
Parish Precepts); (as detailed in Appendix B1 parish only by valuation 
band and Appendix B2 parish and district by valuation band);

e) £2,024,054.47 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish 
Precepts) referred to in Section 34 (1) of the Act. (as detailed in 
Appendix B1 parish only by valuation band  and C Parish Precepts);

f) £167.99 being the amount at (d) above less the result given by dividing 
the amount at (e) above by Item T (1 a) above), calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 34 (2) of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its 
area to which no parish precept relates.

Page 121



APPENDIX A

4) To note that Cumbria County Council and The Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Cumbria have issued precepts to the Council in accordance 
with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category 
of dwellings in the Council’s area as indicated in the table below.

Valuation Bands
 Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Alledale Borough 
Council 111.99 130.66 149.32 167.99 205.32 242.65 279.98 335.98

Cumbria County 
Council 888.09 1,036.10 1,184.11 1,332.13 1,628.16 1,924.19 2,220.22 2,664.26

Police and Crime 
Commissioner for 
Cumbria 

155.16 181.02 206.88 232.74 284.46 336.18 387.90 465.48

5) The Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables 
detailed in Appendix B (1,2 and 3), as the amounts of Council Tax for 2018-19 
for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings.

Page 122



APPENDIX B1

Council Tax for Parish Precept by valuation band.

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Above Derwent 27.15 31.67 36.20 40.72 49.77 58.82 67.87 81.44
Aikton 18.99 22.16 25.32 28.49 34.82 41.15 47.48 56.98
Oughterside & Allerby 36.23 42.27 48.31 54.35 66.43 78.51 90.58 108.70
Allhallows 36.19 42.23 48.26 54.29 66.35 78.42 90.48 108.58
Allonby 41.55 48.48 55.40 62.33 76.18 90.03 103.88 124.66
Aspatria 59.59 69.53 79.46 89.39 109.25 129.12 148.98 178.78
Bassenthwaite 23.01 26.84 30.68 34.51 42.18 49.85 57.52 69.02
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 41.69 48.63 55.58 62.53 76.43 90.32 104.22 125.06
Blindbothel 33.09 38.61 44.12 49.64 60.67 71.70 82.73 99.28
Blindcrake 15.48 18.06 20.64 23.22 28.38 33.54 38.70 46.44
Boltons 13.15 15.34 17.53 19.72 24.10 28.48 32.87 39.44
Borrowdale 22.14 25.83 29.52 33.21 40.59 47.97 55.35 66.42
Bothel & Threapland 22.32 26.04 29.76 33.48 40.92 48.36 55.80 66.96
Bowness on Solway 33.81 39.45 45.08 50.72 61.99 73.26 84.53 101.44
Bridekirk 14.38 16.78 19.17 21.57 26.36 31.16 35.95 43.14
Brigham 19.17 22.37 25.56 28.76 35.15 41.54 47.93 57.52
Bromfield 20.08 23.43 26.77 30.12 36.81 43.51 50.20 60.24
Broughton 18.99 22.16 25.32 28.49 34.82 41.15 47.48 56.98
Broughton Moor 48.34 56.40 64.45 72.51 88.62 104.74 120.85 145.02
Buttermere 14.05 16.39 18.73 21.07 25.75 30.43 35.12 42.14
Caldbeck 24.57 28.67 32.76 36.86 45.05 53.24 61.43 73.72
Camerton 8.91 10.39 11.88 13.36 16.33 19.30 22.27 26.72
Cockermouth 41.53 48.46 55.38 62.30 76.14 89.99 103.83 124.60
Crosscanonby 26.43 30.84 35.24 39.65 48.46 57.27 66.08 79.30
Dean 15.68 18.29 20.91 23.52 28.75 33.97 39.20 47.04
Dearham 25.35 29.57 33.80 38.02 46.47 54.92 63.37 76.04
Dundraw 19.82 23.12 26.43 29.73 36.34 42.94 49.55 59.46
Embleton 21.97 25.64 29.30 32.96 40.28 47.61 54.93 65.92
Gilcrux 50.27 58.64 67.02 75.40 92.16 108.91 125.67 150.80
Great Clifton 20.76 24.22 27.68 31.14 38.06 44.98 51.90 62.28
Greysouthen 30.05 35.05 40.06 45.07 55.09 65.10 75.12 90.14
Hayton & Mealo 33.09 38.60 44.12 49.63 60.66 71.69 82.72 99.26
Holme Abbey 37.73 44.01 50.30 56.59 69.17 81.74 94.32 113.18 *
Holme East Waver 35.82 41.79 47.76 53.73 65.67 77.61 89.55 107.46
Holme Low 11.99 13.99 15.99 17.99 21.99 25.99 29.98 35.98
Holme St Cuthbert 21.95 25.60 29.26 32.92 40.24 47.55 54.87 65.84
Ireby & Uldale 22.05 25.73 29.40 33.08 40.43 47.78 55.13 66.16
Keswick 80.37 93.77 107.16 120.56 147.35 174.14 200.93 241.12
Kirkbampton 31.25 36.45 41.66 46.87 57.29 67.70 78.12 93.74
Kirkbride 43.03 50.20 57.37 64.54 78.88 93.22 107.57 129.08

Page 123



APPENDIX B1

Little Clifton 34.83 40.64 46.44 52.25 63.86 75.47 87.08 104.50
Lorton 23.67 27.61 31.56 35.50 43.39 51.28 59.17 71.00
Loweswater 12.46 14.54 16.61 18.69 22.84 27.00 31.15 37.38
Maryport 48.79 56.93 65.06 73.19 89.45 105.72 121.98 146.38
Papcastle 36.45 42.53 48.60 54.68 66.83 78.98 91.13 109.36
Plumbland 27.61 32.21 36.81 41.41 50.61 59.81 69.02 82.82
Seaton 25.57 29.83 34.09 38.35 46.87 55.39 63.92 76.70
Sebergham 23.74 27.70 31.65 35.61 43.52 51.44 59.35 71.22
Setmurthy 7.88 9.19 10.51 11.82 14.45 17.07 19.70 23.64
Silloth 132.15 154.18 176.20 198.23 242.28 286.33 330.38 396.46
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 27.70 32.32 36.93 41.55 50.78 60.02 69.25 83.10
Thursby 33.19 38.72 44.25 49.78 60.84 71.90 82.97 99.56
Underskiddaw 24.66 28.77 32.88 36.99 45.21 53.43 61.65 73.98
Waverton 13.01 15.17 17.34 19.51 23.85 28.18 32.52 39.02
Westnewton 38.04 44.38 50.72 57.06 69.74 82.42 95.10 114.12
Westward 14.12 16.47 18.83 21.18 25.89 30.59 35.30 42.36
Wigton 73.14 85.33 97.52 109.71 134.09 158.47 182.85 219.42
Winscales 47.03 54.87 62.71 70.55 86.23 101.91 117.58 141.10
Woodside 20.21 23.58 26.95 30.32 37.06 43.80 50.53 60.64
Workington 48.77 56.90 65.03 73.16 89.42 105.68 121.93 146.32
Wythop 27.31 31.86 36.41 40.96 50.06 59.16 68.27 81.92

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Page 124



APPENDIX B2

Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council and Parish Precept by valuation band.

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Above Derwent 139.14 162.33 185.52 208.71 255.09 301.47 347.85 417.42
Aikton 130.98 152.82 174.64 196.48 240.14 283.80 327.46 392.96
Oughterside & Allerby 148.22 172.93 197.63 222.34 271.75 321.16 370.56 444.68
Allhallows 148.18 172.89 197.58 222.28 271.67 321.07 370.46 444.56
Allonby 153.54 179.14 204.72 230.32 281.50 332.68 383.86 460.64
Aspatria 171.58 200.19 228.78 257.38 314.57 371.77 428.96 514.76
Bassenthwaite 135.00 157.50 180.00 202.50 247.50 292.50 337.50 405.00
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 111.99 130.66 149.32 167.99 205.32 242.65 279.98 335.98
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 153.68 179.29 204.90 230.52 281.75 332.97 384.20 461.04
Blindbothel 145.08 169.27 193.44 217.63 265.99 314.35 362.71 435.26
Blindcrake 127.47 148.72 169.96 191.21 233.70 276.19 318.68 382.42
Boltons 125.14 146.00 166.85 187.71 229.42 271.13 312.85 375.42
Borrowdale 134.13 156.49 178.84 201.20 245.91 290.62 335.33 402.40
Bothel & Threapland 134.31 156.70 179.08 201.47 246.24 291.01 335.78 402.94
Bowness on Solway 145.80 170.11 194.40 218.71 267.31 315.91 364.51 437.42
Bridekirk 126.37 147.44 168.49 189.56 231.68 273.81 315.93 379.12
Brigham 131.16 153.03 174.88 196.75 240.47 284.19 327.91 393.50
Bromfield 132.07 154.09 176.09 198.11 242.13 286.16 330.18 396.22
Broughton 130.98 152.82 174.64 196.48 240.14 283.80 327.46 392.96
Broughton Moor 160.33 187.06 213.77 240.50 293.94 347.39 400.83 481.00
Buttermere 126.04 147.05 168.05 189.06 231.07 273.08 315.10 378.12
Caldbeck 136.56 159.33 182.08 204.85 250.37 295.89 341.41 409.70
Camerton 120.90 141.05 161.20 181.35 221.65 261.95 302.25 362.70
Cockermouth 153.52 179.12 204.70 230.29 281.46 332.64 383.81 460.58
Crosscanonby 138.42 161.50 184.56 207.64 253.78 299.92 346.06 415.28
Dean 127.67 148.95 170.23 191.51 234.07 276.62 319.18 383.02
Dearham 137.34 160.23 183.12 206.01 251.79 297.57 343.35 412.02
Dundraw 131.81 153.78 175.75 197.72 241.66 285.59 329.53 395.44
Embleton 133.96 156.30 178.62 200.95 245.60 290.26 334.91 401.90
Gilcrux 162.26 189.30 216.34 243.39 297.48 351.56 405.65 486.78
Great Clifton 132.75 154.88 177.00 199.13 243.38 287.63 331.88 398.26
Greysouthen 142.04 165.71 189.38 213.06 260.41 307.75 355.10 426.12
Hayton & Mealo 145.08 169.26 193.44 217.62 265.98 314.34 362.70 435.24
Holme Abbey 149.72 174.67 199.62 224.58 274.49 324.39 374.30 449.16 *
Holme East Waver 147.81 172.45 197.08 221.72 270.99 320.26 369.53 443.44
Holme Low 123.98 144.65 165.31 185.98 227.31 268.64 309.96 371.96
Holme St Cuthbert 133.94 156.26 178.58 200.91 245.56 290.20 334.85 401.82
Ireby & Uldale 134.04 156.39 178.72 201.07 245.75 290.43 335.11 402.14
Keswick 192.36 224.43 256.48 288.55 352.67 416.79 480.91 577.10
Kirkbampton 143.24 167.11 190.98 214.86 262.61 310.35 358.10 429.72
Kirkbride 155.02 180.86 206.69 232.53 284.20 335.87 387.55 465.06

Page 125



APPENDIX B2

Little Clifton 146.82 171.30 195.76 220.24 269.18 318.12 367.06 440.48
Lorton 135.66 158.27 180.88 203.49 248.71 293.93 339.15 406.98
Loweswater 124.45 145.20 165.93 186.68 228.16 269.65 311.13 373.36
Maryport 160.78 187.59 214.38 241.18 294.77 348.37 401.96 482.36
Papcastle 148.44 173.19 197.92 222.67 272.15 321.63 371.11 445.34
Plumbland 139.60 162.87 186.13 209.40 255.93 302.46 349.00 418.80
Seaton 137.56 160.49 183.41 206.34 252.19 298.04 343.90 412.68
Sebergham 135.73 158.36 180.97 203.60 248.84 294.09 339.33 407.20
Setmurthy 119.87 139.85 159.83 179.81 219.77 259.72 299.68 359.62
Silloth 244.14 284.84 325.52 366.22 447.60 528.98 610.36 732.44
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 139.69 162.98 186.25 209.54 256.10 302.67 349.23 419.08
Thursby 145.18 169.38 193.57 217.77 266.16 314.55 362.95 435.54
Underskiddaw 136.65 159.43 182.20 204.98 250.53 296.08 341.63 409.96
Waverton 125.00 145.83 166.66 187.50 229.17 270.83 312.50 375.00
Westnewton 150.03 175.04 200.04 225.05 275.06 325.07 375.08 450.10
Westward 126.11 147.13 168.15 189.17 231.21 273.24 315.28 378.34
Wigton 185.13 215.99 246.84 277.70 339.41 401.12 462.83 555.40
Winscales 159.02 185.53 212.03 238.54 291.55 344.56 397.56 477.08
Woodside 132.20 154.24 176.27 198.31 242.38 286.45 330.51 396.62
Workington 160.76 187.56 214.35 241.15 294.74 348.33 401.91 482.30
Wythop 139.30 162.52 185.73 208.95 255.38 301.81 348.25 417.90

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Page 126



APPENDIX B3

Page 95

Aggregate of the Council Tax for Allerdale Borough Council, Cumbria County Council, Police and Crime Commissioner for
Cumbria and Parish Precept by valuation band.

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Above Derwent 1,182.39 1,379.45 1,576.51 1,773.58 2,167.71 2,561.84 2,955.97 3,547.16
Aikton 1,174.23 1,369.94 1,565.63 1,761.35 2,152.76 2,544.17 2,935.58 3,522.70
Oughterside & Allerby 1,191.47 1,390.05 1,588.62 1,787.21 2,184.37 2,581.53 2,978.68 3,574.42
Allhallows 1,191.43 1,390.01 1,588.57 1,787.15 2,184.29 2,581.44 2,978.58 3,574.30
Allonby 1,196.79 1,396.26 1,595.71 1,795.19 2,194.12 2,593.05 2,991.98 3,590.38
Aspatria 1,214.83 1,417.31 1,619.77 1,822.25 2,227.19 2,632.14 3,037.08 3,644.50
Bassenthwaite 1,178.25 1,374.62 1,570.99 1,767.37 2,160.12 2,552.87 2,945.62 3,534.74
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 1,155.24 1,347.78 1,540.31 1,732.86 2,117.94 2,503.02 2,888.10 3,465.72
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 1,196.93 1,396.41 1,595.89 1,795.39 2,194.37 2,593.34 2,992.32 3,590.78
Blindbothel 1,188.33 1,386.39 1,584.43 1,782.50 2,178.61 2,574.72 2,970.83 3,565.00
Blindcrake 1,170.72 1,365.84 1,560.95 1,756.08 2,146.32 2,536.56 2,926.80 3,512.16
Boltons 1,168.39 1,363.12 1,557.84 1,752.58 2,142.04 2,531.50 2,920.97 3,505.16
Borrowdale 1,177.38 1,373.61 1,569.83 1,766.07 2,158.53 2,550.99 2,943.45 3,532.14
Bothel & Threapland 1,177.56 1,373.82 1,570.07 1,766.34 2,158.86 2,551.38 2,943.90 3,532.68
Bowness on Solway 1,189.05 1,387.23 1,585.39 1,783.58 2,179.93 2,576.28 2,972.63 3,567.16
Bridekirk 1,169.62 1,364.56 1,559.48 1,754.43 2,144.30 2,534.18 2,924.05 3,508.86
Brigham 1,174.41 1,370.15 1,565.87 1,761.62 2,153.09 2,544.56 2,936.03 3,523.24
Bromfield 1,175.32 1,371.21 1,567.08 1,762.98 2,154.75 2,546.53 2,938.30 3,525.96
Broughton 1,174.23 1,369.94 1,565.63 1,761.35 2,152.76 2,544.17 2,935.58 3,522.70
Broughton Moor 1,203.58 1,404.18 1,604.76 1,805.37 2,206.56 2,607.76 3,008.95 3,610.74
Buttermere 1,169.29 1,364.17 1,559.04 1,753.93 2,143.69 2,533.45 2,923.22 3,507.86
Caldbeck 1,179.81 1,376.45 1,573.07 1,769.72 2,162.99 2,556.26 2,949.53 3,539.44
Camerton 1,164.15 1,358.17 1,552.19 1,746.22 2,134.27 2,522.32 2,910.37 3,492.44
Cockermouth 1,196.77 1,396.24 1,595.69 1,795.16 2,194.08 2,593.01 2,991.93 3,590.32
Crosscanonby 1,181.67 1,378.62 1,575.55 1,772.51 2,166.40 2,560.29 2,954.18 3,545.02
Dean 1,170.92 1,366.07 1,561.22 1,756.38 2,146.69 2,536.99 2,927.30 3,512.76
Dearham 1,180.59 1,377.35 1,574.11 1,770.88 2,164.41 2,557.94 2,951.47 3,541.76
Dundraw 1,175.06 1,370.90 1,566.74 1,762.59 2,154.28 2,545.96 2,937.65 3,525.18
Embleton 1,177.21 1,373.42 1,569.61 1,765.82 2,158.22 2,550.63 2,943.03 3,531.64
Gilcrux 1,205.51 1,406.42 1,607.33 1,808.26 2,210.10 2,611.93 3,013.77 3,616.52
Great Clifton 1,176.00 1,372.00 1,567.99 1,764.00 2,156.00 2,548.00 2,940.00 3,528.00
Greysouthen 1,185.29 1,382.83 1,580.37 1,777.93 2,173.03 2,568.12 2,963.22 3,555.86
Hayton & Mealo 1,188.33 1,386.38 1,584.43 1,782.49 2,178.60 2,574.71 2,970.82 3,564.98
Holme Abbey 1,192.97 1,391.79 1,590.61 1,789.45 2,187.11 2,584.76 2,982.42 3,578.90 *
Holme East Waver 1,191.06 1,389.57 1,588.07 1,786.59 2,183.61 2,580.63 2,977.65 3,573.18
Holme Low 1,167.23 1,361.77 1,556.30 1,750.85 2,139.93 2,529.01 2,918.08 3,501.70
Holme St Cuthbert 1,177.19 1,373.38 1,569.57 1,765.78 2,158.18 2,550.57 2,942.97 3,531.56
Ireby & Uldale 1,177.29 1,373.51 1,569.71 1,765.94 2,158.37 2,550.80 2,943.23 3,531.88
Keswick 1,235.61 1,441.55 1,647.47 1,853.42 2,265.29 2,677.16 3,089.03 3,706.84
Kirkbampton 1,186.49 1,384.23 1,581.97 1,779.73 2,175.23 2,570.72 2,966.22 3,559.46
Kirkbride 1,198.27 1,397.98 1,597.68 1,797.40 2,196.82 2,596.24 2,995.67 3,594.80

Page 127



APPENDIX B3

Page 96

Little Clifton 1,190.07 1,388.42 1,586.75 1,785.11 2,181.80 2,578.49 2,975.18 3,570.22
Lorton 1,178.91 1,375.39 1,571.87 1,768.36 2,161.33 2,554.30 2,947.27 3,536.72
Loweswater 1,167.70 1,362.32 1,556.92 1,751.55 2,140.78 2,530.02 2,919.25 3,503.10
Maryport 1,204.03 1,404.71 1,605.37 1,806.05 2,207.39 2,608.74 3,010.08 3,612.10
Papcastle 1,191.69 1,390.31 1,588.91 1,787.54 2,184.77 2,582.00 2,979.23 3,575.08
Plumbland 1,182.85 1,379.99 1,577.12 1,774.27 2,168.55 2,562.83 2,957.12 3,548.54
Seaton 1,180.81 1,377.61 1,574.40 1,771.21 2,164.81 2,558.41 2,952.02 3,542.42
Sebergham 1,178.98 1,375.48 1,571.96 1,768.47 2,161.46 2,554.46 2,947.45 3,536.94
Setmurthy 1,163.12 1,356.97 1,550.82 1,744.68 2,132.39 2,520.09 2,907.80 3,489.36
Silloth 1,287.39 1,501.96 1,716.51 1,931.09 2,360.22 2,789.35 3,218.48 3,862.18
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 1,182.94 1,380.10 1,577.24 1,774.41 2,168.72 2,563.04 2,957.35 3,548.82
Thursby 1,188.43 1,386.50 1,584.56 1,782.64 2,178.78 2,574.92 2,971.07 3,565.28
Underskiddaw 1,179.90 1,376.55 1,573.19 1,769.85 2,163.15 2,556.45 2,949.75 3,539.70
Waverton 1,168.25 1,362.95 1,557.65 1,752.37 2,141.79 2,531.20 2,920.62 3,504.74
Westnewton 1,193.28 1,392.16 1,591.03 1,789.92 2,187.68 2,585.44 2,983.20 3,579.84
Westward 1,169.36 1,364.25 1,559.14 1,754.04 2,143.83 2,533.61 2,923.40 3,508.08
Wigton 1,228.38 1,433.11 1,637.83 1,842.57 2,252.03 2,661.49 3,070.95 3,685.14
Winscales 1,202.27 1,402.65 1,603.02 1,803.41 2,204.17 2,604.93 3,005.68 3,606.82
Woodside 1,175.45 1,371.36 1,567.26 1,763.18 2,155.00 2,546.82 2,938.63 3,526.36
Workington 1,204.01 1,404.68 1,605.34 1,806.02 2,207.36 2,608.70 3,010.03 3,612.04
Wythop 1,182.55 1,379.64 1,576.72 1,773.82 2,168.00 2,562.18 2,956.37 3,547.64

Valuation Bands
A B C D E F G H

Part of the Council’s area £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Page 128



APPENDIX C

 PARISH PRECEPT COUNCIL TAX BAND D 2017-18

Net Parish Parish
Parish Tax Band D

Precept Base Rate
£ £

Above Derwent 26,741.65 656.79 40.72
Aikton 4,678.40 164.23 28.49
Oughterside & Allerby 10,436.00 192.02 54.35
Allhallows 9,411.64 173.35 54.29
Allonby 9,888.12 158.63 62.33
Aspatria 64,869.06 725.66 89.39
Bassenthwaite 7,350.00 212.96 34.51
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 17.79 0.00
Blennerhasset & Torpenhow 10,396.50 166.26 62.53
Blindbothel 3,400.00 68.49 49.64
Blindcrake 3,367.19 145.04 23.22
Boltons 5,029.25 254.99 19.72
Borrowdale 6,205.50 186.84 33.21
Bothel & Threapland 5,434.29 162.30 33.48
Bowness on Solway 18,784.00 370.38 50.72
Bridekirk 6,464.49 299.72 21.57
Brigham 9,879.93 343.52 28.76
Bromfield 5,950.90 197.59 30.12
Broughton 16,241.50 570.14 28.49
Broughton Moor 16,038.33 221.19 72.51
Buttermere 1,426.49 67.69 21.07
Caldbeck 11,855.84 321.65 36.86
Camerton 800.00 59.87 13.36
Cockermouth 193,012.00 3,098.22 62.30
Crosscanonby 14,000.00 353.12 39.65
Dean 11,928.20 507.24 23.52
Dearham 29,117.61 765.83 38.02
Dundraw 1,726.66 58.08 29.73
Embleton 4,883.87 148.17 32.96
Gilcrux 8,773.91 116.37 75.40
Great Clifton 9,653.60 309.97 31.14
Greysouthen 9,932.46 220.38 45.07
Hayton & Mealo 4,058.58 81.77 49.63
Holme Abbey 12,570.27 222.14 56.59 *
Holme East Waver 6,500.00 120.98 53.73
Holme Low 1,937.31 107.69 17.99
Holme St Cuthbert 4,967.51 150.90 32.92
Ireby & Uldale 6,529.37 197.39 33.08
Keswick 246,700.00 2,046.35 120.56
Kirkbampton 8,471.26 180.75 46.87
Kirkbride 9,700.00 150.30 64.54

Page 129



APPENDIX C

Little Clifton 7,407.75 141.77 52.25
Lorton 5,472.54 154.17 35.50
Loweswater 2,477.44 132.54 18.69
Maryport 194,459.97 2,656.92 73.19
Papcastle 9,954.89 182.06 54.68
Plumbland 5,200.17 125.59 41.41
Seaton 56,146.98 1,464.22 38.35
Sebergham 4,950.00 139.00 35.61
Setmurthy 588.55 49.79 11.82
Silloth 170,149.00 858.34 198.23
St Johns & Castlerigg & Wythburn 8,087.08 194.63 41.55
Thursby 21,738.33 436.72 49.78
Underskiddaw 6,102.25 164.99 36.99
Waverton 2,150.00 110.22 19.51
Westnewton 5,227.44 91.61 57.06
Westward 6,963.76 328.82 21.18
Wigton 183,975.27 1,676.90 109.71
Winscales 3,972.59 56.31 70.55
Woodside 5,947.13 196.15 30.32
Workington 482,933.00 6,601.08 73.16
Wythop 1,038.64 25.36 40.96

TOTAL 2,024,054.47 30,359.94

Net Parish Parish
Parish Tax Band D

Precept Base Rate
£ £

Page 130



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Recommendations Referred to Council

Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Audit 
Committee held on the 19 February 2018. 

It is for Council to consider its response.

Recommended – That Council be requested to approve –

a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Investment 
Strategy for 2018/19 (included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1) 

b) the MRP Policy Statement (set out in section 4 of Appendix 1)

c) the prudential and treasury indicators - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit (set out in Section 5 of Appendix 1).

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 131

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 132



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee - 19 February 2018
Council – 7 March 2018

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment Strategy and 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 

2018/19

The Reason for the Decision Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 
2003, statutory guidance issued by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(formerly the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (CLG) and codes of practice issued by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) require the Council to prepare 
and approve, before the start of each financial year:

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) and Investment Strategy setting out 
its proposed treasury management activities 
for the year and policies for the prudent 
management of its investments

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) indicating how it is 
proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury 
indicators for the forthcoming and following 
years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its 
capital expenditure plans are affordable and 
that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

Summary of options considered N/A  

Recommendations It is recommended that Members approve: 
a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement & Investment Strategy for 2018/19 
(included in sections 2 and 3 of Appendix 1) 

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 
(of Appendix 1). 

c) the prudential and treasury indicators - including 
the Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit set out 
in Section 5 (of Appendix 1).

Page 133



Financial/Resource Implications None directly, however the Council provides for 
interest receivable and interest payable and MRP 
within its annual revenue budget.

Legal Implications Noted above

Community Safety Implications None directly

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria 
by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured.  

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected None directly

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
Strategic Objectives

Effective treasury management and compliance with 
the Prudential Code will provide support towards the 
achievement of the Council’s business and service 
objectives.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Cllr Barbara Cannon

Lead Officer Barry Lennox 
Financial Services Manager   
Ext: 2586 
email: barry.lennox@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers   

Appendix 1: Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Policy Statement - 2018/19

Page 134



Appendix 2 Treasury Management Policy Statement 

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (formerly the Department of Communities and Local Government 
(CLG) and codes of practice issued by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), require the Council to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year:

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of its investments

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how it is proposed to discharge the duty to make 
prudent MRP in the forthcoming financial year

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

1.2 This report, prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and codes of 
practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury management and capital 
finance, presents for approval by the Full Council, the Council’s proposed: 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2018/19 

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement for 2018/19
 Prudential and treasury indicators for 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

1.3 The Council’s proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 
2018/19 are set out in Appendix 1 to this report. 

1.4 The statutory framework for treasury management and capital finance within 
local authorities is laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and 
codes of practice. During 2017/18 the codes of practice issued by CIPFA and 
the statutory guidance issued by MHCLG have been reviewed and updated. 
This has resulted in the publication of revised editions of:  

 The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  
(‘the Prudential Code’) and 

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 
and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes - (‘the Treasury Management 
Code’) - issued by CIPFA 

 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government statutory 
guidance on: 

- Local Government Investments, and   

Page 135



- Minimum Revenue Provision. 

1.5 The changes incorporated into the revised editions of these documents reflect 
the significant changes that have occurred in the economic and regulatory 
landscape for public service delivery since they were last updated. This 
follows the sustained period of reduced public spending and the developing 
commercial agenda underpinned by the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 
and the general power of competence. 

1.6 Key changes to the statutory framework include:

 the introduction of more contextual reporting through the requirement to 
produce a capital strategy setting out the long-term context in which 
capital expenditure and investment decisions are made and providing a 
high level overview of :

- how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services and 
the delivery of service objectives

- how associated risk is managed, and 
- the implications for future financial sustainability

 removal of a number of previously mandated Prudential Indictors 
 an extension of MHCLG investment guidance to cover investments 

(both financial and non-financial) not held for treasury management 
purposes 

 new or clarified guidance on the impact of changing methods of 
calculating MRP, asset lives, the meaning of ‘charge to a revenue 
account’ and the treatment of investment properties and overpayments 
of MRP. 

1.7 The revised editions of the Prudential and Treasury Management Codes and 
statutory guidance on Local Government Investments, are effective for 
2018/19 and subsequent years. Full implementation in 2018/19 is however 
subject to the transitional arrangements set out in the statutory guidance and 
the recommendations issued by CIPFA’s Treasury and Capital Management 
Panel (in relation to the requirement to produce a capital strategy and 
changes to a number of treasury management indicators).

1.8 The updated MRP guidance is applicable from 1 April 2019, although early 
adoption is encouraged. This is with the exception of those changes relating 
to guidance on changing methods for calculating MRP, which apply from 1 
April 2018. 

1.9 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as “the management of 
the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”.

Page 136



1.10 Consistent with this definition, the Treasury Management and Investment 
strategies set out in Appendix 1 are focused on borrowing and investments in 
financial instruments forming part of the Council’s treasury management 
activity. Investments in financial and non-financial assets (for example 
investment property, loans supporting service outcomes and investments in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures) made for policy reasons, rather for treasury 
management purposes, are dealt with in the Council’s Capital Strategy.  

1.11 The revisions made to statutory framework for treasury management outlined 
above have been reflected in the content of the proposed TMSS, Investment 
Strategy and MRP policy for 2018/19. These revisions have not however 
required the Council to make any significant changes to the policies and 
strategies adopted in the previous financial year.

1.12 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring effective 
scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including the report covering those matters listed in paragraph 1.2 
above - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to their consideration by 
Full Council.

1.13 The following sections provide an overview and summary of the contents of 
the proposed TMSS, Investment Strategy and MRP policy statement included 
in Appendix 1 to this report.

2.0 Treasury Management Strategy Statement  

2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) sets out the Council’s 
proposed treasury management activities for the year - based on budget 
proposals, interest rate forecasts and economic outlook.  

2.2 The issues covered in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement include:
 the current treasury position 
 treasury indicators required by CIPFAs Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities and Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice and accompanying sector guidance  

 economic background and prospects for interest rates 
 borrowing strategy 
 policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 debt rescheduling 
 policy on the use of derivatives
 the process adopted for reviewing and addressing the training needs of 

officers and members in relation to treasury management
 use of treasury management consultants including services provided 

and procedures employed for monitoring the quality of those services.

2.3 The Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix 2) highlights 
the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk as being the prime 

Page 137



criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 
measured.  Risk management is therefore central to the Council’s adopted 
treasury management and investment strategies. The Council’s treasury 
activities expose it to a number of financial and operational risks including 
credit and counterparty risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. The TMSS 
explains the principal means through which these risks will be managed.

3.0 Investment Strategy

3.1 The Annual Investment Strategy for 2018/19 - included in section 3 of 
Appendix 1- sets out the Council’s policies for the prudent financial 
management of its investments and for giving priority first to the security of 
those investments (i.e. protect the capital sum invested from loss) and 
secondly, to their liquidity (i.e. ensuring funds invested can be accessed to 
meet expenditure when needed). 

3.2 The contents of the Council’s Investment Strategy follow the 
recommendations set out in the MHCLG Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (third edition) issued in February 2018 and the reporting 
principles set out in CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code. It includes:

 procedures for determining the counterparties with whom investments 
may be placed, including the Council’s approach on the use of credit 
ratings and other sources of information to assess credit and 
counterparty risk  

 the types of investment instruments that may be used
 limits placed on the amount that may be invested with any single 

institution or group of institutions 
 limits on the maximum period for which funds may be prudently 

committed
 reporting arrangements. 

4.0 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 2018/19

4.1 The MRP is an annual amount required to be set aside from the General Fund 
to meet the capital cost of expenditure funded by borrowing or through credit 
arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing arrangements (finance 
leases). The Council’s proposed MRP policy, setting out how it will discharge 
the duty under the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (as amended) to make prudent MRP in the 
financial year, is set out in section 4 of Appendix 1.  It includes:

 a description of what MRP is intended to achieve

 commentary on the Council’s underlying duty to make prudent 
provision and ensure that debt is repaid over a period commensurate 
with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits, or - for 
borrowing supported by central government funding (Revenue Support 
Grant) - over the period implicit in the determination of that funding

Page 138



 consideration of the ‘options’ for calculating MRP outlined in the 
statutory guidance on MRP and the restrictions on their use

 the policy proposed for the forthcoming year. 

4.2 Having regard to the statutory guidance on MRP issued by CLG and the 
‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that guidance the Council will calculate 
MRP: 

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 April 
2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from borrowing 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 - based on 4% of Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of the preceding financial year (Option 2- CFR 
method)  

 for unsupported capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred 
after 1 April 2008 - by applying Option 3 - Asset Life Method, using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method 

 for credit arrangements such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases) by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability. 

5.0 Prudential & Treasury Indicators 

5.1 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires local 
authorities to self-regulate the affordability, prudence and sustainability of their 
capital expenditure and borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits and 
by publishing actuals for a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them 
to ensure their treasury management practices are in accordance with good 
practice. 

5.2 The prudential and treasury indicators for the forthcoming and following years 
must be set before the beginning of the forthcoming year. They may be 
revised at any time, following due process, and must be reviewed, and revised 
if appropriate, for the current year when the prudential indicators are set for 
the following year.

5.3 The Council’s prudential and treasury indicators for 2018/19 and following 
years are set out in section 5 of Appendix 1. They include: 

 indicators required by the Prudential Code covering affordability, 
prudence, capital expenditure, external debt and treasury 
management. These include the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 
Authorised Limit for External Debt)

 indicators required by the sector guidance accompanying the Treasury 
Management Code and designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within defined limits.

Page 139



6.0 Recommendations 

6.1 It is recommended that Members approve: 
a) the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement & 

Investment Strategy for 2018/19 (included in sections 2 and 3 of 
Appendix 1) 

b) the MRP Policy Statement set out in section 4 (of Appendix 1). 
c)  the prudential and treasury indicators - including the Council’s 

Authorised Borrowing Limit set out in Section 5 (of Appendix 1).

Page 140



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 1

Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement & 

Investment Strategy

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy

2018/2019

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

Page 141



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 2

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Page 142



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 3

Contents    

1.  Introduction .........................................................................................................4
1.1   Background ...................................................................................................4
1.2   Reporting requirements .................................................................................4

2.  Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) .........................................6
2.1   Current treasury position ...............................................................................6
2.2   Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing & investing activity .........................6
2.3   Prospects for interest rates ...........................................................................7
2.4   Borrowing strategy ......................................................................................10
2.5   Policy on borrowing in advance of need .....................................................11
2.6   Debt rescheduling .......................................................................................12
2.7   Policy on the use of derivatives  ..................................................................12
2.8   Training .......................................................................................................13
2.9 Treasury management consultants ............................................................13

3.  Annual Investment Strategy .............................................................................14
3.1   Investment policy - objectives ......................................................................14
3.2   Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management) .......................................14
3.3   Approved investment counterparties ...........................................................15
3.4   Approved instruments ..................................................................................16
3.5   Limits on principal sums invested ................................................................17
3.6   Limits on investment maturities....................................................................17
3.7   Reporting arrangements  ............................................................................18

4.  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement ....................................19

5.  Prudential & treasury Indicators 2018/19 – 2020/21 .......................................23
5.1   Indicators required by the Prudential Code .................................................23
5.2   Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code..............................28

6.  Appendices ........................................................................................................30
A.   Interest Rate Forecasts 2018 - 2021 .............................................................31
B.   Economic Background ..................................................................................32
C.   Short & Long term credit ratings ...................................................................37

Page 143



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 4

1. Introduction 

1.1  Background

1.1.1 For public sector organisations, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) defines treasury management as “the management of 
the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”. 

1.1.2 This definition expects a ‘best value’ approach in which authorities should 
seek to minimise the cost of borrowing (or maximise the returns from 
investment), subject to the over-riding management of risks, with risk 
limitation being more important than return (yield).

1.1.3 The statutory framework for treasury management and capital finance within 
local authorities is laid out in a series of legislations, statutory guidance and 
codes of practice, the key elements of which are: 

 The Local Government Act 2003 - (‘the 2003 Act’)
 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting)(England) 

Regulations 2003 (as amended) - (‘the 2003 Regulations’) 
 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) 

(formerly the Department for Communities & Local Government ) 
Guidance on Local Government Investments - third edition (February 
2018)

 MHCLG guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision - fourth edition 
(February 2018)

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities - 2017 
Edition - (‘the Prudential Code’)

 The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 Edition - (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’).

1.1.4 Consistent with the definition of treasury management  set out in paragraph 
1.1.1 the Treasury Management and Investment strategies contained in this 
document are focused on borrowing and investments in financial instruments 
forming part of the Council’s treasury management activity. Investments in 
financial and non-financial assets (for example investment property, loans 
supporting service outcomes and investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures) made for policy reasons, rather than for treasury management 
purposes, are dealt with in the Council’s Capital Strategy.  

1.2 Reporting requirements

1.2.1 Provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2003, statutory guidance 
and regulations issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government and Codes of Practice issued by CIPFA in relation to treasury 

Page 144



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 5

management and capital finance, require local authorities to prepare and 
approve, before the start of each financial year:

 a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy setting out its proposed treasury management activities for 
the year and policies for the prudent management of its investments

 a statement of its policy on making Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) indicating how, in the forthcoming financial year, the duty to 
make prudent MRP will be discharged

 a set of prescribed prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years - including the Council’s Authorised 
Borrowing Limit - demonstrating that its capital expenditure plans are 
affordable and that external borrowing is within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

1.2.2 The Treasury Management Code also requires authorities to ensure the Full 
Council receives: 

 a mid-year report providing: 
- an update on the economic environment  and interest rate 

forecasts underlying the adopted strategies 
- details of variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 

contained in the approved Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategies

- details of investing and borrowing activities undertaken
- confirmation of compliance with treasury and prudential indicators 

 after the year-end, an annual report on the performance of the 
treasury management function, on the risk implications of decisions 
taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any 
circumstances of non-compliance with the Council’s treasury 
management policy statement.

1.2.3 This document - prepared in accordance with the statutory framework and 
codes of practice referred to above - sets out the Council’s: 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Investment 
Strategy for 2018-/19 

 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement for 2018/19
 Prudential and treasury indicators for the three year period 2018/19 to 

2020/21. 

1.2.4 The TMSS and Investment Strategy, MRP policy and the prudential and 
treasury indicators must be approved by Full Council prior to the 
commencement of the financial year to which they relate.

Page 145



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 6

1.2.5 To enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibilities for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of treasury management strategy and policies, the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) require treasury management 
reports - including this report - to be submitted to the Audit Committee prior to 
their consideration by Full Council.

2. Treasury Management Strategy Statement

2.1 Current treasury position 

2.1.1 The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 December 2017 is summarised 
in table 1. Table 1 also shows a comparison of the Council’s actual external 
debt (borrowing) postion with its underlying capital borrowing need (the 
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing.

Table 1: Investment and borrowing
At 31 

Dec 2017 
£000

At 31 
Mar 2017 

£000

At 31 
Dec 2016 

£000

At 31 
Mar 2016 

£000
Investments
Specified Investments: 
Term, call & notice accounts 1,527 2,419 4,334 3,216
Money Market Funds 11,545 5,655 11,391 6,351
Non-specified investments:
Equities 11 11 11 11
Total investments 13,083 8,085 15,736 9,578
Borrowing 
PWLB 13,465 13,607 13,693 13,829
Other borrowing 85 85 94 94
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total (gross) debt 13,550 13,692 13,787 13,923
Capital Financing Requirement 18,245 18,674 18,375 17,449
(Under)/Over borrowing (4,695) (4,982) (4,588) (3,526)

2.2 Treasury Indicators: limits on borrowing and lending activity

2.2.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires a local authority to create and keep 
under review, limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of 
loans and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The processes 
authorities must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for 
external debt’) are set out in the Prudential Code which authorities must 
‘have regard to’. An authority is free to vary its affordable borrowing limit - 
subject to approval by Full Council – provided there is good reason for doing 
so. However breach of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by the 
2003 Act and any borrowing above the affordable borrowing limit is ultra-
vires.

Page 146



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 7

2.2.2 In addition to the Authorised Limit, the Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes and accompanying sector guidance, include a number of other key 
treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council operates its 
treasury activities within well-defined limits. These include:

 setting an operational boundary for external debt based on the 
expectations of the most likely maximum external debt for the year and 
reflecting the authority’s plans for capital expenditure, estimated capital 
financing requirement (CFR) and cash flow requirements for the year 
for all purposes

 ensuring that gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for current and the following two financial years.

 placing upper limits on the total of principal sums invested for over 365 
days

 placing upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of its borrowing.

2.2.3 Details of the Council’s prudential and treasury indicators are set out in 
section 5 of this report.

2.3  Prospects for interest rates 

2.3.1 The Council has appointed Link Asset Services (formerly operating as Capita 
Asset Services) as its treasury advisor.  Part of their service is to assist the 
Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  Link Asset Services undertook 
its latest review of interest rate forecasts in November 2017. These latest 
forecasts take into account the Bank of England quarterly Inflation Report for 
November 2017 and the decisions and forward guidance issued by Bank’s 
Monetary Policy Committee at its meeting on 2 November 2017. 

Table 2: Forecast interest rates 2018-2021
Quarter ending Bank Rate PWLB Borrowing Rates1 

% 5 year % 10 year % 25 year % 50 year %
6 Feb 2018 0.50 1.83 2.33 2.76 2.45
Mar 2018 0.50 1.60 2.20 2.90 2.60
Jun 2018 0.50 1.60 2.30 3.00 2.70
Sep 2018 0.50 1.70 2.40 3.00 2.80
Dec 2018 0.75 1.80 2.40 3.10 2.90
Mar 2019 0.75 1.80 2.50 3.10 2.90
Jun 2019 0.75 1.90 2.60 3.20 3.00
Sept 2019 0.75 1.90 2.60 3.20 3.00
Dec 2019 1.00 2.00 2.70 3.30 3.10
Mar 2020 1.00 2.10 2.70 3.40 3.20
Jun 2020 1.00 2.10 2.80 3.50 3.30
Sept 2020 1.25 2.20 2.90 3.50 3.30
Dec 2020 1.25 2.30 2.90 3.60 3.40
Mar 2021 1.25 2.30 3.00 3.60 3.40

1Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from the standard new loan rates. Certainty rates 
apply to authorities who have provided MHCLG with required information on their plans for long-term 
borrowing and associated capital spending.

Page 147



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 8

2.3.2 These forecasts are based on the PWLB Certainty Rate (standard new loan 
rate minus 20 basis points) which has been accessible to most authorities 
since 2012. It includes three further increase in the Bank Rate starting in 
quarter 4 (October to December) of 2018, together with a gradual increased 
in PWLB borrowing rates over the forecast period.

2.3.3 As expected, the Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) 
delivered a 0.25% increase in the Bank Rate at its meeting on 2 November.  
This removed the emergency cut made in August 2016 after the EU 
referendum.  The MPC also gave forward guidance that they expected to 
increase the Bank Rate only twice more by 0.25% by 2020 to end at 1.00%.  
The Link Asset Services forecast above includes increases in the Bank Rate 
of 0.25% in November 2018, November 2019 and August 2020.

2.3.4 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts (and also MPC 
decisions), will, therefore, be liable to further amendment depending on how 
economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next 
year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a 
major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three-
year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political 
developments. 

2.3.5 The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is probably to the 
downside, particularly given with the current level of uncertainty over the final 
terms of Brexit. 

2.3.6 In line with the base rate forecasts, investment returns are likely to remain 
low during 2018/19 and beyond. As a consequence there will remain a cost of 
carry to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost – the difference 
between borrowing costs and investment returns.

2.3.7 Borrowing interest rates increased sharply following the result of the general 
election in June 2017. Further increases occurred after the September MPC 
meeting when financial markets reacted by accelerating their expectations for 
the timing of Bank Rate increases.  However, apart from these movements 
there has been little general trend in rates during the current financial year 
(2017/18). 

2.3.8 From time to time, gilt yields – and therefore PWLB rates - can be subject to 
exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis and 
emerging market developments. Such volatility could occur at any time 
during the forecast period.

2.3.9 The overall longer run trend, however, is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to 
rise, albeit gently.  It has long been expected that, at some point, there would 
be a more protracted move from bonds to equities after a historic long-term 
trend, over about the last 25 years, of falling bond yields.  The action of 
central banks since the financial crash of 2008, in implementing substantial 

Page 148



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 9

Quantitative Easing (QE), added further impetus to this downward trend in 
bond yields and rising bond prices.  

2.3.10 Quantitative Easing has also directly led to a rise in equity values as 
investors searched for higher returns and took on riskier assets.  The sharp 
rise in bond yields since the US Presidential election in November 2016 has 
called into question whether the previous trend may go into reverse, 
especially now the Federal Reserve has taken the lead in reversing monetary 
policy by starting, in October 2017, a policy of not fully reinvesting proceeds 
from bonds that it holds when they mature.  

2.3.11 Until 2015, monetary policy was focused on providing stimulus to economic 
growth but has since started to refocus on countering the threat of rising 
inflationary pressures as stronger economic growth becomes more firmly 
established. The Federal Reserve has started raising interest rates and this 
trend is expected to continue during 2018 and 2019.  These increases will 
make holding US bonds much less attractive and cause their prices to fall, 
and therefore bond yields to rise. 

2.3.12 Rising bond yields in the US are likely to exert some upward pressure on 
bond yields in the UK and other developed economies.  However, the degree 
of that upward pressure is likely to be dampened by how strong or weak the 
prospects for economic growth and rising inflation are in each country, and 
on the degree of progress towards the reversal of monetary policy away from 
quantitative easing and other credit stimulus measures.

2.3.13 In addition to the above uncertainties, downside risks to current forecasts for 
UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

 the pace of Bank of England monetary policy action over the next 
three years causing weaker UK economic growth and increases in 
inflation than currently anticipated 

 geopolitical risks in Asia (especially North Korea), Europe and the 
Middle East, leading to increasing safe haven flows 

 a resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, possibly Italy, 
due to its high level of government debt, low rate of economic growth 
and vulnerable banking system

 weak capitalisation of some European banks

 the result of the October 2017 Austrian general election – which has 
resulted in a strongly anti-immigrant coalition government . In 
addition, the Czech ANO party became the largest party in the 
October 2017 general election on a platform of being strongly against 
EU migrant quotas and refugee policies. Both developments could 
provide major impetus to other, particularly former Communist bloc 
countries, to coalesce to create a major block to progress on EU 
integration and centralisation of EU policy.  This, in turn, could spill 
over into impacting the Euro, EU financial policy and financial 
markets.

Page 149



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 10

 the absence of an effective government in Germany after the 
inconclusive result of the general election in October.  In addition, 
Italy is to hold a general election on 4 March and the anti EU populist 
Five Star party is currently in the lead in the polls, although it is 
unlikely to get a working majority on its own.  Both situations could 
pose major challenges to the overall leadership and direction of the 
EU as a whole and of the individual respective countries. Hungary 
will hold a general election in April 2018.

 rising protectionism under President Trump

 a sharp Chinese downturn and its impact on emerging market 
countries.

2.3.14 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates, especially for longer term PWLB rates include: 

 the pace and strength of increases in the Bank Rate is too slow 
allowing inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in 
the Bank Rate faster than currently expected 

 UK inflation returning to sustained significantly higher levels causing 
an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields 

 the pace and strength of increases in the Federal Reserve Funds 
Rate and reversal of Quantitative Easing, causing a fundamental 
reassessment by investors of the relative risks of holding bonds, as 
opposed to equities, leading to a major flight from bonds to equities 
and a sharp increase in bond yields in the US, which could then spill 
over into impacting bond yields around the world.

2.3.15 A more detailed commentary on the economic background underpinning current 
interest rate forecasts is included in Appendix B.

2.4 Borrowing strategy 

2.4.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position (see table 
1).  This means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement - CFR), has not been fully funded with loan debt. By utilising 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves and favourable in-year cash flow the 
Council has been able to avoid the need to borrow up to the level of the CFR. 

2.4.2 This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and reduce 
treasury risk by reducing its external investment balances. This strategy is 
prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue 
that needs to be considered. The Council will continue with this policy during 
2018/19 to the extent permitted by its liquidity requirements and the effective 
management of its interest rate exposures.

2.4.3 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2018/19 treasury operations.  Treasury staff will 

Page 150



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 11

monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances:

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and 
short-term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse 
into recession or of risks of deflation), then long-term borrowing will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into 
short term borrowing will be considered.

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in 
long and short-term rates than that currently forecast, (e.g. due an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, 
a greater than expected increase in global economic activity or a 
sudden increase in inflation risks), then the portfolio position will be re-
appraised with the likely action being that fixed rate funding will be 
drawn whilst interest rates are still lower than they will be in the next 
few years.

2.4.4 Any decisions taken in this regard will be reported to members at the next 
available opportunity.

2.4.5 The Council manages interest rate exposures through the prudent use of its 
approved instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability 
and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a 
sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. 

2.4.6 Interest rate cash flow risk (the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest 
rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s 
finances) associated with the Councils long term borrowing will be managed 
principally by borrowing at fixed rates.

2.5 Policy on borrowing in advance of need 

2.5.1 The Local Government Act 2003 allows local authorities to borrow or invest 
for ‘‘any purpose relevant to its functions, under any enactment’’, or “for the 
purpose of the prudent management of its financial affairs”. This allows the 
temporary investment of funds borrowed for the purposes of expenditure in 
the near future.

2.5.2 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of its needs purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 
to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds. 

2.5.3 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual 
reporting mechanism. 

Page 151



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 12

2.6 Debt rescheduling 

2.6.1 Debt rescheduling includes the premature repayment of loans and the 
replacement of existing loans with new loans on different terms (repayment 
method, loan period, interest rate). The reasons for rescheduling include: 

 aligning long-term cash flow projections and debt levels in order to 
redistribute the burden of debt financing costs between years of account 

 generating savings in risk adjusted interest costs

 rebalancing the interest rate structure of the debt portfolio to reduce 
exposures to interest rate risk  

 changing the size and/or maturity profile of the debt portfolio to reduce 
refinancing risk exposures and/or align the debt maturity profile with the 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital financing 
requirement).  

2.6.2 As short-term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term 
fixed interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings 
by switching from long-term debt to short-term debt.  However, these savings 
will need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the 
size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred). 

2.6.3 Consideration will also be given to identifying if there is any residual potential 
for making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt 
prematurely as short-term rates on investments are likely to be lower than 
rates paid on current debt.  

2.6.4 The economic environment and consequent structure of interest rates has 
limited the rescheduling opportunities during recent years. Whilst this 
situation is likely to remain during 2018/19 the Council will continue to 
monitor interest rate structures for opportunities to reschedule debt in order 
to generate savings and/or rebalance risks within the loan portfolio. All 
rescheduling will be reported to the Audit Committee and Full Council at the 
earliest meeting following its action.

2.7 Policy on the use of derivatives 

2.7.1 The Council will only use derivatives for the management of risk and for the 
prudent management of its financial affairs. Transactions involving 
standalone derivative products such as forward rate agreements, interest 
rate swaps and options (interest rate caps, floors and collars) require 
authorisation by the Head of Financial Services and will only be entered into: 

 after seeking proper advice to ensure the product is fully understood 
including how underlying risks are affected and the additional risks that 
may result from its use (for example credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties)

 after seeking confirmation that the Council has legal power to enter into 
the transaction

Page 152



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 13

 where use of the product can be shown to reduce the overall level of 
financial risks the Council is exposed to (after taking into consideration 
additional risks that may result from use of the derivative instrument)

 after ensuring treasury staff have received training to ensure competent 
use of the product.

2.7.2 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria outlined in section 3 below. The 
current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty limits set out in paragraph 3.5.1.

2.8 Training 

2.8.1 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral 
Guidance Notes require the responsible officer (the Head of Financial 
Services) to ensure that: 

 all staff involved in the treasury management function (including 
statutory officers) are fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them

 members tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including 
those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to their 
needs and responsibilities.

2.8.2 In complying with these requirements the Council regularly reviews the 
training needs of officers and members and training will be arranged as 
required to ensure that officers and members have the requisite skills and 
knowledge. 

2.9 Treasury management advisors  

2.9.1 The Council currently uses Link Asset Services as its external treasury 
management advisors. They provide a range of services to the Council 
including:

 technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues

 economic and interest rate analysis

 debt services including advice on the timing of borrowing

 debt rescheduling advice 

 generic investment advice on interest rates, timing and investment 
instruments

 credit ratings and creditworthiness information. 

2.9.2 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is 
not placed upon our external service providers.  It also recognises that there is 
value in employing external providers of treasury management services in order 
to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 

Page 153



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 14

the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value is assessed 
are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

2.9.3 In 2017 Link Asset Services were re-appointed for an initial period of three 
years (2017-2020) following a competitive tendering exercise. The Council 
retains the option to extend this contract for a further year.

3. Annual Investment Strategy

3.1 Investment policy - objectives 

3.1.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on 
Local Government Investments (‘MHCLG Investment Guidance’) (third 
edition) and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of 
Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 Edition (‘the Treasury 
Management Code’).

3.1.2 Accordingly, the Council’s primary policy objectives in relation to its treasury 
investment activity are to ensure: 

 first, the security of principal sums invested (i.e. to protect the capital 
sum invested from loss) 

 second, that appropriate levels of liquidity are maintained – (i.e. 
ensuring funds invested are available to meet expenditure when 
needed). 

3.1.3 The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments (yield) 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity. However, yield 
will only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or more 
investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives.

3.2 Creditworthiness policy (credit risk management)

3.2.1 Ensuring the security of principal sums invested is achieved through active 
management of the Council’s credit risk exposures. This includes placing 
restrictions and limits on: 

 the counterparties with whom investments may be placed based on the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty (section 3.3)

 the types of investment instruments that may be used (section 3.4)

 the amount invested with any single institution or group of institutions on 
the Council’s list of approved counterparties  (section 3.5)

 the duration of individual investment instruments depending on the 
financial standing (creditworthiness) of the counterparty (section 3.6).

Page 154



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 15

3.3 Approved investment counterparties 

3.3.1 Counterparties with whom investments may be placed are restricted to 
financial institutions and other bodies of high credit quality. High credit quality 
financial institutions and other bodies are defined by the Council as those 
with a minimum long-term rating across all three of the main credit ratings 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or equivalent (AA+ or 
equivalent for non-UK sovereigns).

3.3.2 The minimum rating criteria applied by the Council uses the lowest common 
denominator method of selecting counterparties and applying limits.  This 
means the Council’s minimum criteria will apply to the lowest available rating 
for any institution.  For example, if an institution is rated by two agencies, one 
rating meets the Council’s criteria, the other does not, the institution will fall 
outside the lending criteria and will be excluded from the list of approved 
counterparties.  

3.3.3 Whilst credit ratings remain a key source of information they are not the sole 
determinant of the Council’s assessment of the credit quality of potential 
counterparties. Before making investment decisions reference will also be 
made to:

 ratings outlooks (indicating the likely direction of an issuer's rating 
over the medium term) 

 credit watches and watchlists (indicating that downgrading or 
upgrading of the credit rating could be imminent) 

 sovereign ratings and support mechanisms

 credit default swap (CDS) spreads (indicating perceived market 
sentiment regarding the credit risk associated with a particular 
institution and an early warning of potential creditworthiness 
problems which may only belatedly lead to actual changes in credit 
ratings).

3.3.4 This information is fully integrated into the creditworthiness methodology 
used by the Council’s treasury advisors,Link Asset Services to produce its 
colour coded ratings assessment to indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
potential counterparties. Information provided by this ratings assessment is 
used by the Council to determine the maximum duration of individual 
investment instruments (see section 3.6).

3.3.5 Other information sources used to assess the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties include the financial press, share price and other 
information pertaining to the banking sector and the economic and political 
environments in which these institutions operate. Regardless of the credit 
rating assigned to an institution if this additional information casts doubt over 
its financial standing then that institution will be removed immediately from 
the Council’s counterparty lending list.

3.3.6 Credit ratings and creditworthiness information is supplied to the Council by 
Link Asset Services and monitored weekly. The Council is also alerted by 

Page 155



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 16

email when there is an amendment by any of the agencies to the credit rating 
of an institution.  If as a result of downgrade, a counterparty no longer meets 
the Council’s minimum credit ratings criteria, it will be removed immediately 
from the Council’s counterparty (dealing) list.  Notification of rating changes, 
rating watches and rating outlooks is provided to officers almost immediately 
after they occur and this information is considered before dealing.  For 
instance, a negative rating watch applying to a counterparty, currently at the 
minimum Council criteria, will result in the counterparty being suspended 
from use, with all others being reviewed in light of market conditions. Link 
Asset Services also provide the Council with information relating to 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and 
other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result 
in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list.

3.4 Approved instruments

3.4.1 The types of investment instruments that may be used by the Council - 
subject to the counterparty and maturity limits set out in sections 3.5 and 
3.6 - are shown in table 3. Permitted instruments are categorised as 
either “Specified” or “Non-Specified” investments - as defined in MHCLGs 
Investment Guidance - to distinguish those (specified) investment 
instruments offering relatively high security and high liquidity from those 
with higher credit risk (non-specified investments). All investments will be 
in sterling.

Table 3: Permitted investment instruments - specified & non-specified 

Investment Specified Non-
Specified

Term deposits, call and notice accounts with banks & 
building societies  

Term deposits with UK local authorities  

Certificates of deposit with banks & building societies  

Gilts issued by the UK Debt Management Office (DMO)  

Treasury Bills (T-bills) issued by the UK DMO 

Bonds issued by Multilateral Development Banks  

Local Authority Bills  

Commercial Paper  

Corporate Bonds  

AAA rated Money Market Funds (with 60-day Weighted 
Average Maturity (WAM))[CNNAV, VNAV, LVNAV]  

Other Money Market & Collective Investment Schemes  

Debt Management Account Deposit Facility  

Equity investments 

Page 156



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 17

3.4.2 A specified (treasury management) investment - offering high security and 
high liquidity - is defined as an investment that is: 

(a) denominated in sterling with any payments or repayments 
payable only in sterling

(b) not a long-term investment (i.e. the authority has a contractual 
right to repayment within 12 months of acquisition) 

(c) not defined as capital expenditure under regulations (e.g. 
acquisition of share capital) 

(d) made with a body or in an investment scheme of high credit 
quality (as defined by the Council in paragraph 3.3.1) or with the 
UK Government, a local authority or a parish council or 
community council. 

3.4.3 Non-specified investments refer to any (treasury management) 
investments not meeting the definition of ‘specified investments’. The 
Council currently holds a limited quantity of non-specified investments 
(unquoted equity shares). These account for less than 1% of the 
Council’s investment portfolio. No additional non-specified investments 
are planned during 2018/19 and all new investments made in 2018/19 will 
be subject to a maximum maturity of 365 days. 

3.4.4 Non-specified investments will only be made with prior approval by the 
Head of Financial Services and will only be undertaken: 

 following external credit assessment and due diligence to assess 
the financial strength and creditworthiness of the counterparty, and 

 after taking such professional advice as is considered necessary 
to inform the decision to invest.

3.4.5 In the event that the credit rating of the Council’s banker falls below the 
minimum credit criteria referred to above, the Council will continue to use 
the bank for transactional purposes but will seek to minimise balances as 
far as is possible.

3.5 Limits on principal sums invested 

3.5.1 With the exception of funds placed with HM Treasury’s Debt Management 
Office (DMO) the maximum amount that may be placed with any institution or 
group of institutions that are part of the same banking group is £4 million.  
For funds placed with the DMO’s Account Deposit Facility the limit is £12m 
(subject to maximum maturity of 3 weeks for all sums in excess of £4m).

 3.6 Limits on investment maturities  

3.6.1 To ensure that access to cash to meet forecast liquidity is not impaired, 
decisions regarding the maturity of investments instruments must be taken 
having regard to cash flow requirements.  The maturity of investment 
instruments is also subject to the maximum maturity periods set out below 
(table 4). These are established to ensure that access to cash is not unduly 

Page 157



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 18

restricted and to reduce the risk of being locked into an investment whilst the 
creditworthiness of the counterparty is deteriorating.

3.6.2 The maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed by the 
Council is determined using the Creditworthiness service provided by Link 
Asset Services. This combines credit ratings information provided by the 
three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s - 
with ratings outlooks and credit watches in a weighted scoring system. This is 
combined with an overlay of credit default swap (CDS) spreads to produce a 
colour rating to indicate the relative creditworthiness of the counterparty. 
These colour codes are used to determine the maximum duration for 
investments made with individual counterparties.

3.6.3 In the current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep 
investment terms short to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value 
available in periods of up to 12 months with high credit quality institutions 
using Link’s creditworthiness approach. Using this approach the Council will 
use the following duration bands - shown in table 4 - subject to a maximum 
maturity of 365 days (from the date of acquisition).

Table 4: Upper limits on investment maturities 

 Colour rating Maximum duration (term to maturity)

Yellow 5 years- restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3)
Purple 2 years - restricted to 12 months (see paragraph 3.6.3)
Orange 12 months
Red 6 months
Green 100 days
No colour 0 months (counterparty not to be used)

3.7  Reporting arrangements  

3.7.1 The Treasury Management and Prudential Codes require the Council to 
report regularly on its treasury management activities including its 
performance against all forward-looking prudential and treasury management 
indicators set out in section 5 below. In meeting the recommended reporting 
requirements of the Treasury Management Code (outlined in section 1.2 
above) the Head of Financial Services will, in addition to this report, submit to 
the Audit Committee and Full Council: 

 a mid-year review of the Council’s treasury management activities 
covering the six months to 30 September 2018, and 

 an annual treasury report after the year-end. 

The annual report will be submitted as soon as reasonably practicable after 
the end of the financial year, but in any case no later than 30 September 
2019.

Page 158



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 19

3.7.2 A summary of treasury management activities will also be included in the 
quarterly finance reports submitted to the Council’s Executive.

4.  Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement

4.1 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (‘the 2003 Regulations’) requires local 
authorities to ‘charge to a revenue account a minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) for that year’. The minimum revenue provision is an annual amount 
required to be set aside from the General Fund to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded by borrowing or credit arrangements, that is, capital 
expenditure that has not been financed from grants, revenue contributions or 
capital receipts.

4.2 Regulation 27 also allows authorities to charge to a revenue account any 
amount, in addition to the MRP, in respect of the financing of capital 
expenditure incurred in the current financial year or any financial year before 
the current year (voluntary revenue provision - VRP). 

4.3 The calculation of MRP is covered in regulation 28 of the 2003 Regulations. 
From 31 March 2008, Regulation 28, as amended by Regulation 4(1) of the 
Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 (‘the 2008 Regulations’), requires each authority to:

'determine for the current financial year an amount of minimum revenue 
provision which it considers to be prudent.’

4.4 The 2003 Regulations (as amended) are accompanied by statutory guidance 
on minimum revenue provision, issued by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) under section 21(1A) of the 
Local Government Act 2003 (‘the 2003 Act’). The latest version of this 
guidance (version four) was issued by MHCLG in February 2018. It replaces 
the previous version issued in 2012. 

4.5 The updated MRP guidance is applicable from 1 April 2019, although early 
adoption is encouraged. This is with the exception of those changes relating 
to guidance on changing methods for calculating MRP, which apply from 1 
April 2018. The Authority has elected to adopt the requirements of the 
updated MRP guidance, in full, with effect from 1 April 2018.

4.6 In meeting the requirement to ‘make prudent provision’, the 2003 Act requires 
local authorities to ‘have regard to’ this guidance. This means that an 
authority must consider what the statutory guidance says. It does not mean 
that a local authority is obligated to follow the guidance. However, if an 
authority does decide to depart from the guidance, it must be able to show 
good reasons for doing so.

4.7 The current version of regulation 28 was implemented by the 2008 
regulations. It came into force on 31 March 2008 and along with the first 
edition of MHCLG’s statutory guidance on MRP, is effective for 2007/08 and 
later years. The current version of regulation 28 provides flexibility in how 

Page 159



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 20

they calculate MRP. Before this change regulation 28 set out detailed formula 
- based on an authority’s capital financing requirement - which authorities 
were required to follow when calculating MRP. 

4.8 Neither the 2003 Regulations nor the statutory guidance define the term 
“prudent provision”. The statutory guidance does however establish the 
broad aim of making prudent provision, which is to ensure that revenue is put 
aside to cover the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes (the capital 
financing requirement) over a period:

 commensurate with the period over which the capital expenditure 
provides benefits, or

 for historic borrowing originally supported by grant income rolled into 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG), over the period implicit in the 
determination of that original grant funding.

4.9 The MHCLG guidance outlines four possible ‘options’ as methods of 
calculating a prudent amount of MRP. However, approaches other than the 
four listed in the guidance are not ruled out provided they are consistent with 
the statutory duty to make a prudent provision. This provides authorities with 
wide discretion in determining MRP. The statutory guidance also includes 
specific recommendations on the calculation of MRP in respect of finance 
leases, on-balance PFI contracts and investment properties.

4.10 The four options for calculating MRP outlined in the MHCLG guidance, and 
restrictions on their use, are summarised in table 5.

Page 160



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 21

Table 5: Options for prudent provision of MRP 
Option Method of calculation Applicability and limits on use

‘Option 1
Regulatory 

method’

Apply the statutory formula 
set out in the 2003 
Regulations (as amended) 
before it was revoked by the 
2008 Regulations

May only be used in relation to: 
 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 

purposes incurred before 1 April 2008. 
 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 

purposes incurred on or after 1 April 
2008. 

‘Option 2
CFR 

method’

Multiply the (non-housing) 
Capital Financing 
Requirement at the end of 
the preceding financial year 
by 4%.

May only be used in relation to: 
 Supported capital expenditure incurred 

before 1 April 2008. 
 Supported capital expenditure for RSG 

purposes incurred on or after 1 April 
2008. 

‘Option 3 
Asset life 
method’

Amortise expenditure 
financed by borrowing or 
credit arrangement over the 
estimated useful life of the 
relevant assets using either 
the equal instalment or 
annuity method.

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that does 
not form part of the Authority’s supported 
capital expenditure.
This includes all expenditure capitalised 
under regulations or direction on or after 1 
April 2008 falling outside the scope of 
‘Option 1’.
May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported and 
whenever incurred.

‘Option 4 
Depreciation 

method’

Charge MRP to revenue 
based on proper accounting 
practices for depreciation as 
they apply to the relevant 
assets. This includes any 
amount for impairment 
chargeable to the Income & 
Expenditure Account.

Must be used for capital expenditure 
incurred on or after 1 April 2008 that does 
not form part of the Authority’s supported 
capital expenditure. 
May be used in relation to any capital 
expenditure whether or not supported and 
whenever incurred.

4.11 Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by 
borrowing or credit arrangements, authorities applying ‘Option 3’ should 
calculate MRP by reference to the estimated useful life of the asset. Two 
main variants of this option exist: (i) the equal instalment method and (ii) the 
annuity method. 

4.12 Both variations allow authorities to make additional voluntary revenue 
provision (VRP) or to finance expenditure through other methods of 
repayment (e.g. the application of capital receipts) during the repayment 
period. In such cases appropriate adjustments should be made to the 
calculation of MRP. Where an authority uses Options 3 or 4, the CFR for the 
purposes of Options 1 and 2 is reduced by the amount of the relevant 
expenditure and cumulative provision for MRP made under Options 3 and 4.

Page 161



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 22

Policy adopted for 2018/19

4.13 Having regard to the statutory guidance on minimum revenue provision 
issued by MHCLG and the ‘options’ for calculating MRP set out in that 
guidance, the Council will calculate MRP:

 for all capital expenditure funded from borrowing incurred before 1 
April 2008 and for all supported capital expenditure funded from 
borrowing incurred on or after 1 April 2008, based on 4% of the non-
housing Capital Financing Requirement at the end of the preceding 
financial year (Option 2- CFR method)  

 for unsupported capital funded from borrowing expenditure incurred on 
or after 1 April 2008 by applying Option 3 - Asset life method - using 
either the equal instalments or annuity method 

 for credit arrangements, such as on balance sheet leasing 
arrangements (finance leases), by charging an amount (MRP) equal to 
the element of the rent/charge that goes to write down the balance 
sheet liability. 

4.14 In applying ‘Option 3’: 

 MRP should normally begin in the financial year following the one in 
which the expenditure was incurred. However, in accordance with the 
statutory guidance, commencement of MRP may be deferred until the 
financial year following the one in which the asset becomes 
operational

 the estimated useful lives of assets used to calculate MRP should not 
exceed a maximum of 50 years except as otherwise permitted by the 
guidance 

 if no life can reasonably be attributed to an asset, such as freehold 
land, the estimated useful life should be taken to be a maximum of 50 
years 

 for expenditure capitalised by virtue of a capitalisation direction or 
regulation 25(1) of the 2003 regulations, the ‘asset’ life should equate 
to the value specified in the statutory guidance.

Page 162



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 23

5.  Prudential and treasury indicators 2018-19 – 2020-21

5.1 Indicators required by the Prudential Code 

5.1.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to self-regulate the 
affordability, prudence and sustainability of their capital expenditure and 
borrowing plans, by setting estimates and limits, and by publishing actuals for 
a range of prudential indicators. It also requires them to ensure their treasury 
management practices are carried out in accordance with good professional 
practice. 

5.1.2 The prudential and treasury indicators required by the Prudential Code, the 
Treasury Management Code and accompanying sector guidance issued by 
CIPFA, are designed to support and record local decision making. They are 
not designed to be comparative performance indicators and should not be 
used for this purpose. The prudential and treasury indicators for the 
forthcoming and following years must be set before the beginning of the 
forthcoming year. They may be revised at any time, following due process, 
and must be reviewed, and revised if appropriate, for the current year when 
the prudential indicators are set for the following year.

Estimates of capital expenditure

5.1.3 The estimate of capital expenditure indicator summarises the Council’s 
capital expenditure plans for the forthcoming year and the following two 
financial years.  Estimates of capital expenditure include both those agreed 
previously and those forming part of the current (2018/19) budget cycle.

5.1.4 Capital expenditure is defined as in section 16 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and includes all expenditure capitalised in accordance with proper 
practices together with any items capitalised in accordance with regulation 25 
of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 (as amended), or by virtue of a capitalisation direction 
issued under section 16(2) of the 2003 Act. Estimates of capital expenditure 
include any capital expenditure that it is estimated might (depending on 
option appraisals) or will be dealt with as other long-term liabilities.

Table 6:  Capital expenditure 
Planned expenditure 2017/18 

Approved1

£000

2017/18 
Revised2

£000

2018/19 
Estimate

£000

2019/20 
Estimate

£000

2020/21 
Estimate

£000
Approved in 2017/18 
(& prior years) 9,401 5,935 15,266 2,190 40

Budget proposals 
2018/19 – 2020/21 (673) 150 2,000

Total expenditure 9,401 5,935 14,593 2,340 2,040
1 Approved capital programme for 2017/18;  2 Updated to reflect revised carry forward of budget from 
2016/17 and additional capital bids included in the revised capital budget for 2017/18.  

Page 163



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 24

5.1.5 Table 7 shows how these capital expenditure plans will be financed through 
the application of capital and revenue resources.  Any excess of capital 
expenditure over resources applied (unfinanced expenditure) will result in a 
corresponding increase in the underlying need for borrowing (the capital 
financing requirement).  

Table 7:  Financing of capital expenditure
2017/2018 Estimate

Approved
£000

Revised
£000

2018/19 
£000

2019/20 
£000

2020/21 
£000

Total expenditure
Financed by:
Capital receipts 0 280 0 0 0
Capital grants 7,426 2,090 9,043 1,033 1,000
Revenue/Reserves 0 973 20 0 0
Total financed 7,426 3,343 9,063 1,033 1,000
Unfinanced expenditure:

Supported borrowing1 0 0 0 0 0
Unsupported borrowing 1,975 2,592 5,530 1,307 1,040

Financed & unfinanced 9,401 5,935 14,593 2,340 2,040
1 Following the Spending Review 2010 there have been no new supported borrowing allocations since 
2010/11 (although the level of assumed outstanding debt is still included in the calculation of formula grant 
allocations). This form of financial support has been discontinued from 2011/12.

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

5.1.6 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is a measure of an authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. It represents the historic cost 
of capital expenditure that has yet to be financed by setting aside resources 
(grants, contributions, capital receipts or direct revenue financing). It does not 
necessarily correspond with an authority’s actual borrowing position. The 
level of external debt will be determined in accordance with an authority’s 
treasury management strategy and practices and authorities should not 
associate borrowing with particular items of expenditure unless required to do 
so by legislation or official guidance. 

5.1.7 Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front through the application of 
capital grants, contributions, capital receipts or a direct charge to revenue will 
increase the Capital Financing Requirement. Charging the minimum revenue 
provision or a voluntary revenue provision against the general fund will 
reduce the CFR.  The CFR includes items of capital expenditure included in 
the Council’s balance sheet associated with other long term liabilities, such 
as assets held on finance leases, but excluding the underlying liability. 

5.1.8 Table 8 sets out estimates of the Council’s capital financing requirement at 
the end of 2018/19 and the following two financial years.

Page 164



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 25

Table 8: Capital financing requirement
2017/18 Estimate

Approved
£000

Revised
£000

2018/19 
£000

2019/20 
£000

2020/21 
£000

CFR at 1 April 19,637 18,674 20,643 25,460 25,825
CFR at 31 March 20,967 20,643 25,460 25,825 25,843
Movement in CFR 1,330 1,969 4,817 365 18
Represented by:
Unfinanced expenditure   1,975 2,592 5,530 1,307 1,040
Less MRP/VRP (645) (623) (713) (942) (1,022)
Movement in CFR 1,330 1,969 4,817 365 18

Gross debt and the capital financing requirement (CFR)

5.1.9 A fundamental provision of the Prudential Code and a key indicator of 
prudence is that over the medium term, debt will only be for a capital 
purpose.  To ensure this is the case, the Prudential Code requires that gross 
external debt should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital 
financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial 
years. 

5.1.10 This requirement allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. If 
in any of these years there is a reduction in the CFR, this reduction is ignored 
in estimating the cumulative increase in the CFR used for comparison with 
gross external debt. Gross debt refers to the sum of borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities (credit arrangements).

Table 9: Gross debt & the CFR 2018/19

£000

Limit 
2018/19

£000
Forecast CFR at 31 March 2018 20,643
Estimated additional CFR for:
2018/19 (see table 8) 4,817
2019/20 (see table 8) 365
2020/21 (see table 8) 18 5,200
Limit 25,843
Gross Debt 2018/19 (maximum)
Estimated gross debt at 31 March 2018 - existing borrowing 13,464
Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing - 2017/18 3,930
Estimated (maximum) net additional borrowing – 2018/19 5,440
Estimated gross debt 2018/19 22,834
Excess of CFR over gross debt 3,009

Page 165



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 26

5.1.11 At 31 December 2017 the Council was under-borrowed against its capital 
financing requirement by approximately £4.7m. The Council does not 
anticpate any difficulties in complying with this indicator during 2018/19 or the 
following two financial years.

Authorised limit for external debt 

5.1.12 The Authorised Borrowing Limit represents the statutory limit on borrowing 
determined under section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 (Affordable 
Limit). It imposes an upper limit on the Council’s gross external debt 
(excluding investments), separately identifying borrowing (external loans) 
from other long-term liabilities (for example finance lease liabilities). Breach 
of the Affordable Borrowing Limit is prohibited by section 2(1)(a) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.

5.1.13 The Authorised Borrowing Limit is set with reference to the Council’s capital 
expenditure plans, capital financing requirement (or underlying borrowing 
requirement) and the potential need to borrow to meet temporary revenue 
borrowing requirements pending the receipt of amounts due to the Council. 
The Affordable Borrowing Limit also includes headroom over and above the 
Operational Boundary (see below) to accommodate any unusual or 
unforeseen cash movements. The indicator separately identifies limits for 
borrowing and other long-term liabilities.

Table 10: Authorised Limit for External Debt
2017/18 

Limit
£000

2018/19 
Limit
£000

2019/20a 

Limit
£000

2020/21a 
Limit
£000

Borrowing 25,000 28,000 29,000 29,000
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 25,000 28,000 29,000 29,000

a: From 2019/20 the Code of practice on Local authority Accounting is expected to adopt IFRS 16 
Leases. Pending confirmation of this change the impact on the other long-term liabilities component of 
the Authorised Limit for External Debt is not reflected in the reported limits  

Operational boundary for external debt

5.1.14 The Operational Boundary represents the limit beyond which (gross) external 
debt is not expected to exceed. It is based on expectations of the maximum 
external debt of a local authority according to probable events (that is the 
most likely (prudent) but not worst case scenario) and is consistent with the 
maximum level of external debt projected by these estimates. The 
Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s plans for capital 
expenditure, estimates of the capital financing requirement and cash flow 
requirements for the year for all purposes but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit. The indicator separately 
identifies limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities.

Page 166



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 27

Table 11: Operational boundary for external debt
2017/18 

Limit
£000

2018/19 
Limit
£000

2019/20 
Limit
£000

2020/21 
Limit
£000

Borrowing 23,000 26,000 27,000 27,000
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
Total 23,000 26,000 27,000 27,000

a: From 2019/20 the Code of practice on Local authority Accounting is expected to adopt IFRS 16 
Leases. Pending confirmation of this change the impact on the other long-term liabilities component of 
the Operational Boundary for External Debt is not reflected in the reported limits  

5.1.15 Provided that the total Authorised Limit and total Operational Boundary for a 
year is unchanged, the Head of Financial Services has delegated authority to 
make changes to the separately identifiable limits for borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities. Any movement between these separate totals will be 
reported to the next meetings of the Audit Committee and Full Council. 

Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

5.1.16 This indicator of affordability highlights the revenue implications of existing 
and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue 
budget required to meet financing costs (net of interest and investment 
income). 

5.1.17 Estimates of financing costs comprise the aggregate of the following amounts 
included in the Council’s original and revised budgets:

 interest charged to the General Fund with respect to borrowing

 interest payable under finance leases and any other long-term 
liabilities

 premiums and discounts from debt restructuring charged or credited to 
the amount to be met from government grants and local taxpayers  

 interest and investment income

 amounts payable or receivable in respect of financial derivatives

 minimum revenue provision plus any additional voluntary contributions

 any amounts for depreciation/impairment charged to the amount to be 
met from government grants and local taxpayers.

5.1.18 Estimates for net revenue stream for current and future years are taken from 
the Council’s estimates of the amounts to be met from government grants 
and local taxpayers, using the equivalent figures from the original and revised 
budgets.  

Page 167



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 28

Table 12: Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
2017/18 

Approved
%

2017/18 
Revised

%

2018/19 
Estimate

%

2019/20
Estimate

%

2020/21 
Estimate

%
Ratio 10.3 9.5 11.9 14.8 17.8

5.2 Indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 

5.2.1 In addition to the indicators required by the Prudential Code there are also a 
number of treasury indicators required by the Treasury Management Code 
and accompanying sector guidance. These are:

 upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of its borrowing

 upper limits on the total of principal sums invested over 365 days.

5.2.2 These treasury management indicators specify ranges (rather than targets) 
designed to limit the Council’s exposure to liquidity and refinancing risks.  

Upper and lower limits to the maturity structure of borrowing

5.2.3 This indicator highlights potential exposures to refinancing risk arising from 
concentrations of debt falling due for refinancing, and is designed to facilitate 
reductions in the Council’s exposure to refinancing at times of volatile or high 
interest rates.

5.2.4 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period 
as a percentage of total projected borrowing. The maturity of borrowing is 
determined by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require 
payment. 

Table 13: Lower/upper limits on % borrowing maturing in each period
2017/18 2018/19 

 
31.3.17 
Actual 

31.3.18 
forecast Lower 

limit 
Upper 
limit 

Lower 
limit 

Upper 
limit 

 % % % % % %
Under 12 months 1.89 1.97 0 20 0 20
12 months to 2 years 1.71 1.79 0 20 0 20
2 years to 5 years 5.44 5.71 0 20 0 20
5 years to 10 years 10.41 11.00 0 30 0 30
10 years to 20 years 17.20 16.30 0 40 0 40
20 years to 30 years 4.69 3.58 0 40 0 40
30 years to 40 years 51.33 59.65 0 80 0 80
40 years to 45 years 7.33 0 0 80 0 80

Page 168



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 29

Upper limits on total principal invested for periods of more than 365 days

5.2.5 A local authority that invests, or plans to invest, for periods of more than 365 
days is required to set an upper limit for each forward financial year period for 
the maturing of such investments. The purpose of these limits for principal 
sums invested for periods longer than 365 days is for the local authority to 
contain its exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of its 
having to seek early repayment or redemption of principal sums invested.

Table 14: Upper limit on total principal invested for periods of more than 365 
days

2017/18 
Approved

£000

2018/19
Limit
£000

2019/20
Limit
£000

2020/21 
Limit
£000

Principal sums invested > 365 days 20 20 20 20

5.2.6 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its call 
and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits 
(overnight to 6 months). The Council will not invest for periods of more than 
365 days during 2018/19.

Page 169



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 30

6. Appendices 

A. Interest Rate Forecasts 2018 - 2021

B. Economic Background

C. Credit Ratings

Page 170



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 31

Appendix A: Interest Rate Forecasts 2018 – 2021

PWLB rates and forecast shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012.

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View           

 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21
Bank Rate View 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%
3 Month LIBID 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.40% 0.60% 0.60% 0.60% 0.70% 0.90% 0.90% 1.00% 1.20% 1.20% 1.20%
6 Month LIBID 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.60% 0.80% 0.80% 0.80% 0.90% 1.00% 1.00% 1.10% 1.30% 1.30% 1.40%
12 Month LIBID 0.70% 0.80% 0.80% 0.90% 1.00% 1.00% 1.10% 1.10% 1.30% 1.30% 1.40% 1.50% 1.50% 1.60%
5yr PWLB Rate 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.10% 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30%
10yr PWLB Rate 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00%
25yr PWLB Rate 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.50% 3.60% 3.60%
50yr PWLB Rate 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.40%
Bank Rate               
Link Asset Services 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25%
Capital Economics 0.50% 0.50% 0.75% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.50% 1.50% 1.75% - - - - -
5yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.10% 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30%
Capital Economics 1.70% 1.90% 2.30% 2.60% 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% 2.90% - - - - -
10yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 2.10% 2.20% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00%
Capital Economics 2.30% 2.60% 2.80% 3.10% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% 3.30% - - - - -
25yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.50% 3.60% 3.60%
Capital Economics 2.95% 3.15% 3.45% 3.65% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% - - - - -
50yr PWLB Rate               
Link Asset Services 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.40%
Capital Economics 2.80% 3.10% 3.30% 3.60% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% 3.80% - - - - -

P
age 171



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 32

Appendix B: Economic Background 

UK Economy

B.1 After the UK surprised on the upside with strong economic growth in 2016, growth 
in 2017 has confounded pessimistic forecasts of weak growth by coming in at 
1.8%, only marginally down on the 1.9% rate for 2016.; In 2017, quarter 1 came in 
at only +0.3% (+1.8% y/y),  quarter 2 +0.3% (+1.5% y/y), quarter 3 +0.4% (+1.5% 
y/y) and Q4 +0.5% (+1.5% y/y).  

B.2 Underpinning this growth was the strong performance of the manufacturing 
sector which showed a 1.3% increase in Q4 and +3.1% y/y. This level of 
performance was helped by an increase in exports due to the lower value of 
sterling over the last year and robust economic growth in our main trade partners, 
the EU and US. It is also notable that there has been a progressive acceleration in 
total GDP growth during the year which gives ground for optimism looking forward 
into 2018.  

B.3 While the Bank of England is expected to give forward guidance to prepare 
financial markets for gradual changes in policy, the Monetary Policy 
Committee, (MPC), meeting of 14 September 2017, surprised financial markets 
and forecasters by suddenly switching to a much more aggressive tone in 
terms of its words around warning that the Bank Rate will need to rise soon. 
The Bank of England Inflation Reports during 2017 have clearly flagged up that 
it expected CPI inflation to peak at just under 3% in 2017 – as the past 
depreciation of sterling and increases in energy prices pass through to 
consumer prices -  before falling back to near to its target rate of 2% in two 
years’ time. 

B.4 The Bank revised its forecast for the peak to just over 3% at the 14 September 
meeting. (Inflation actually came in at 3.1% in November  the highest since 
March 2012 before falling to 3.0% in Decenber ).  However this marginal 
revision in the Bank’s forecast can hardly justify why the MPC became so 
aggressive with its wording. Instead the focus was on an emerging view that 
with unemployment having already fallen to only 4.3%, the lowest level since 
1975, and improvements in productivity being so weak, the amount of spare 
capacity in the economy was significantly diminishing towards a point at which 
they now needed to take action.

B.5 In addition, the MPC took a more tolerant view of low wage inflation as this now 
looks like a common factor in nearly all western economies as a result of 
automation and globalisation. This means that UK labour faces competition 
from overseas labour for example through outsourcing work to third world 
countries, which in turn depresses the negotioatiing power of UK labour.  
However, the Bank was also concerned that the withdrawal of the UK from the 
EU would effectively lead to a decrease in such globalisation pressures in the 
UK, and so this would cause additional inflationary pressure over the next few 
years.

B.6 At its 2 November meeting, the MPC duly delivered a 0.25% increase in the 
Bank Rate. It also gave forward guidance that they expected to increase the 

Page 172



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 33

Bank Rate only twice more in the next three years to reach 1.0% by 2020.  This 
is, therefore, not quite the ‘one and done’ scenario but is, nevertheless, a very 
relaxed rate of increase prediction in the Bank Rate and in line with previous 
statements that the Bank Rate would only go up very gradually and to a limited 
extent.

B.7 Some forecasters are however flagging up that they expect growth to 
accelerate significantly towards the end of 2017 and then into 2018. This view 
is based primarily on an anticipated fall in inflation, (as the effect the 
depreciation of sterling following the EU referendum drops out of the CPI 
statistics), which will bring to an end the negative impact on consumer 
spending power.  In addition, a strong export performance will compensate for 
weak services sector growth.  If this scenario was to materialise, then the 
likelihood is that the MPC would accelerate its pace of increases in the Bank 
Rate during 2018 and onwards. 

B.8 It is also worth noting the contradiction within the Bank of England between 
action in 2016 and in 2017 by two of its committees. After the shock result of 
the EU referendum, the MPC voted in August 2016 for emergency action to cut 
the Bank Rate from 0.50% to 0.25%, restarting £70bn of QE purchases, and 
also providing UK banks with £100bn of cheap financing. The aim of this was to 
lower borrowing costs, stimulate demand for borrowing and thereby increase 
expenditure and demand in the economy. 

B.9 The MPC felt this was necessary in order to ward off their expectation that 
there would be a sharp slowdown in economic growth.  Instead, the economy 
grew robustly, although the Governor of the Bank of England strongly 
maintained that this was because the MPC took that action.  However, other 
commentators regard this emergency action by the MPC as being proven by 
events to be a mistake.  

B.10 In 2017, we then had the Financial Policy Committee (FPC) of the Bank of 
England taking action in June and September over its concerns that cheap 
borrowing rates, and easy availability of consumer credit, had resulted in too 
rapid a rate of growth in consumer borrowing and in the size of total borrowing, 
especially of unsecured borrowing.  It therefore took punitive action to clamp 
down on the ability of the main banks to extend such credit. Indeed, a PWC 
report in October 2017 warned that credit card, car and personal loans and 
student debt will hit the equivalent of an average of £12,500 per household by 
2020.  

B.11 However, averages belie wide variations in levels of debt with much higher 
exposure being biased towards younger people, especially the 25 to 34 year 
old band, reflecting their lower levels of real income and asset ownership.

B.12 One key area of risk is that consumers may have become used to cheap rates 
since 2008 for borrowing, especially for mortgages.  It is a major concern that 
some consumers may have over extended their borrowing and have become 
complacent about interest rates going up after the Bank Rate had been 
unchanged at 0.50% since March 2009 until falling further to 0.25% in August 
2016. This is why forward guidance from the Bank of England continues to 

Page 173



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 34

emphasise slow and gradual increases in the Bank Rate in the coming years.  
However, consumer borrowing is a particularly vulnerable area in terms of the 
MPC getting the pace and strength of Bank Rate increases right - without 
causing a sudden shock to consumer demand, confidence and thereby to the 
pace of economic growth.

B.13 Moreover, while there is so much uncertainty around the Brexit negotiations, 
consumer confidence, and business confidence to spend on investing, it is far 
too early to be confident about how the next two to three years will actually pan 
out.

USA 

B.14 Growth in the American economy was notably erratic and volatile in 2015 and 
2016.  2017 started erratically with quarter 1 coming in at an annualised rate of 
only 1.2%, quarter 2 at 3.1%, quarter 3, 3.2% and Q4, 2.6%.  This gave an 
overall figure for annual growth in 2017 of 2.6%, an acceleration from 1.5% in 
2016.  Unemployment in the US has also fallen to the lowest level for many 
years, reaching 4.1%, while wage inflation pressures, and inflationary 
pressures in general, have been building. 

B.15 The Federal Reserve (the Fed.) has started on a gradual upswing in rates with 
five increases in all and four increases since December 2016. A rise of 25 basis 
points in December 2017 lifted the central rate to 1.25 – 1.50%. Forward 
guidance signalled there could then be another four increases in 2018.  At its 
September meeting, the Fed said it would start in October to gradually unwind 
its $4.5 trillion balance sheet holdings of bonds and mortgage backed securities 
by reducing its reinvestment of maturing holdings.

Eurozone

B.16 Economic growth in the Eurozone (EZ), (the UK’s biggest trading partner), had 
been lack lustre for several years after the financial crisis despite the ECB 
eventually cutting its main rate to -0.4% and embarking on a massive 
programme of Quantitative Easing.  However, growth picked up in 2016 and 
has now gathered substantial strength and momentum thanks to this stimulus.  
GDP growth was 0.6% in quarter 1 (2.0% y/y), 0.7% in quarter 2 (2.3% y/y) and 
+0.6% in quarter 3 (2.5% y/y). 

B.17 However, despite providing massive monetary stimulus, the European Central 
Bank is still struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target and in December 
inflation was 1.4%. It is therefore unlikely to start on an upswing in rates until 
possibly 2019. It has, however, announced that it will slow down its monthly QE 
purchases of debt from €60bn to €30bn from January 2018 and continue to at 
least September 2018.  

Asia

B.18 Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite 
repeated rounds of central bank stimulus. This has, in turn, been denting 
economic growth in emerging market countries dependent on exporting raw 

Page 174



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 35

materials to China. Medium term risks have also been increasing. These 
include a dangerous build up in the level of credit compared to the size of GDP 
and a need to address the level of non-performing loans in the banking and 
credit systems. In addition, major progress still needs to be made to eliminate 
excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property and address the 
level of non-performing loans in the banking and credit systems.

B.19 GDP growth in Japan has been gradually improving during 2017 reaching an 
annual figure of 2.1% in quarter 3. However it is still struggling to get inflation 
up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. The 
Japanese government is also making little progress on fundamental reforms of 
the economy.

Global Outlook 

B.20 World growth looks to be on an encouraging trend of stronger performance, rising 
earnings and falling levels of unemployment.  In October 2017, the IMF upgraded 
its forecast for world growth from 3.2% to 3.6% for 2017 and 3.7% for 2018.  In 
addition, inflation prospects are generally muted and it is particularly notable that 
wage inflation has been subdued despite unemployment falling to historically very 
low levels in the UK and US. 

Central bank monetary policy measures

B.21 Following the financial crash of 2008, when liquidity suddenly dried up in financial 
markets, central bank sought to counter the recessionary impact of this through a 
combination of lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with 
liquidity, particularly through unconventional means such as Quantitative Easing 
(QE) where central banks bought large amounts of central government debt and 
smaller sums of other debt.

B.22 The key issue now is that the period of stimulating economic recovery and warding 
off the threat of deflation is coming towards its close and a new period has already 
started in the US, and more recently, in the UK, on reversing those measures i.e. 
by raising central rates and (for the US) reducing central banks’ holdings of 
government and other debt. 

B.23. These measures are now required in order to stop the trend of an on-going 
reduction in spare capacity in the economy, and of unemployment falling to such 
low levels that the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major risk.  It is, 
therefore, crucial that central banks get their timing right and do not cause shocks 
to market expectations that could destabilise financial markets.  In particular, a key 
risk is that because QE-driven purchases of bonds drove up the price of 
government debt, and therefore caused a sharp drop in income yields, this then 
also encouraged investors into a search for yield and into investing in riskier assets 
such as equities.

B.24 This resulted in bond and equity market prices rising to historically high valuation 
levels simultaneously. This, therefore, makes both asset categories vulnerable to a 
sharp correction. It is important, therefore, that central banks only gradually unwind 
their holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the financial markets. It is 

Page 175



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 36

also likely that the timeframe for central banks unwinding their holdings of QE debt 
purchases will be over several years. They need to balance their timing to avoid 
damaging economic growth by taking too rapid and/or too strong action, or, 
alternatively, letting inflation run away by taking action that was too slow and/or too 
weak. The potential for central banks to get this timing and strength of action wrong 
are now key risks. 

B.25 There is also a potential key question over whether economic growth has become 
too dependent on strong central bank stimulus and whether it will maintain its 
momentum against a backdrop of rising interest rates and the reversal of QE. In the 
UK, a key vulnerability is the low level of productivity growth, which may be the 
main driver for increases in wages; and decreasing consumer disposable income, 
which is important in the context of consumer expenditure primarily underpinning 
UK GDP growth.

B.26 A further question that has come to the fore is whether an inflation target for central 
banks of 2%, is now realistic given the shift down in inflation pressures from 
internally generated inflation, (i.e. wage inflation feeding through into the national 
economy). Some economists favour a shift to a lower inflation target of 1% to 
emphasise the need to keep the lid on inflation. Alternatively, it is possible that a 
central bank could simply ‘look through’ tepid wage inflation, (i.e. ignore the overall 
2% inflation target), in order to take action in raising rates sooner than might 
otherwise be expected. 

B.27 However, other economists would argue for a shift up in the inflation target to 3% in 
order to ensure that central banks place the emphasis on maintaining economic 
growth through adopting a slower pace of withdrawal of stimulus. In addition, there 
is a strong argument that central banks should target financial market stability. As 
mentioned previously, bond markets and equity markets could be vulnerable to a 
sharp correction. There has been much commentary that, since 2008, QE has 
caused massive distortions, imbalances and bubbles in asset prices, both financial 
and non-financial. Consequently, there are widespread concerns over the potential 
for such bubbles to be burst by exuberant central bank action. On the other hand, 
too slow or weak action would allow these imbalances and distortions to continue 
or to even inflate them further.

B.28 Consumer debt levels are also at historically high levels due to the prolonged 
period of low cost of borrowing since the financial crash. In turn, this cheap 
borrowing has meant other non-financial asset prices, particularly house prices, 
have been driven up to very high levels, especially compared to income levels. Any 
sharp downturn in the availability of credit, or increase in the cost of credit, could 
potentially destabilise the housing market and generate a sharp downturn in house 
prices.  This could then have a destabilising effect on consumer confidence, 
consumer expenditure and GDP growth. However, no central bank would accept 
that it ought to have responsibility for specifically targeting house prices. 

Page 176



TMSS, Investment Strategy & MRP policy 2018-2019

Page 37

Appendix C: Credit Ratings 

International long-term credit ratings

Fitch Moody’s Standard 
& Poor’s

Definition  Permitted 
counter-

party

Investment Grade
AAA Aaa AAA Highest quality/Best quality/Extremely strong Yes
AA Aa AA Very high quality/High quality/Very strong Yes
A A A High quality/Upper medium grade/Strong Yes*

BBB Baa BBB Good quality/Medium grade/Adequate No
Non-investment/speculative grade

BB Ba BB Speculative/Lower medium grade/Speculative – 
Less vulnerable No

B B B Highly speculative/Low grade/More vulnerable No
CCC Caa CCC Poor quality/Currently vulnerable No

CC Ca CC High default risk/Highly speculative/Currently 
highly vulnerable No

C C C High default risk/Extremely poor/Imminent 
default No

D D In default No
*except non UK sovereigns

Note: Fitch Ratings and Standard and Poor’s ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of 
a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories. Moody’s append 
numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa to denote relative 
status.

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 178



Treasury Management 
Policy Statement

Sub-heading 17pt Arial Bold

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 179



Treasury Policy Statement

Page 2

Introduction 

(i) The Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and 
Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes (2017 Edition) (the Treasury Code) 
recommends that public service organisations put in place formal and 
comprehensive objectives, policies and practices, strategies and reporting 
arrangements for the effective management and control of their treasury 
management activities.

(ii) The policy statement which follows sets out the Council’s policies, objectives 
and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities. The 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives, and prescribes how it will manage and control its treasury activities 
are set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices (TMPs).

(iii) The content of the Council’s policy statement follows the recommendations 
contained in sections 6 of the Treasury Code subject only to amendments 
necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of this Council. These 
amendments will not result in the organisation materially deviating from the 
Code’s key principles. 

Date of publication: February 2018
Review date: February 2019

Page 180



Treasury Policy Statement

Page 3

1. This Council defines its treasury management activities as:

The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.

2. This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 
activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation and 
any financial instruments entered into to manage these risks.

3. This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is 
therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury 
management, and to employing suitable comprehensive performance 
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.

4. The Council’s primary policy objective in relation to its investment activity is the 
security of principal sums it invests in priority to liquidity (second) and yield (third). 
The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with the proper levels of security and liquidity and its risk appetite. 
Yield will only determine investment decisions when deciding between two or 
more investments satisfying security and liquidity objectives.

5. The Council will seek to minimise the cost of borrowing and create stability and 
certainty of its debt servicing costs whilst retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility 
to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or 
structure of interest rates. The Council will achieve this through the prudent use of 
fixed-rate and variable rate debt instruments. It will also seek to take advantage of 
opportunities to reschedule its debt portfolio to generate savings in interest costs 
and address risk exposures.

6. The Council will set an affordable borrowing limit each year in compliance with the 
Local Government Act 2003, and will have regard to the CIPFA Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance in Local Authorities when setting that limit. The Council will 
only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so 
and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt 
maturities.

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services
February 2018 

Treasury Management Policy Statement 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 182



 Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Members’ Allowances 2018/19

The Reason for the Decision To consider the recommendations of the 
Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances to 
set a Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2018/19.

Summary of options considered For the Council to agree the recommendations of 
the Independent Panel for Councillors 
Allowances. 

For the Council not to agree the 
recommendations of the Independent Panel, 
instead choosing to forgo changes to the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme or to form its own 
changes.

Recommendations 1. That the report and recommendations of the 
Panel be endorsed as Appendix 1.

2. That the Members’ Allowances Scheme 
2018/19 be approved as Appendix 2.

3. That the allowances paid to the Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor of Allerdale remain set at 
£7,071 and £507 respectively.

Financial/Resource Implications The cost of Members’ allowances in 2017/18 is 
£273,165.

It is anticipated that the Independent Panel’s 
recommended changes to the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme would increase the cost in 
2018/19 by £6,275 (increasing the cost to 
£279,440).

The budget provision for Members’ allowances is 
£272,250. An increase to the budget of £7,190 
would be required (increasing the budget to 
£279,440).

Legal Implications In accordance with the Local Government Act 
2000 and The Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 the 
Council has a duty to have regard to the 
recommendations of the Independent Panel 

Page 183

Agenda Item 15



before agreeing or amending its allowances and 
allowances scheme.

Community Safety Implications There are no community safety implications.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no health and safety and risk 
management implications.

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

The Equality Duty has been considered.

Wards Affected All Wards

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

This recommendation is a statutory requirement 
which aims to promote transparency in local 
democracy.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor J Ellis / Councillor B Cannon

Lead Officer Dean Devine
Democratic and Support Services Officer
01900 702556
dean.devine@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background Papers

Local Government Act 2000
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003
Sections 3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Report of the Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances
Appendix 2 – Members’ Allowances Scheme 2018/19

Page 184

mailto:dean.devine@allerdale.gov.uk


1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances carried out a full review of 
Members’ Allowances in January 2016.

1.2 The Members’ Allowances Scheme 2017/18 was agreed by Council on 18 
January 2017 and came into effect on 1 April 2017.

1.3 The Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances carried out a review of the 
Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme on 29 January 2018. The report of 
the Independent Panel including its recommendations is attached at Appendix 
1.

1.4 In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003, Councillors are requested to consider the 
recommendations of the Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances.

1.5 Councillors are not obliged to accept the recommendations of the Panel; 
however, if they choose not to do so, they must provide reasons. As this is the 
last Council meeting before 1 April 2019, when the scheme must be made by, 
the Council would be unable to re-submit the recommendations to the 
Independent Panel for reconsideration.

1.6 If the Council is minded to make its own amendments to the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme, it must be clear in stating its reasons so as to withstand 
public scrutiny.

1.7 Councillors are also requested to consider the allowances paid under sections 
3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972 to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor.

1.8 In addition, Councillors are requested to agree the new Members’ Allowances 
Scheme for 2018/19 attached at Appendix 2. Should the Panel’s 
recommendations with regard to the increase to the Leader of the Council, 
Deputy Leader of the Council and member of the Executive allowances be 
agreed, the Scheme will be amended when the pay offer for council 
employees is accepted. 

1.9 A summary of the Independent Panel’s recommendations contained in 
Appendix 1 is as follows:

 That the Basic Allowance be increased from £3,166.65 to £3,266.65.

 That the Basic Allowance payable to Parish Councillors remain set at 
nil percent of the sum of the Basic Allowance paid to Allerdale Borough 
Councillors.

 That the allowance payable to the Leader of the Council be increased 
by an amount equal to 1% less than the final negotiated pay settlement 
for council employees, not to go lower than 0%.

Page 185



 That the allowance payable to the Deputy Leader of the Council be 
increased by an amount equal to 1% less than the final negotiated pay 
settlement for council employees, not to go lower than 0%.

 That the allowance payable to members of the Executive be increased 
by an amount equal to 1% less than the final negotiated pay settlement 
for council employees, not to go lower than 0%.

 That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Development Panel 
remain set at £4,500.00.

 That the allowance payable to Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee remain set at £2,720.71.

 That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Licensing 
Committee remain set at £2,992.78.

 That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
remain set at £2,720.71.

 That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Standards 
Committee remain set at £2,720.71.

 That the allowance payable to the Leader of the Opposition remain set 
at £2,720.71.

 That the rates for Travel Allowance for councillors remain set as 
follows:

Cars and vans:

First 10,000 miles: 45p
Above 10,000 miles: 25p

Motorcycles:

First 10,000 miles: 24p
Above 10,000 miles: 24p

Bikes:

First 10,000 miles: 20p
Above 10,000 miles: 20p

 That the levels of Subsistence Allowance for councillors remain set as 
follows:

Page 186



Breakfast - an absence of more than 4 hours before 11.00 am:

£6.95

Lunch - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 
12 noon and 2:00 pm:

£9.50

Tea - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 3 
pm and 6 pm:

£0.00

Evening Meal - an absence of more than 4 hours ending after 7 pm:

£13.15

 That the rates for Travel Allowance payable to co-opted members of 
the Council remain set as follows:

Cars and vans:

First 10,000 miles: 45p
Above 10,000 miles: 25p

Motorcycles:

First 10,000 miles: 24p
Above 10,000 miles: 24p

Bikes:

First 10,000 miles: 20p
Above 10,000 miles: 20p

 That the levels of Subsistence Allowance payable to co-opted 
members of the Council remain set as follows:

Breakfast - an absence of more than 4 hours before 11.00 am:

£6.95

Lunch - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 
12 noon and 2:00 pm:

£9.50

Page 187



Tea - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 3 
pm and 6 pm:

£0.00

Evening Meal - an absence of more than 4 hours ending after 7 pm:

£13.15

 That the Telephone Allowance remain included in the Basic Allowance 
payable to all Members of the Council.

 That the Broadband Allowance remain included in the Basic Allowance 
payable to all Members of the Council.

 That the Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance remain in the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme payable at the full receipted rate from a registered 
carer and limited to 8 hours per week.

 That no Special Responsibility Allowances be superannuated.

 That a Co-Optees’ Allowance not be included in the Scheme of 
Allowances.

2.0 Mayor and Deputy Mayor Allowances

2.1 Sections 3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972 allow the Council to pay 
the Mayor and Deputy Mayor an allowance such as the council think 
reasonable.

2.2 The Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances reviewed the levels of 
allowances paid to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of Allerdale.

2.3 The Panel undertook to review these allowances and recommends that the 
allowances paid to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of Allerdale remain set at 
£7,071 and £507 respectively.

3.0 Finance/Resource Implications

3.1 The cost of Members’ allowances in 2017/18 is £273,165.

3.2 It is anticipated that the Independent Panel’s recommended changes to the 
Members’ Allowances Scheme would increase the cost in 2018/19 by £6,275 
(increasing the cost to £279,440).

3.3 The budget provision for Members’ allowances is £272,250, an increase to 
the budget of £7,190 would be required (increasing the budget to £279,440).

Page 188



4.0 Legal Implications and Risks

4.1 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities 
(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, the Council is required 
to establish and maintain an Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances to 
make independent recommendations to Council on the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme.  The Council has a duty to have regard to the recommendations of 
the Independent Panel before agreeing or amending its allowances scheme.

5.0 Recommendations

5.1 That the report and recommendations of the Panel be endorsed as
 Appendix 1.

5.2 That the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2018/19 be approved as Appendix 2.

5.3 That the allowances paid to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of Allerdale remain 
set at £7,071 and £507 respectively.

6.0 Conclusion

6.1 Councillors are requested to consider the Independent Panel Report attached as 
Appendix 1 and the recommendations therein.

Brendan Carlin
Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 190



Appendix 1

Review of the Members’ Allowances Scheme 
for Allerdale Borough Council 
2018/19

A report by the Independent Panel for 
Councillors Allowances

Page 191



1.0 Introduction

The Local Government Act 2000 and The Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require local authorities to set up an 
Independent Panel to review Members’ allowances and for the Council to 
have regard to the Panel’s recommendations before amending its Scheme of 
Allowances.

The Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances carried out a full review of 
Members’ Allowances between October 2015 and January 2016 and made 
recommendations to Council on a Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2016/17.

At its meeting on 20 January 2016 the Council fully endorsed the 
recommendations of the Independent Panel and agreed the Scheme of 
Allowances for 2016/17.

The Independent Panel since carried out a review in December 2016, making 
recommendations to the Council on a Members’ Allowances Scheme for 
2017/18.

At the Council meeting on 18 January 2017 the Council again fully endorsed 
the Independent Panel’s recommendations, agreeing its Scheme of 
Allowances for 2017/18.

2.0 Membership of the Panel

The Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances is made up of the following 
persons:

Richard Askew
Chris Nattress
Phil Robinson
Keith Teasdale

The full Panel was present on 29 January 2018, when the review of the 
Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2018/19 was carried out.

The Panel was supported by the following officers during its review:

Dean Devine – Acting Democratic and Support Services Manager
Kathryn Magnay – Acting Democratic and Support Services Officer
Ian Frost – Chief Executive
Brendan Carlin – Acting Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer

3.0 Terms of Reference for the Review

The Panel’s terms of reference for the review were in accordance with The 
Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. Those 
requirements are to make recommendations to the Council as to:

Page 192



a) The amount of basic allowance payable to all Councillors.

b) The responsibilities, roles or duties where a special responsibility 
allowance should be payable and the amount of such allowances.

c) Whether a co-optees’ allowance should be payable and the amount of 
such allowance.

d) Whether a dependants’ carers’ allowance should be payable and the 
amount of such allowance.

e) The amount of any travelling and subsistence allowance which should 
be payable to councillors and co-opted members.

f) Whether payment of allowances may be backdated in cases where a 
scheme is amended at a time which would affect allowances payable in 
that year.

g) Whether adjustments to the level of allowances may be determined 
according to an index, and which index and for how long before its use 
is reviewed (subject to a maximum of 4 years).

h) Which councillors are to be entitled to pensions in accordance with a 
scheme made under section 7 of the Superannuation Act 1972(a) and 
whether basic allowance or special responsibility allowance, or both, 
may be treated as amounts in respect of which such pensions are 
payable in accordance with such a scheme.

In addition to the above requirements, the Panel also set out to review the 
level of allowances payable to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of Allerdale.

4.0 Members’ Allowances Scheme Review 2017/18

The Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances was convened on 29 
January 2018 to carry out a review of Allerdale Borough Council’s Members’ 
Allowances Scheme for 2018/19.

The Panel was provided with the following information for its review:

 The Council’s budget provision for Members’ allowances 2017/18 
(£272,250.00)

 Comparisons of the Council’s Basic, Special Responsibility and 
Mayor/Deputy Mayor Allowances against the allowances paid by other 
councils selected through the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Nearest Neighbours Model

 Comparisons of the Council’s Basic, Special Responsibility and 
Mayor/Deputy Allowances against the allowances paid by other 
councils within Cumbria

 Information on the Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance which was 
introduced to the Members’ Allowances Scheme in 2016/17

Page 193



 Information on the Travel and Subsistence Allowances
 Information on changes in roles and responsibilities of the Council’s 

Members, including its Portfolio Holders, committees and chairmen

4.1 Members’ Allowances Scheme Comparisons (CIPFA)

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Nearest 
Neighbours Model measures the similarity between authorities through a 
number of variables. The English local authority model was updated in 2014.

Allerdale Borough Council’s five nearest neighbours in terms of statistical 
distance were determined through benchmarking the following variables 
between the Council and other local authorities in England:

 Population
 Area
 Output Area Density
 Output Area Based sparsity
 Tax base per head of population
 % Unemployment
 Retail premises per 1,000 population
 Housing benefit caseload (Percentage of population in recipient)
 % of people born outside UK and Ireland
 % of households with less than 4 rooms
 % of households in social rented accommodation
 % of persons in lower NS-SEC (Social groups)
 Standardised morbidity ratio for all persons
 Authorities with a coast
 Authorities prone to flooding
 Non-Domestic rateable value per head of population
 % of properties in Bands A to D
 % of properties in Bands E to H
 Area cost adjustment (other services block)
 Number of Households

The Council’s five nearest neighbours were determined as follows (in order of 
statistical distance):

 North Devon Council
 North Norfolk District Council
 Waveney District Council
 Sedgemoor District Council
 Newark and Sherwood District Council

Page 194



The Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme to its nearest neighbours’ 
schemes. The following allowances were compared:

 Basic Allowance
 Leader of the Council
 Deputy Leader of the Council
 Executive Member
 Chairman of the Development Panel
 Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
 Chairman of the Licensing Committee
 Chairman of the Audit Committee
 Chairman of the Standards Committee
 Leader of the Opposition
 Mayor
 Deputy Mayor

4.2 Members’ Allowances Scheme Comparisons (Neighbouring Councils)

The Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme was compared to the schemes 
of its following neighbouring councils in Cumbria:

 Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council
 Carlisle City Council
 Copeland Borough Council
 Cumbria County Council
 Eden District Council
 South Lakeland District Council

The same allowances for responsibilities were compared as those compared 
to the Council’s nearest statistical neighbours.

4.3 Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance

A dependants’ carers’ allowance was introduced into the Council’s Members’ 
Allowances Scheme in 2016/17. The allowance entitles Councillors to claim 
for the expenses of arranging for the care of their children or dependants 
incurred in carrying out their duties. The allowance is paid at the full receipted 
rate from a registered carer and is limited to 8 hours per week.

This allowance has not yet been claimed for since its introduction on 1 April 
2016.

4.4 Travel / Subsistence Allowances

The level of Travel Allowance provided in the Council’s Members’ Allowances 
Scheme is set at the HM Revenue and Customs approved rates for business 
mileage for employees’ own vehicles.

Page 195



The Members’ Allowances Scheme sets out the list of approved duties where 
travel and subsistence allowances may be claimed.

The current rates for Subsistence Allowance are set out in the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme 2017/18. These are in line with the subsistence rates for 
the Council’s members of staff.

4.5 Changes in Roles and Responsibilities

The Independent Panel was provided with information on changes in roles 
and responsibilities of the Council’s Members. This included information on 
Portfolio Holders, Chairmen and information on committees, namely the 
Executive, Development Panel, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Licensing Committee.

5.0 Recommendations to Council

5.1 Basic Allowance

When the Panel carried out its full review on the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme in January 2016, it recommended that the Basic Allowance be 
increased by £100 and that this be reviewed annually with a view to increase 
the allowance by a further £100 each year over a five year period.

The Council agreed this initial increase of £100 in its Scheme of Allowances 
for 2016/17. Keeping with this, the Panel recommended a further increase of 
£100 for the 2017/18 Scheme of Allowances. Council also agreed this 
recommendation.

The Panel did not consider there was any need to deviate from what it had 
originally agreed and recommends a further increase of £100 to the Basic 
Allowance.

Recommended: 

That the Basic Allowance be increased from £3,166.65 to £3,266.65.

5.2 Basic Allowance Payable to Parish Councillors

The current Members’ Allowances Scheme does not make provision for a 
Basic Allowance payable to members of a parish or town council.

The Panel did not consider any changes to this allowance.

Recommended:

That the Basic Allowance payable to Parish Councillors remain set at nil 
percent of the sum of the Basic Allowance paid to Allerdale Borough 
Councillors.

Page 196



5.3 Leader of the Council

The Panel noted there were no significant changes to the Leader of the 
Council portfolio.

There has not been an increase to this allowance in some years and it is 
considered that the allowance should be increased to recognise inflation.

The Panel deliberated as to what to increase the allowance by. It was noted 
that the pay offer for council employees was currently 2%, but that this was 
being balloted by the unions. The Panel did not see the allowance in the same 
light as a salary and hence would not directly connect the two in equal 
amounts. After some consideration, the Panel proposes that the allowance 
payable to the Leader of the Council be increased by an amount equal to 1% 
less than the final negotiated pay settlement for council employees, not to go 
lower than 0%.

This will be reviewed again next year.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to the Leader of the Council be increased by an 
amount equal to 1% less than the final negotiated pay settlement for council 
employees, not to go lower than 0%.

5.4 Deputy Leader of the Council

The allowance payable to the Deputy Leader of the Council has also not been 
increased in some time.

As there is a clear link between the Leader of the Council and Deputy Leader 
of the Council roles, the Panel also proposes that the allowance payable to 
the Deputy Leader of the Council be increased by an amount equal to 1% less 
than the final negotiated pay settlement for council employees, not to go lower 
than 0%.

This allowance will also be reviewed again next year.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to the Deputy Leader of the Council be increased 
by an amount equal to 1% less than the final negotiated pay settlement for 
council employees, not to go lower than 0%.

5.5 Members of the Executive

The Leader of the Council, Deputy Leader of the Council and member of the 
Executive roles each have high levels of responsibility and the Panel regarded 
the roles in the same light. The Executive roles are the delegation of the 
Leader.

Page 197



The Panel has proposed an increase to the Leader and Deputy Leader 
allowances and proposes the same for the member of the Executive 
allowance due to the clear link between these roles. It proposes that the 
allowance payable to members of the Executive be increased by an amount 
equal to 1% less than the final negotiated pay settlement for council 
employees, not to go lower than 0%.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to members of the Executive be increased by an 
amount equal to 1% less than the final negotiated pay settlement for council 
employees, not to go lower than 0%.

5.6 Chairman of the Development Panel

The Panel extensively looked at the Chairman of the Development Panel role 
during its last two reviews of the Members’ Allowances Scheme. The 
allowance was increased significantly in 2016/17 and then again in 2017/18.

The level of allowance is now comparable to other authorities.

Further information was provided on the role, as was requested when the 
Panel last reviewed allowances.

In light of the allowance being significantly increased over the last two years 
and upon consideration of the information received the Panel does not believe 
a further increase is warranted and proposes that the level of allowance 
payable to the Chairman of the Development Panel remain at £4,500.00.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Development Panel 
remain set at £4,500.00.

5.7 Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Panel noted that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee structure had 
been reviewed and that it now consisted of one committee, down from two.

Information was provided on the new structure. There was not enough 
evidence to show that the levels of responsibility or accountability of the two 
chairmen had significantly changed and upon that the Panel propose that the 
level of allowance payable to Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee remain set at £2,720.71.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee remain set at £2,720.71.

Page 198



5.8 Chairman of the Licensing Committee

The level of allowance payable to the Chairman of the Licensing Committee 
was slightly increased in 2016/17.

At the last review it was noted that the Licensing Committee structure was 
under review. In light of this the Panel asked for information on any changes 
to the structure for this this review.

It was noted that since the last review there have been no changes to the 
Licensing Committee structure and so the Panel does not propose any 
changes to the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Licensing 
Committee.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Licensing Committee 
remain set at £2,992.78.

5.9 Chairman of the Audit Committee

Since the last review there have been no changes to the role or workload of 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Panel is not proposing any 
changes to this allowance.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Audit Committee remain 
set at £2,720.71.

5.10 Chairman of the Standards Committee

Since the last review there have been no changes to the role of the Chairman 
of the Standards Committee and no evidence was provided to suggest that 
the workload is any different. The Panel proposes that this allowance remain 
set at its current level.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to the Chairman of the Standards Committee 
remain set at £2,720.71.

5.11 Leader of the Opposition

The Panel considered this allowance in detail at its review for 2016 and the 
Council agreed the Panel’s recommendation to set the level of allowance at 
£2,720.71 and that this be paid only to the leader of the main opposition 
group.

Page 199



Since this was agreed the Panel has not received any information to suggest 
that this allowance needs to be changed and therefore proposes it remain set 
at its current level.

Recommended:

That the allowance payable to the Leader of the Opposition remain set at 
£2,720.71.

5.12 Mayor and Deputy Mayor

The Panel recognises that the role of the Mayor is hands-on and is not just a 
ceremonial role. The role of the Deputy Mayor is more ceremonial, covering 
for the Mayor with attendance at events; however, this might also result in the 
Deputy Mayor needing to cover other duties of the Mayor such as chairing 
Council meetings.

The Panel proposes that these allowances remain set at their current levels.

Recommended:

That:

The allowance payable to the Mayor of Allerdale remain set at £7,071.00.

The allowance payable to the Deputy Mayor of Allerdale remain set at 
£507.00.

5.13 Travel Allowance

The levels of travel allowance for councillors and co-opted members are in 
line with the HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) approved rates for business 
travel mileage for employees’ own vehicles. The council is also proposing that 
these be the rates set for its employees.

The Panel is satisfied with the current levels of travel allowance and proposes 
they remain set at these levels.

Recommended:

That the rates for Travel Allowance for councillors remain set as follows:

 Cars and vans:

First 10,000 miles: 45p
Above 10,000 miles: 25p

Page 200



 Motorcycles:

First 10,000 miles: 24p
Above 10,000 miles: 24p

 Bikes:

First 10,000 miles: 20p
Above 10,000 miles: 20p

5.14 Subsistence Allowance

The levels of subsistence allowance were increased when the Council last 
amended its Members’ Allowances Scheme, to bring them in line with the 
proposals being made at the time to the levels of subsistence allowance for 
employees.

As the allowance was recently increased to satisfactory levels the Panel is not 
proposing any changes to it.

Recommended:

That the levels of Subsistence Allowance for councillors remain set as follows:

 Breakfast - an absence of more than 4 hours before 11.00 am:

£6.95

 Lunch - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 
12 noon and 2:00 pm:

£9.50

 Tea - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 3 
pm and 6 pm:

£0.00

 Evening Meal - an absence of more than 4 hours ending after 7 pm:

£13.15

5.15 Travel and Subsistence Allowances for Co-opted Members

Co-opted members benefit from the same levels of Travel and Subsistence 
Allowances as the Council’s Members through the Scheme of Allowances. No 
changes are proposed to these allowances for councillors and therefore no 
changes are proposed to the allowances for co-optees.

Page 201



Recommended:

That the rates for Travel Allowance payable to co-opted members of the 
Council remain set as follows:

 Cars and vans:

First 10,000 miles: 45p
Above 10,000 miles: 25p

 Motorcycles:

First 10,000 miles: 24p
Above 10,000 miles: 24p

 Bikes:

First 10,000 miles: 20p
Above 10,000 miles: 20p

That the levels of Subsistence Allowance payable to co-opted members of the 
Council remain set as follows:

 Breakfast - an absence of more than 4 hours before 11.00 am:

£6.95

 Lunch - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 
12 noon and 2:00 pm:

£9.50

 Tea - an absence of more than 4 hours, including the period between 3 
pm and 6 pm:

£0.00

 Evening Meal - an absence of more than 4 hours ending after 7 pm:

£13.15

5.16 Telephone Allowance

The current Basic Allowance payable to all Members of the Council is 
inclusive of landline and mobile phone expenses.

Recommended:

That the Telephone Allowance remain included in the Basic Allowance 
payable to all Members of the Council.

Page 202



5.17 Broadband Allowance

The current Basic Allowance payable to all Members of the Council is 
inclusive of broadband expenses.

Recommended:

That the Broadband Allowance remain included in the Basic Allowance 
payable to all Members of the Council.

5.18 Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance

Since the introduction of the Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance there has been 
no uptake. However, the Panel considers it important that this allowance 
remains included in the Scheme of Allowances, should there be a need for it.

Recommended:

That the Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance remain in the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme payable at the full receipted rate from a registered carer and limited 
to 8 hours per week.

5.19 Local Government Pension Scheme

The current Members’ Allowances Scheme does not make provision for 
Special Responsibility Allowances to be superannuated.

Recommended:

That no Special Responsibility Allowances be superannuated.

5.20 Co-optees’ Allowance

The current scheme does not provide for a co-optees’ allowance. The Panel 
did not consider any changes to this.

Recommended:

That a Co-Optees’ Allowance not be included in the Scheme of Allowances.

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 204



Appendix 2

Allerdale Borough Council
Members’ Allowances Scheme 2018/19

Allerdale Borough Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by The Local 
Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, hereby make the 
following scheme:

1. This scheme may be cited as the Allerdale Borough Council Members 
Allowances Scheme, and shall apply to the year commencing 1 April 
2018.

2. In this scheme:

“Councillor” means a member of Allerdale Borough Council who is a 
Councillor

“year” means the 12 month period ending with 31 March

“co-opted member” means a person who is not a member of the Council 
but who is a member of a committee or sub-committee of the Council.

Basic Allowance

Basic Allowance which is payable to all Councillors as a standard payment is 
intended to recognise the time Councillors devote to their role as a Councillor, 
including such inevitable calls on their time as meetings with constituents and 
political group meetings and also to cover incidental costs, such as use of their 
homes, for which no other provision is made. 

The Basic Allowance is inclusive of Councillors’ landline and mobile phone 
expenses, including broadband expenses.

The amount of Basic Allowance for a full year is specified in Schedule 1 of the 
Scheme.  Part year entitlements (for those who become or cease to be Councillors 
during the year), are calculated pro rata on a daily basis.

Special Responsibility Allowance 

The Council provides for Special Responsibility Allowances for Councillors who have 
special responsibilities in relation to the Council’s functions such as, Leader of the 
Council, Deputy Leader of the Council, Executive member, Chair of a Committee or 
Leader of a Minority Group.  Where there is more than one Political Group at least 
one Special Responsibility Allowance must be made available to a Councillor of a 
Minority Group.

The current list of approved Special Responsibility Allowances is listed in Schedule 1 
of the Scheme.  Part year entitlements (for those assuming or relinquishing a 
position of special responsibility during the year) are calculated pro rata on a daily 
basis.

Page 205



Co-opted Members’ Travel Allowance

Co-opted members are entitled to claim travel allowance at the following rates: 

Cars and vans:

 First 10,000 miles: 45p
 Above 10,000 miles: 25p

Motorcycles:

 First 10,000 miles: 24p
 Above 10,000 miles: 24p

Co-opted Members’ Cycling Allowance

Travel by bicycle will be reimbursed at 20p per mile.

Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance

Councillors may claim a dependants’ carers’ allowance which will be paid at the full 
receipted rate from a registered carer, limited to 8 hours per week.

Travel and Subsistence

Councillors and Co-opted Members may claim travelling and subsistence expenses 
undertaken in connection with or relating to those duties specified as an approved 
duty at Schedule 2 Part 1, in accordance with Regulation 8 of the Local Authorities 
(Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The rate of travelling and 
subsistence are set out in Schedule 2 Part 2. 

Town/Parish Councillor Allowances

There is no provision in this scheme for allowances to be made payable to members 
of town/parish councils.

Co-Opted Members’ Allowance

There is no provision in this scheme for an allowance to be made payable to co-
opted members.

Claims and Payments

Each Councillor’s annual entitlement to Basic Allowance and, where appropriate, 
Special Responsibility Allowance is paid automatically by 12 equal monthly 
instalments, unless the Councillor has renounced in writing all or part of the 
allowance(s) to which they are entitled.  

Page 206



Where Travelling Allowance and Subsistence Allowance are concerned, no payment 
will be made unless the relevant amount is claimed on an official claim form duly 
completed and signed by the claimant. The amounts claimed must not exceed, but 
may be less than, the relevant rates of allowance approved by the Council.  The 
relevant rates of allowances are those current on the day the duty is performed. Any 
amounts already paid by the Council or received from any other source must be 
deducted to arrive at the net amount claimed.

It is the Councillors individual responsibility to record details of duties performed and 
to complete the relevant claim form. As regards attendance at meetings of the 
Council, its Committees, Panels and tribunals, the attendance list kept by 
Democratic Services officers is the definitive record of the Councillor’s presence or 
absence.

Where forms are found to be incorrect or incomplete, other than minor arithmetical 
errors, they will be returned to Councillors for amendment.

To facilitate budgetary control claims should be submitted monthly after the first date 
to which the claim relates. Payment of allowances is made once each month on the 
25th of the month (or last banking day before the 25th) and comprises any Basic and 
Special Responsibility Allowance to which each Councillor is entitled plus Travelling 
and Subsistence Allowances claimed on a duly completed claim form received in the 
Democratic Services Section no later than the 15th of the month.

At the end of each financial year end claims should only be made up to the 31 
March. Claims for the new financial year should be submitted on a separate form.

Payment will be made by electronic fund transfer to a bank account nominated by 
the claimant and a pay advice is emailed. Claimants should notify Financial Services 
immediately if they change their bank account, otherwise payment may be delayed.

Income Tax on Allowances

Deductions will be made from Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances in 
accordance with the Councillors’ tax code: Tax Code B.R. means that tax will be 
deducted at the basic rate; a Councillor will then be able to claim tax allowances 
from the Inland Revenue in respect of expenses incurred.

In determining the liability to tax, allowances will be made for expenses agreed 
between the Councillor and the Inland Revenue. 

Councillors should take up the question of allowable expenses with their Inspector of 
Taxes.

For any queries on all taxation matters relating to Allowances please visit the HMRC 
website www.hmrc.gov.uk under the Employees section. You will need to quote the 
tax reference number 783/AP682.

Page 207

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/
http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/


Income Tax on Mileage

All business miles will be reported to the Inland Revenue at the end of the tax year 
and may incur a tax liability.

Local Government Pension Scheme 

No Special Responsibility Allowances are superannuated.

Renunciation

A Councillor may by notice in writing given to the Head of Financial Services elect to 
forego any part of their entitlement to an allowance under the Council’s Scheme.

Publicity

The Council is required to publish annually the total sum paid to each Councillor in 
respect of Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances and travel and subsistence 
paid in each financial year. 

Schedule 1

Allowances Rate

Basic allowance £3,266.65

Leader of the Council £21,000.00

Deputy Leader £9,972.87

Executive Member £5,441.42

Chairman of the Development Panel £4,500.00

Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees £2,720.71

Chairman of the Licensing Committee £2,992.78

Chairman of the Audit Committee £2,720.71

Chairman of the Standards Committee £2,720.71

Leader of the Opposition £2,720.71

Mayor £7,071.00

Deputy Mayor £507.00

Page 208



Schedule 2

Part 1

List of Approved Duties where travel and subsistence may be claimed:

1. The attendance at a meeting of the authority or of any committee or sub-
committee of the authority (to include working groups), or of any other body to 
which the authority makes appointments or nominations, or any committee or 
sub-committee of such a body; 

2. The attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by 
the authority, or a joint committee of the authority and one or more local 
authority within the meaning of section 270(1) of the Local Government Act 
1972, or a sub-committee of such a joint committee provided that:

a. Where the authority is divided into two or more political groups it is a 
meeting to which members of at least two such groups have been 
invited; or

b. If the authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two 
members of the authority have been invited;

3. The attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
authority is a member;

4. The attendance at a meeting of the executive or a meeting of any of its 
committees, where the authority is operating executive arrangements. To 
include:

a. Informal Executive meetings; and
b. Portfolio Holders (or their substitutes) attendance on site visits, and 

meetings with other organisations in connection with their 
responsibilities 

5. The performance of any duty in pursuance of any standing order made under 
section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 requiring a member or 
members to be present while tender documents are opened;

6. the performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of any function 
of the authority conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or 
requiring the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises;

7. the carrying out of any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of a 
class so approved, for the purpose of, or in connection with, the discharge of 
the functions of the authority or of any of its committees or sub-committees. 
To include:

a. Council run seminars and training events
b. Civic duties undertaken by the chairman and vice chairman of the 

Council

Page 209



c. Visits to other organisations / authorities where specifically organised 
by Council / Committee

d. Committee / Sub-Committee pre-meetings with officers

The Chief Executive after consultation with the appropriate Chair or the Leader of the 
Council has plenary powers to authorise Councillors attendance at seminars, 
conferences, events and meetings, in circumstances where there is not sufficient 
time for the matter to be decided by the appropriate committee or sub-committee.

Part 2

Travel Allowance

1. Public Transport will be paid at ordinary fare, second class or cheapest fare 
for the journey whichever is the least amount.

2. Travel expenses for public transport include taxicabs.  The rate of  travel by 
taxicab must not exceed: 

a. In the cases of urgency or where no public transport is reasonably 
available, the actual amount of the fare; or

b. In any other case the amount of the fare for travel by appropriate public 
transport.

3. The Chief Executive or an Officer acting with his written authority is 
empowered to authorise first class travel by Councillors and/or staff of the 
Council in appropriate circumstances in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council.  

4. In all instances, Travelling Allowances may be claimed only where the relevant 
expense has been incurred.  For example, a Councillor travelling in another 
Councillor or member of staff’s car is not entitled to claim Travelling 
Allowance. 

5. Travelling Allowance is normally payable on the basis that the Councillor starts 
and finishes the journey at home.  

6. Appropriate incidental expenses such as car parking charges will be 
reimbursed on the production of receipts.

7. All business mileage will be reported to the Inland Revenue at the end of the 
tax year, which may result in a tax liability.

Details of the current rates are as follows:

1. Standard/Saver Class Railway Fare or Bus Fare including seat reservation.

2. Travel by Private Vehicle, when there is a substantial saving of Members’ time 
etc.:

Cars and vans:

 First 10,000 miles: 45p
 Above 10,000 miles: 25p

Page 210



Motorcycles:

 First 10,000 miles: 24p
 Above 10,000 miles: 24p

Cycling Allowance

Travel by bicycle will be reimbursed at 20p per mile.

Subsistence Allowance

 Subsistence Allowance follows a complicated timetable with various 
entitlements arising from absences from home. Subsistence Allowance is 
intended to reimburse expenses for meals and accommodation necessarily 
incurred by Councillors in the performance of approved and other official 
duties. The rates of Subsistence Allowance are determined by the Council and 
are aligned to those paid to staff.

 Subsistence Allowance can be claimed only in circumstances where 
expenditure on subsistence has actually been incurred.

 Rates of Subsistence Allowance are related to the duration on the relevant 
duty or duties, which includes time necessarily incurred in travelling between 
home and the place where the duty is performed. If the actual journey does 
not start and finish at home, the allowance claimable is normally limited to the 
amount, which could have been claimed had the journey started and finished 
at home.

 The reasonable cost of the meals (including VAT) will be reimbursed in full, 
within the limits specified below.  Receipts should be retained in respect of any 
meals. The limitations on reimbursement are:

Period of Absence 
(outside of County)

Maximum Allowance

Breakfast - an absence of more 
than 4 hours before 11.00 am

£6.95

Lunch - an absence of more than 4 
hours, including the period 
between 12 noon and 2:00 pm

£9.50

Tea - an absence of more than 4 
hours, including the period 
between 3 pm and 6 pm

£0.00

Evening Meal - an absence of 
more than 4 hours ending after 7 
pm

£13.15

 Arrangements for accommodation will be made via the corporate travel and 
accommodation process.

Page 211



 Where a meal is provided free of charge, there is no entitlement to 
subsistence.

 Councillors are normally expected to meet subsistence expenses from their 
own pockets and then claim the relevant allowances in accordance with the 
procedure.

The travel allowance payable to Councillors is aligned to the HMRC approved rates 
and will be increased where appropriate, in accordance with the scheme.

Telephone Allowance

The Basic Allowance payable to each Councillor is inclusive of landline and mobile 
phone expenses.

Broadband Allowance

The Basic Allowance payable to each Councillor is inclusive of broadband expenses.

Page 212



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 

The Reason for the Decision The Pay Policy Statement sets out the Council’s 
approach to pay policy in accordance with the 
requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 
2011. 

Summary of options considered N/A

Recommendations That Council approves the Pay Policy Statement.

Financial/Resource Implications Financial implications are included in the report.

Legal Implications Legal implications are included in the report.

Community Safety Implications N/A 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

N/A

Equality Duty considered/Impact 
Assessment completed

Yes

Wards Affected All 

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s Strategic 
Objectives

The statement provides transparency with regard 
to the Council’s approach to setting the pay of its 
employees. 

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis

Lead Officer (Ian Frost
Chief Executive
01900 702975
ian.frost@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 213

Agenda Item 16

mailto:ian.frost@allerdale.gov.uk


Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) Y

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers: None

Pay Policy Statement – 2018/2019

1. Introduction and Purpose

Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 
“power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the 
authority thinks fit”. This Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the 
Council’s approach to pay policy in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.  

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the 
Council’s approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying;

 the methods by which salaries of all employees are determined;
 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief 

officers’, as defined by the relevant legislation;
 the Chief Executive (as the Head of Paid Service) is responsible for 

ensuring the provisions set out in this statement are applied 
consistently throughout the Council and recommending any 
amendments to the Council.

Once approved by the Council, this policy statement will come into immediate 
effect and will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the 
policy for the next financial year being approved by 31 March each year. 

The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data 
Transparency 2015 places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of 
publication of pay details which are included in the document.  The Code also 
requires the publication of Trade Union Facility Time and the annual 
publication of organisation structure charts which are contained in Appendix 1.

2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council 
will comply with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation 

Page 214



such as the Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less 
Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Earnings) Regulations 2006.  

The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures 
and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job 
evaluation mechanisms, which directly establish the relative levels of posts in 
grades according to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the 
role. 

3. Pay and Grading Structure

The Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine (i.e. a defined list of 
salary points) as the basis for its local pay structure, which determines the 
salaries of its employees (published on the intranet). The actual salary levels 
for each post other than Chief Officers are determined by reference to the 
Council’s job evaluation scheme. This is a national scheme.

The Council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the 
establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any 
agreed annual pay increases negotiated with the National Joint Council of 
Local Authority Services

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 
negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
collective bargaining machinery.

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any 
posts which fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to 
ensure value for money in respect of the use of public expenditure, balanced 
against the need to recruit and retain employees who are able to meet the 
requirements of providing high quality services to the community, delivered 
effectively and efficiently and at times at which those services are required.  

New appointments will normally be made at the minimum of the relevant pay 
scale for the grade, although this can be varied where necessary to secure the 
best candidate. Where the appointment salary is above the minimum point of 
the pay scale this will be within the discretion of the appointing officer applies 
under the Recruitment and Selection Policy.

From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay 
levels in the labour market in order to attract and retain employees with 
particular experience, skills and capacity.  Where necessary, the Council will 
ensure the requirement for such is objectively justified by reference to clear 
and transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using data sources 
available from within the local government sector and outside, as appropriate, 
in accordance with the Market Factor Supplement Policy.

Page 215



Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in 
accordance with the Market Factor Supplement Procedure and the Acting up 
and Honoraria Procedure.

All employees are covered by the National Joint Council Agreement on Pay 
and Conditions of Service except for Chief Officers who are covered by a 
separate National Joint Council Agreement for Chief Officers of Local 
Authorities.

Salary levels for Chief Officers were set by Council after consideration of an 
independent review which was undertaken externally by North West 
Employers Organisation (NWEO) in 2012. The determination of any new 
salary structure is undertaken in accordance with the guidance produced by 
the Joint Negotiating Committees for Chief Executives and Chief Officers 
which says that when deciding the level of remuneration the following factors 
should be considered:

 The Chief Executive’s salary and that of senior staff not covered by the 
Chief Officers’ JNC;

 Any special market considerations;
 Any substantial local factors not common to authorities of similar type 

and size.
 Comparative salary information from other similar authorities;
 Top management structures and the size of the management team 

compared to those of other authorities of similar type and size;
 The relative job size of each post, as objectively assessed.

There is no separate provision for Chief Officers in relation to the Council’s 
general employment policies and statements. Arrangements for Chief Officers 
are dealt with in accordance with the Council’s ordinary policies. 

4. Senior Management Remuneration

Details of the senior management remuneration are included below:

Job Title Points Salary
Chief Executive 1 £102,010
Corporate Director** 3 £73,876, £75,957, £78,038
Heads of Service** 3 £46,823, £48,904, £50,985

** An individual’s progression through the relevant pay scale is annual 
increments subject to satisfactory performance.

Returning Officer

The designation of the Returning Officer currently sits with the Corporate 
Director. The Council is required to provide funding to the Retuning Officer to 
discharge statutory functions relating to the administration of local government 
elections. The Returning Officer will make payments to those officers who 

Page 216



undertake specific duties in relation to the elections in accordance with their 
role. 

Monitoring Officer and Deputy

The designation of the Monitoring Officer currently sits with the Head of 
Governance. The Monitoring Officer is paid on the normal salary for a Head of 
Service, with an additional 10% annual allowance in recognition of their 
particular statutory responsibilities. The Deputy Monitoring Officer is paid an 
additional £1000 per annum, on top of their salary.

Section 151 Officer and Deputy

The designation of the Section 151 Officer currently sits with the Head of 
Financial Services. The Section 151 Officer is paid on the normal salary for a 
Head of Service, with an additional 10% annual allowance in recognition of 
their particular statutory responsibilities. The Deputy 151 is paid an additional 
£1000 per annum on top of their salary.

Further details are published in the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts.

5. Recruitment of Chief Officers

The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief 
Officers is set out within section 8.5 of the Constitution.  

When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all 
provisions of relevant employment law and its own equal opportunities in 
Recruitment & Selection, and Change Management Policy.  

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed 
Chief Officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies 
in place at the time of recruitment.  

6. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an 
individual to temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The 
Council’s arrangements for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. 
honoraria, ex gratia, ‘acting up’) relating to temporary additional duties are the 
same for all officers and are set out in the Acting up, Honorarium & 
Secondment Policy. 

The Senior Management team receive an on-call/standby fee, where required. 
The same rate is applicable for all employees who undertake on call/standby 
cover.

Essential car user may be paid to the senior management team providing their 
role meets the criteria which is applicable to all employees.

Page 217



In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional pay as set out 
below;

Post / Tier of post Payment details 
Corporate Director The designation of Returning Officer is made by Council and 

currently sits with the Corporate Director.

The fees paid for Returning Officer services are as follows :

In accordance with the national agreement the Returning 
Officer is entitled to receive and retain the personal fees 
arising from performing the duties of the RO, ACT, DRO or 
DARO and similar position which they perform subject to the 
payment of pension contributions thereon, where 
appropriate.

In respect of Borough and Parish Council elections the fee 
is based on a calculation of £100 per Borough Ward and 
£100 per contested parish.

Fees for elections duties for other elections (County Council, 
National and European, etc.) are paid as an additional sum 
at the rate prescribed by government as and when they 
arise, they are distinct from the process for the 
determination of pay for Chief Officers.

Some officers may attract a supplement  for deputy 
returning officer duties

Statutory Officers Salary supplements payable for fulfilling statutory officer 
duties (e.g. S151 / MO)

7. Bonus Payments

The Council does not operate any variable pay or bonus schemes. 

8. Pension Contributions 

Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of 
the Local Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a 
contribution to the scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable 
remuneration due under the contract of employment of that employee.  The 
rate of contribution is set by Actuaries advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and 
reviewed on a triennial basis in order to ensure the scheme is appropriately 
funded.  The rate to be used in the financial year 2018/19 is 14.5%.  

The employee contribution rates are based on actual pensionable pay as 
detailed in the table below.  These rates are published each year. At time of 
publication of this pay policy, the 2018/19 rates have not been published.

Page 218



There are two sections in the scheme now – the main section and the 50/50 
section.

The main section of the scheme is the section you will be placed in. In that 
section, you pay normal contributions and get the normal pension build up.

The 50/50 section was brought in as part of the 2014 scheme. You can elect 
for this option at any time, pay half your normal contributions and build up half 
your normal pension. If you have more than one employment you can elect for 
the 50/50 option in one, some or all your employments. Regardless of the 
section you are in, you get full life assurance cover.

Contribution table 2017/18
Band Actual Pensionable Pay for an 

employment
Contribution rate for that employment

Main Section 50/50 Section
1 Up to £13,700 5.5% 2.75%
2 £13,701 - £21,400 5.8% 2.9%
3 £21,401 - £34,700 6.5% 3.25%
4 £34,701 - £43,900 6.8% 3.4%
5 £43,901 - £61,300 8.5% 4.25%
6 £61,301 - £86,800 9.9% 4.95%
7 £86,801 - £102,200 10.5% 5.25%
8 £102,201 - £153,300 11.4% 5.7%
9 £153,301 or more 12.5% 6.25%

9. Payments on Termination

The Councils approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination 
of employment of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is 
the same as for all employees set out within its Pension Discretion Policy in 
accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 
and Regulation 12 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, 
Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.  

10.Pay Analysis

Median Salary

This calculation is based on the middle number in a set of data, when the data 
has been written in ascending size order. Therefore this has been based on all 
the salaries of the Councils employees within the paid services of the Council, 
including the Chief Executive. The median salary using the January 2018 
payroll was £24,964. This is based on a staffing number of 251 and total 
remuneration of £6,670,390 (based on all posts at their full-time equivalent 
rate).

Page 219



Lowest paid employees

Using January 2018 payroll data, the lowest paid employee was on a salary of 
£15,014 however the Council pays the Living Wage Foundation Wage, which 
is currently £8.75 per hour. This means that the lowest employee is actually 
paid £16,878 per annum. 

Apprentices are appointed to Allerdale Borough Council on the Living 
Foundation Wage 

Pay Multiple

The ‘pay multiple’ is the ratio between the highest paid taxable earnings and 
the median earnings figure of the whole Council’s workforce. The Councils 
highest paid employee is the Chief Executive. Therefore, the ‘pay multiple’, the 
ratio between the highest paid salary and the median salary (£24,964) of the 
whole of the authority’s workforce, is 1:4 (as at February 2018).

As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay 
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available 
benchmark information as appropriate.  In addition, upon the annual review of 
this statement, the Council will also monitor any changes in the relevant ‘pay 
multiples’ and benchmark against other comparable local authorities. 

11.Trade Union Facility Time 

The Code of Practice on Data Transparency 2015 requires that Councils 
produce a basic estimate of time spent on union activities. The following 
information is what is what has to be published

 Total number of staff who are union representatives
 Total number of union representatives who devote at least 50 per cent 

of their time to union duties
 Names of all trade unions represented in the local authority
 A basic estimate of spending on trade unions (calculated as the 

number of FTE equivalent days spent on union duties multiplied by the 
average salary)

 A basic estimate of spending unions as a % of the total pay bill

There are currently 3 employees who are official union representatives.

Representatives are currently not asked to record the amount of time that they 
spend on union activities, no union representation spends 50% of their time 
consistently every week on trade union activities.

The union that is represented in the Council is Unison

Page 220



12.Publication

Upon approval by Council, this statement will be published on the Council’s 
website. 

13.Accountability and Decision Making

In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Head of Paid Service, 
Chief Officer Employment Panel and Council are responsible for decision 
making in relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and 
severance arrangements in relation to Chief Officers of the Council.

14.Re-employment/Re-engagement of former Chief Officers 

The Council will not normally employ or engage under a contract of service 
Chief Officers who have previously received a redundancy or severance 
payment or who are in receipt of a pension under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.

The Small Business, Enterprise & Employment Act 2015 makes provision 
requiring the repayment of some or all of any qualifying exit payment in 
qualifying circumstances.

15.Recommendations

That Council approves the Pay Policy Statement.

Ian Frost
Chief Executive

Appendix 1 Organisational Chart

20.02.18

Page 221



P
age 222



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018 

Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Reason for the Decision This is the update report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

Summary of options considered Not applicable.

Recommendations That the report be noted.

Financial /  Resource Implications There are no direct implications.

Legal / Governance Implications There are no direct implications. 

Community Safety Implications There are no direct implications. 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There are no direct implications.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Not required for this report.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
contributes to all Council Plan priorities. 

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Not applicable

Lead Scrutiny Member Councillor Alan Pitcher and Councillor Janet 
Farebrother (Co-Chairs) 

Lead Officer Ian Hinde
Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships)
01900 702544
ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk 

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial N Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership N

Page 223

Agenda Item 17



Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers:

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/369/369.pdf

1.0 The House of Commons Committee report on the effectiveness of local 
authority overview and scrutiny committees

The Government inquiry into local authority overview and scrutiny committees 
was launched because of concerns that scrutiny in local authorities is not as 
effective as it should be. The inquiry is the first comprehensive assessment of 
how scrutiny committees operate. 

The first report was published on 15 December 2017. These are the main 
findings which were reported to the Overview and Scrutiny at its January 
meeting.

1.1 The role of scrutiny

1.2 The report notes that while good scrutiny can be hard to define, the 
consequences of inadequate scrutiny can be severe and very apparent.

1.3 The report endorses the Centre for Public Scrutiny’s (CfPS) four principles, 
which state that good scrutiny:

 Provides a constructive “critical friend” challenge;
 Amplifies the voices and concerns of the public;
 Is led by independent people who take responsibility for their role;
 Drives improvement in public services.

1.4 The report highlights that scrutiny can help to develop policy as well as 
responding to executive decisions. For example, a scrutiny review of 
Birmingham council’s work on child sexual exploitation resulted in extra 
resources being allocated to the team working on the issue as well as 
changes to the council’s licensing statement.

1.5 Another scrutiny role is to consider proposals before decisions are made. The 
extra time spent examining a proposal can lead to a deeper understanding of 
the issues, and recommendations which can inform the Executive’s decision.

Page 224



2.0 Organisational culture

2.1 One of the barriers identified in the report was the lack of parity of esteem 
between the executive and scrutiny, with scrutiny often being perceived as an 
add-on rather than an integral part of the council’s work. The CfPS 
emphasises the importance of buy-in from the executive and senior officers 
because if “leadership is closed to that sort of challenge, it does not just affect 
scrutiny; it affects a lot of how the organisation is run”. 

2.2 The report also identifies responsibility for a positive culture around scrutiny 
lies with opposition groups as well as the executive. Where the opposition 
treats the executive with respect and challenges it where necessary, rather 
than purely for the sake of challenge, scrutiny is likely to be better regarded.

2.3 The report acknowledges the status of scrutiny in its relation to the full council. 
The report draws a comparison with parliamentary select committees, which 
must report to parliament, whereas there is currently no national guidance on 
which body scrutiny committees should report back to. 

2.4 The Institute of Local Government Studies at the University of Birmingham 
(where the Co-Chairs attended their initial training) notes that when scrutiny 
committees present reports to full council, it provides “the opportunity to 
create a relevant and interesting debate on a matter of local concern which 
has been investigated in depth by a group of councillors.” 

2.5 This Council is therefore ahead of the curve with these reports from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to Council.

3.0 Accessing information

3.1 The inquiry revealed that nationally there are significant difficulties for scrutiny 
committees in accessing the information they need, including instances of 
committees submitting Freedom of Information requests to their own authority.

3.2 The report also raises the widespread issue of information being withheld for 
reasons of commercial sensitivity. The report acknowledges that it may not 
always be in the public interest to make such information publicly available, 
but argues that there is no justification for withholding it from councillors, who 
already have access to restricted information and who require it in order to do 
their job.

3.3 Regulations from 2012 grant additional access to information for scrutiny 
members when they can demonstrate a ‘need to know’. The report argues 
that this access should be automatic, i.e. that membership of a scrutiny 
committee should constitute a sufficient ‘need to know’ as restricting scrutiny 
members’ access to information limits their ability to identify issues for further 
investigation.

Page 225



3.4 The inquiry also found that councils made very limited use of external 
advisors, in part for reasons of budget. The report calls on councils to make 
greater use of external expert witnesses, in particular from the academic 
world.

4.0 Member training and skills

4.1 Unlike members of planning and licensing committees, scrutiny members are 
not required to undergo any training. The report does underline that where 
training is provided it should be tailored to the needs of members, which will 
be different from those of officers – it is more about questioning skills than 
specific knowledge. One councillor quoted in the report argued that training 
should be more focused on self-reflection: “What is your role? Are you willing 
to ask difficult questions? Are you willing, in your own political group, after you 
have done a scrutiny meeting, to have people say to you ‘you were a bit 
harsh’? Are you really going to hold to account?”

5.0 The role of the public

5.1 The report calls on the government to promote the role of the public in 
scrutiny in revised guidance to local authorities. It recommends that councils 
should consider how raising the profile of scrutiny can encourage more public 
involvement.

5.2 It recognises the role of digital engagement also needs to be considered, as 
public meetings tend to be poorly attended and modes of engagement are 
changing.

5.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be considering these issues as 
part of its work programme over the next year.

6.0 Scrutinising external bodies

6.1 Scrutiny committees are increasingly scrutinising external providers of council 
services. Here, however, the barriers to accessing information are even 
greater. The CfPS states that commercial bodies often “do not recognise they 
are contracting with a democratic organisation that has democratic 
governance processes.” There can be particular difficulties where the 
organisation’s management structures are not local. This differs from bodies 
in the health sector, where the duty to engage with scrutiny is well 
established.

6.2 While health service providers and bodies delivering crime and disorder 
strategies can be required to attend scrutiny meetings, in all other cases, 
participation is up to the invited party. The report argues that councils and 
contractors should build in democratic oversight from the start of a contract, 
including making clear the role of scrutiny. A task and finish group at Suffolk 

Page 226



County Council recommended that any organisation which signs a contract 
with the council should be made aware that it might be called upon to answer 
to the scrutiny committee at some stage. The report endorses a CfPS 
proposal that committees should be able to follow the ‘council pound’ – that is, 
have the power to oversee all services funded by the authority.

7.0 Update on the work of the Committee and its Task and Finish Groups

7.1 The Community Services Business Model Task and Finish Group continues to 
follow the process for letting the contract. The current stage of the process will 
be complete in time for the next meeting of the task and finish group.

7.2 The Performance Standing Task Group meets to scrutinise the quarterly 
Council Plan performance reports and quarterly financial reports. At its last 
meeting the group considered issues of forecasting and external influences on 
budgets.

7.3 The Budget Task and Finish Group has completed its work for this year. The 
members of the group found the learning they acquired during the process 
exceptionally useful in understanding the budget and how it is constructed.

8.0 Recommendations

8.1 That the report be noted.

Councillor Alan Pitcher and Councillor Janet Farebrother
Co-Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 228



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Community Governance Reviews

The Reason for the Decision: A number of parish councils have 
formally requested that this Council 
carries out a Community Governance 
Review of their respective areas              

Summary of options considered: To agree to undertake the reviews on the 
terms requested and to set up a Working 
Group to manage the process.

Recommendations: 1. That Council agrees to carry out the 
Community Governance Reviews of 
the following parish areas: 

 Broughton
 Embleton
 Keswick
 Winscales

2. That the Terms of Reference for the 
Community Governance Reviews, as 
set out at Appendix A to the report, 
are agreed. 

3. That the Terms of Reference for the 
current Workington Community 
Governance Review are amended as 
set out at Appendix B to the report to 
include an option to consider 
proposals for the Winscales parish 
area.

4. That a Community Governance 
Review Working Party consisting of 
the Allerdale councillors for the parish 
areas of Broughton, Embleton, 
Keswick and Winscales be 
established to co-ordinate the reviews 
and to make final recommendations 
to Council. 

Financial /  Resource Implications There will be some financial implications 
associated with the public engagement 
work and with the cost of holding a 
number of working group meetings. The 

Page 229

Agenda Item 18



cost will be dependant on the type and 
extent of the engagement. There will also 
be a resource pressure on the Electoral 
Services team in carrying out the 
reviews. 

Legal / Governance Implications Implications for electoral administration 
of the parish 

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected: Broughton St Bridget’s, Crummock, 
Keswick and Harrington

Is this a Key Decision: Yes

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Joan Ellis

Lead Officer Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager
Tel: 01900 878657
lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) Y Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
 LGBCE Guidance on Community Governance Reviews
 LGBCE Final recommendations for new local government electoral 

arrangements for Allerdale Borough Council 

Page 230



1.0 Introduction

1.1 Section 100 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (The Act) sets out the process by which Principal Authorities such as 
Allerdale Borough Council can carry out a Community Governance Review 
(CGR) of parish arrangements within its area. 

1.2 CGRs can cover such issues as
 changing boundaries of existing parishes, 
 reviewing ward boundaries within a parish, and ward names
 setting up a new parish in an unparished area 
 the electoral arrangements of a current or new parish (for 

example council size, electoral cycle)
 the grouping or de-grouping of parishes

2.0 Request for Community Governance Review of Parish areas

2.1 Members of the Cumbria Association of Local Councils (CALC) had some 
time ago discussed with officers at Allerdale the potential for reviews of some 
parish areas. It was agreed that this would be considered at the end of the 
Allerdale review by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England. 

2.2 Representatives from CALC met with with Allerdale’s Head of Governance, 
Electoral Services Manager and Parish Liaison officer in January 2018 and 
asked that all parishes in the area be contacted to request if any of them felt 
that they needed a review of their electoral arrangements. 

2.3 Four parish councils have formally resolved to request a CGR:
 Broughton Parish Council would like a review of council size as they 

feel the current number of 12 is not sustainable and they are unable to 
attract interest in candidates to stand for empty seats

 Embleton Parish Council is currently warded – Embleton, Setmurthy 
and Wythop wards.The parish does not feel that this arrangement 
works well for them as it provides some administrative issues. They are 
of the opinion that a parish council of that size does not need to be 
warded.

 Keswick Town Council would like a review of council boundaries, 
focussing on the current boundary with the line of the A66 northern 
bypass incorporating part of Underskiddaw Parish and to include part 
of St Johns Castlerigg and Wythburn Parish (12 properties at Lonscale 
View).

 Winscales Parish Council have indicated that all but one of their six 
remaining members will be resigning with effect from 31 March 2017. 
The council has a relatively low electorate and apparently struggles to 
fill its 7 seats. It has asked for a review with an open remit, and has 
included a suggestion that the Winscales parish area be subsumed 
within the Workington parish area. This clearly will have an impact on 

Page 231



the current Workington CGR and will need to be considered by the 
Working Group currently looking at that review. It is therefore that the 
terms of reference for the Workington CGR, as approved by Council on 
15 November 2017 be amended to include the option of looking at 
including the parish area of Winscales within the Workington parish 
area. Amended Terms of Reference are set out at Appendix B. 

2.4 There is no set formula for determining the optimum number of councillors 
representing the electorate in their area, however the Electoral Commission 
makes it clear that in order to ensure everyone’s vote is equal, elector to 
councillor ratios should be “as equal as they can be” across the electoral area.  

2.5 Where CGRs are commenced by council resolution (as opposed to petition) 
there is no time limit on the length of the review, but any changes agreed by 
Council must be implemented at the next ordinary parish council elections in 
May 2019.  

2.6 The main focus of the work of the CGRs will be in connection with planning 
and delivering the consultation events across the affected areas. From the 
outcome of those events and consultation with the relevant parish councils 
and other key stakeholders, draft Reorganisation Orders will be prepared. It is 
suggested that this work should be carried out by a working group comprising 
the eight elected members from the Allerdale Borough Council wards covering 
the parishes involved in the reviews (Broughton St Bridget’s, Crummock, 
Keswick and Harrington) supported by the Electoral Services team and with 
input from the Communications team. As Allerdale Borough Council is the 
responsible body for the CGRs then the working group must comprise 
Allerdale Borough Councillors. The relevant parish councils will be consultees 
during the process and as such will be invited to send representatives to the 
working group meetings. 

2.7 The working group will not have any delegated decision making powers 
beyond agreeing the programme of consultation, the timetables for the 
reviews and making final recommendations to Council.. 

2.8 Council must agree the Terms of Reference of any CGR before it 
commences; draft Terms of Reference for all of the reviews are set out at 
Appendix A.  

3.0 Polling Districts and Polling Scheme

3.1 As previously reported to Council in November 2017, the LGBCE review of 
Allerdale will require a full review of the authority’s polling districts and polling 
scheme prior to the May 2019 Borough Council elections. Where possible, co-
terminosity of polling districts will be sought across the various administrative 
boundaries so as to help the logistical process of administering elections at all 
levels and ensure clarity for electors. 

Page 232



3.2 A review of the polling scheme will aim to ensure as far as possible that each 
new polling district has an appropriate polling place and polling station.  

4.0 Finance/Resource Implications

4.1 The duty to carry out a Community Governance Review and to bear the 
associated costs rests with Allerdale Borough Council as the principal 
authority. The costs will mainly arise from the public consultation events and 
from the running of working group meetings. There will be an inevitable impact 
on the Electoral Services team as a consequence of managing the reviews, 
particularly during the busy household canvass period.  

5.0 Legal Implications and Risks

5.1 The procedure for conducting a Community Governance Review is set out in 
legislation. Appropriate guidance and advice will be sought at all stages to 
ensure compliance with the statutory requirements. 

6.0 Recommendations

6.1 That Council agrees to carry out the Community Governance Reviews of the 
following parish areas: 

 Broughton
 Embleton
 Keswick
 Winscales

6.2 That the Terms of Reference for the Community Governance Reviews, as set 
out at Appendix A to the report, are agreed. 

6.3 That the Terms of Reference for the current Workington Community 
Governance Review are amended as set out at Appendix B to the report to 
include an option to consider proposals for the Winscales parish area.

6.4  That a Community Governance Review Working Party consisting of the 
Allerdale councillors for the parish areas of Broughton, Embleton, Keswick and 
Winscales be established to co-ordinate the reviews and to make final 
recommendations to Council.

Appendices:

Appendix A Draft Terms of Reference for the Community Governance Reviews
Appendix B Revised Terms of Reference for the Workington Community 
Governance Review 

Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 234



Allerdale Borough Council

Community Governance Review of Broughton

Terms of Reference

In undertaking the review, the Council will be guided by the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Guidance on Community Governance Reviews issued by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government and the Electoral 
Commission. These terms of reference will set out the matters on which the review is 
to focus.

Why is the Council Undertaking the Review?

The Council has received a formal request from Broughton Parish Council to conduct 
a Community Governance Review of the Parish area.

What will the Review consider?

The review will consider 
1. the electoral arrangements of Broughton Parish Council in respect of the 

number of councillors representing the parish

All local government electors for the area under review and any other person or body 
who appears to have an interest in the review will be consulted on the proposals and 
their representations will be taken into account as part of the review.

The Council must have regard to the need to secure that the community governance 
arrangements for the area reflect the identities and interests of the community in the 
area and are effective and convenient.

Parish Governance within the Borough

The Council wants to ensure that there is clarity and transparency to the area that the 
Parish Council represents and that the electoral arrangements are appropriate, 
equitable and readily understood by the electorate.

In its White Paper, Strong and Prosperous Communities, the Government emphasised 
that “Ultimately, the recommendations made in a community governance review ought 
to bring about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better 
local democracy and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local services.”

How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review?

In arriving at its recommendations in a review, the Council will need to take account of 
the views of local people. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 requires the Council to consult the local government electors for the area under 
review and any other person or body who appears to have an interest in the review 
and to take the representations that are received into account by judging them against 
the criteria in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Page 235



The Council will consult in an appropriate manner within the review area ensuring that 
those affected are given the opportunity to respond. In accordance with the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, representations received in 
connection with the Review will be taken into account, and consultees will be informed 
of the outcome of the Review.

Any decisions made and the reasons for those decisions will be published following 
the review. The mechanism for this will be through the Council’s website, the Parish 
Council’s website, issuing press releases, personal communications where 
appropriate and through posting notices within the area affected by the review.

Page 236



Allerdale Borough Council

Community Governance Review of Embleton

Terms of Reference

In undertaking the review, the Council will be guided by the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Guidance on Community Governance Reviews issued by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government and the Electoral 
Commission. These terms of reference will set out the matters on which the review is 
to focus.

Why is the Council Undertaking the Review?

The Council has received a formal request from Embleton Parish Council to conduct 
a Community Governance Review of the Parish area.

What will the Review consider?

The review will consider 
1. the electoral arrangements of Embleton Parish Council in respect of warding of 

the parish

All local government electors for the area under review and any other person or body 
who appears to have an interest in the review will be consulted on the proposals and 
their representations will be taken into account as part of the review.

The Council must have regard to the need to secure that the community governance 
arrangements for the area reflect the identities and interests of the community in the 
area and are effective and convenient.

Parish Governance within the Borough

The Council wants to ensure that there is clarity and transparency to the area that the 
Town Council represents and that the electoral arrangements are appropriate, 
equitable and readily understood by the electorate.

In its White Paper, Strong and Prosperous Communities, the Government emphasised 
that “Ultimately, the recommendations made in a community governance review ought 
to bring about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better 
local democracy and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local services.”

How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review?

In arriving at its recommendations in a review, the Council will need to take account of 
the views of local people. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 requires the Council to consult the local government electors for the area under 
review and any other person or body who appears to have an interest in the review 

Page 237



and to take the representations that are received into account by judging them against 
the criteria in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

The Council will consult in an appropriate manner within the review area ensuring that 
those affected are given the opportunity to respond. In accordance with the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, representations received in 
connection with the Review will be taken into account, and consultees will be informed 
of the outcome of the Review.

Any decisions made and the reasons for those decisions will be published following 
the review. The mechanism for this will be through the Council’s website, the Parish 
Council’s website, issuing press releases, personal communications where 
appropriate and through posting notices within the area affected by the review.

Page 238



Allerdale Borough Council

Community Governance Review of Keswick

Terms of Reference

In undertaking the review, the Council will be guided by the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Guidance on Community Governance Reviews issued by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government and the Electoral 
Commission. These terms of reference will set out the matters on which the review is 
to focus.

Why is the Council Undertaking the Review?

The Council has received a formal request from Keswick Town Council to conduct a 
Community Governance Review of the Keswick Parish area.

What will the Review consider?

The review will consider 
1. whether to recommend any amendments to the Keswick parish boundary 

All local government electors for the area under review and any other person or body 
who appears to have an interest in the review will be consulted on the proposals and 
their representations will be taken into account as part of the review.

The Council must have regard to the need to secure that the community governance 
arrangements for the area reflect the identities and interests of the community in the 
area and are effective and convenient.

Parish Governance within the Borough

The Council wants to ensure that there is clarity and transparency to the area that the 
Town Council represents and that the electoral arrangements are appropriate, 
equitable and readily understood by the electorate.

In its White Paper, Strong and Prosperous Communities, the Government emphasised 
that “Ultimately, the recommendations made in a community governance review ought 
to bring about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better 
local democracy and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local services.”

How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review?

In arriving at its recommendations in a review, the Council will need to take account of 
the views of local people. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 requires the Council to consult the local government electors for the area under 
review and any other person or body who appears to have an interest in the review 
and to take the representations that are received into account by judging them against 
the criteria in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Page 239



The Council will consult in an appropriate manner within the review area ensuring that 
those affected are given the opportunity to respond. In accordance with the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, representations received in 
connection with the Review will be taken into account, and consultees will be informed 
of the outcome of the Review.

Any decisions made and the reasons for those decisions will be published following 
the review. The mechanism for this will be through the Council’s website, the Town 
Council’s website, issuing press releases, personal communications where 
appropriate and through posting notices within the area affected by the review.

Page 240



Allerdale Borough Council

Community Governance Review of Winscales

Terms of Reference

In undertaking the review, the Council will be guided by the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Guidance on Community Governance Reviews issued by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government and the Electoral 
Commission. These terms of reference will set out the matters on which the review is 
to focus.

Why is the Council Undertaking the Review?

The Council has received a formal request from Winscales Parish Council to conduct 
a Community Governance Review of the Parish area.

What will the Review consider?

The review will consider 
1. the electoral arrangements of Winscales Parish Council in respect of the 

number of councillors representing the parish
2. the dissolution of the parish 
 

All local government electors for the area under review and any other person or body 
who appears to have an interest in the review will be consulted on the proposals and 
their representations will be taken into account as part of the review.

The Council must have regard to the need to secure that the community governance 
arrangements for the area reflect the identities and interests of the community in the 
area and are effective and convenient.

Parish Governance within the Borough

The Council wants to ensure that there is clarity and transparency to the area that the 
Parish Council represents and that the electoral arrangements are appropriate, 
equitable and readily understood by the electorate.

In its White Paper, Strong and Prosperous Communities, the Government emphasised 
that “Ultimately, the recommendations made in a community governance review ought 
to bring about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better 
local democracy and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local services.”

How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review?

In arriving at its recommendations in a review, the Council will need to take account of 
the views of local people. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 requires the Council to consult the local government electors for the area under 
review and any other person or body who appears to have an interest in the review 

Page 241



and to take the representations that are received into account by judging them against 
the criteria in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

The Council will consult in an appropriate manner within the review area ensuring that 
those affected are given the opportunity to respond. In accordance with the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, representations received in 
connection with the Review will be taken into account, and consultees will be informed 
of the outcome of the Review.

Any decisions made and the reasons for those decisions will be published following 
the review. The mechanism for this will be through the Council’s website, the Parish 
Council’s website, issuing press releases, personal communications where 
appropriate and through posting notices within the area affected by the review.

Page 242



The Community Governance Review Working Party
Terms of Reference

1. The Working Party will consider and determine the following stages of the 
Community Governance Review for the Broughton, Embleton, Keswick and 
Winscales Parish areas:

(a) Agree the Review Terms of Reference for publication as the first phase of
consultations;

(b) Consider responses from the first phase of consultations;

(c) Consult on proposed amendments to parishes as the second phase of 
consultations;

(d) Consider responses from the second phase of consultations;

(e) Consider and determine any other matters in connection with the Reviews 
with the exception of 2 below.

2. The Working Party will make final recommendations to Council on the content of 
the draft Community Reorganisation Orders for the respective Parish areas

3. The Working Party will comprise the eight members of the Allerdale Borough 
Council Wards representing the parishes involved:

 Broughton St Bridgets
 Crummock
 Keswick
 Workington Harrington

4. The quorum for the Working Party will be four members. 

 

How to contact us or make a representation

Contact details at the Council for the duration of the reviews are as follows. Any
representations should also be sent to this address. Representations should include 
the full name and contact details for the person or organisation making the 
representation: -

Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager
lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk
01900 878657

Electoral Services
Allerdale House
Workington
CA14 3YJ

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 244



Allerdale Borough Council

Community Governance Review of Workington

Terms of Reference

In undertaking the review, the Council will be guided by the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the relevant parts of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and Guidance on Community Governance Reviews issued by 
the Department of Communities and Local Government and the Electoral 
Commission. These terms of reference will set out the matters on which the review is 
to focus.

Why is the Council Undertaking the Review?

The Council has received a formal request from Workington Town Council to conduct 
a Community Governance Review of the Workington Parish area.

What will the Review consider?

The review will consider 
1. the electoral ward boundaries of Workington Town Council
2. the electoral arrangements of Workington Town Council in respect of the 

number of councillors representing each ward
3. whether to recommend any amendments to the Workington parish boundary 

All local government electors for the area under review and any other person or body 
who appears to have an interest in the review will be consulted on the proposals and 
their representations will be taken into account as part of the review.

The Council must have regard to the need to secure that the community governance 
arrangements for the area reflect the identities and interests of the community in the 
area and are effective and convenient.

Parish Governance within the Borough

The Council wants to ensure that there is clarity and transparency to the area that the 
Town Council represents and that the electoral arrangements are appropriate, 
equitable and readily understood by the electorate.

In its White Paper, Strong and Prosperous Communities, the Government emphasised 
that “Ultimately, the recommendations made in a community governance review ought 
to bring about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better 
local democracy and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local services.”

How the Council proposes to conduct consultations during the Review?

In arriving at its recommendations in a review, the Council will need to take account of 
the views of local people. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 requires the Council to consult the local government electors for the area under 
review and any other person or body who appears to have an interest in the review 

Page 245



and to take the representations that are received into account by judging them against 
the criteria in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

The Council will consult in an appropriate manner within the review area ensuring that 
those affected are given the opportunity to respond. In accordance with the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, representations received in 
connection with the Review will be taken into account, and consultees will be informed 
of the outcome of the Review.

Any decisions made and the reasons for those decisions will be published following 
the review. The mechanism for this will be through the Council’s website, the Town 
Council’s website, issuing press releases, personal communications where 
appropriate and through posting notices within the area affected by the review.

The Community Governance Review Working Party
Terms of Reference

1. The Working Party will consider and determine the following stages of the 
Community Governance Review for Workington Parish area:

(a) Agree the Review Terms of Reference for publication as the first phase of
consultation;

(b) Consider responses from the first phase of consultation;

(c) Consult on proposals to amend ward boundaries and electoral arrangements 
as the second phase of consultation;

(d) Consider responses from the second phase of consultation;

(e) Consider and determine any other matters in connection with the Review with 
the exception of 2 below.

2. The Working Party will make final recommendations to Council on the content of 
the draft Community Reorganisation Order for Workington Parish area

3. The Working Party will comprise the fifteen members of the Allerdale Borough 
Council Workington Wards:

 Workington Harrington
 Workington Moorclose
 Workington Moss Bay
 Workington Stainburn
 Workington St John’s
 Workington St Michael’s

4. The quorum for the Working Party will be four members. 

Page 246



 

How to contact us or make a representation

Contact details at the Council for the duration of the review are as follows. Any
representations should also be sent to this address. Representations should include 
the full name and contact details for the person or organisation making the 
representation: -

Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager
lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk
01900 878657

Electoral Services
Allerdale House
Workington
CA14 3YJ

Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 248



Allerdale Borough Council

Council - 7 March 2018

Appointment of Deputy Electoral Registration Officers

The Reason for the Decision: Deputy Electoral Registration Officers 
are able to act on behalf of the Electoral 
Registration Officer in certain 
circumstances             

Summary of options considered: To appoint two Deputy Electoral 
Registration Officers 

Recommendations: That Council agrees, with immediate 
effect, to appoint both the Head of 
Governance and the Electoral Services 
Manager as statutory Deputy Electoral 
Registration Officers in accordance with 
Section 52(2) of the Representation of 
the People Act 1983

Financial /  Resource Implications None

Legal / Governance Implications The proposals will enable the Electoral 
Registration Officer to comply fully with 
the legislative requirements of his role

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected: None

Is this a Key Decision: No

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Joan Ellis

Lead Officer Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager

lindsay.tomlinson@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 249

Agenda Item 19



Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial N
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

Representation of the People Act 1983
Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Under Section 8(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (The Act) 
the council must appoint an Electoral Registration Officer (ERO) to maintain 
the electoral register for the area. This statutory post is held by the Corporate 
Director. 

1.2 Section 52(2) of The Act provides that an authority may appoint deputy 
electoral registration officers to perform and exercise any of the duties and 
powers of the ERO in his absence. 

1.3 The Council currently does not have any appointed Deputy Electoral 
Registration Officers. 

2.0 Appointment of Deputy Electoral Registration Officers

2.1 Although the Electoral Registration Officer is an officer of the council he is not 
under the direction and control of the council when acting as ERO and has 
personal responsibility for the compiling, maintenance and distribution of the 
register of electors in accordance with relevant legislation.

2.2 The Council may also designate officers of the council as Deputy Electoral 
Registration Officers in accordance with the provisions of section 52(2) of the 
Representation of the People Act 1983. 

2.3 Objections can be made to an entry in the electoral register at any time and 
the ERO may be required to conduct a review of an entitlement to registration 
at any time. As an objection and a review may have to be conducted within a 
statutory timetable and procedure the ERO may not be available and 
therefore a deputy could undertake those responsibilities to ensure that the 
legal requirements are met. 

2.4 Under the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 if an elector 
cannot prove their eligibility to be registered then the ERO is required to 

Page 250



undertake a review. There are three types of reviews; Type A, Type B and 
Type C. Type A and Type C reviews may result in hearings which are bound 
by statutory timescales. These hearings are quasi-judicial and the Electoral 
Commission has therefore recommended that they should only be carried out 
by properly appointed EROs or Deputy EROs. 

3.0 Finance/Resource Implications

3.1 There are no financial impliations arising from the proposal. 

4.0 Legal Implications and Risks

4.1 The designation of deputies will ensure that the electoral registration officer is 
able to comply with his statutory responsibilities as set out in the 
Representation of the People Act 1983 and the Electoral Registration and 
Administration Act 2013. 

 
5.0 Recommendations

5.1 That Council agrees, with immediate effect, to appoint both the Head of 
Governance and the Electoral Services Manager as statutory Deputy Electoral 
Registration Officers in accordance with Section 52(2) of the Representation 
of the People Act 1983

Lindsay Tomlinson
Electoral Services Manager

Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 252



Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Recommendations Referred to Council

Local Code of Corporate Governance

The following recommendation has been referred to Council by Audit 
Committee held on the 19 February 2018. 

It is for Council to consider its response.

Recommended – That Council be requested to approve the Local Code of 
Corporate Governance.

G Roach
Democratic and Support Services Manager

Page 253

Agenda Item 20



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 254



Allerdale Borough Council

Audit Committee – 19 February 2018

Local Code of Corporate Governance

The Reason for the Decision To review the Local Code of Corporate 
Governance

Summary of options considered Review the content.

Recommendations The Local Code of Corporate Governance 
is reviewed and accepted subject to any 
additional information required.

Financial /  Resource Implications Includes the governance arrangements 
for Finance.

Legal / Governance Implications Prepared in accordance with the CIPFA 
Delivering Good Governance Framework

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Contributes to the Governance and Risk 
Management Framework

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

NA

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

All

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis
Email joan.ellis@allerdale.gov.uk

Lead Officer Brendan Carlin
Head of Governance
Email brendan.carlin@allerdale.gov.uk

Page 255

mailto:joan.ellis@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:brendan.carlin@allerdale.gov.uk


Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership Y
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

Appendix 1 Local Code of Corporate Governance

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Allerdale Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its 
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and 
that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used 
economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council also has a duty under the 
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  

1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting 
in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the 
management of risk. This Code is a public statement that sets out the way the 
Council will meet that commitment. As such it represents a key component of 
the Council’s constitutional arrangements. The Code has been developed in 
light of CIPFA /SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
Framework 2016 Edition. 

2.0 The Local Code of Corporate Governance

2.1 The Delivering Good Governance Framework sets out the principles local 
authorities should demonstrate in all areas of their activity, these are:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 
values, and respecting the rule of law;  

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement;  

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits;  

Page 256



D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of 
the intended outcomes;  

E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership 
and the individuals within it;  

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management; and  

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to 
deliver effective accountability. 

2.2 The Code Of Corporate Governance detailed at Appendix 1 to this report 
sets out how Allerdale Borough Council demonstrate these principles during 
their day to day operations. Following the review by the Audit Committee the 
Chief Executive and Leader will approve this document as final.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 The Local Code of Corporate Governance is reviewed and accepted subject 
to any additional information required.

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 This contributes to the communication of and commitment to the governance 
framework at Allerdale Borough Council.

Brendan Carlin
Head of Governance

Page 257



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 258



1

Allerdale Borough Council

Local Code of Corporate Governance 

1. Scope of Responsibility

Corporate Governance is a term used to describe how organisations direct and control what 
they do. As well as systems and processes this includes cultures and values. For local 
authorities this also includes how a council relates to the communities that it serves. Good 
Corporate Governance requires local authorities to carry out their functions in a way that 
demonstrates accountability, transparency, effectiveness, integrity, impartiality and 
inclusivity. Corporate Governance is also the structure through which strategic objectives 
are set and performance monitored.

Allerdale Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. 
The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements 
to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place 
proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its 
functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. This Code is a 
public statement that sets out the way the Council will meet that commitment. As such it 
represents a key component of the Council’s constitutional arrangements. The Code has 
been developed in light of CIPFA /SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government Framework 2016 Edition.

2. The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance is based on seven core principles:- 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law; 
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement; 
C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits; 
D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of the intended 
outcomes; 
E. Developing the Council’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it; 
F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management; and 

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective 
accountability.

2.2 The diagram below, taken from the International Framework: Good Governance in the 
Public Sector (CIPFA/IFAC, 2014) (the ‘International Framework’), illustrates the various 
principles of good governance in the public sector and how they relate to each other.

Page 259



2

2.3 The Local Code specifically identifies the actions and behaviours taken by the Council 
in relation to each of these core principles and associated sub principles. These are 
summarised below and this sets out the Local Corporate Governance Framework, the Audit 
Committee is responsible for approving this Code. This code is the signed by the Leader 
and Chief Executive at Allerdale Borough Council.

Page 260



3

How We Demonstrate Good Governance

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

A Behaving with 
integrity, 
demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values, 
and respecting 
the rule of law.

Behaving with 
Integrity

Demonstrating 
strong 
commitment to 
ethical values

Ensure that Members and Officers behave with integrity and lead a culture where acting in the 
public interest is visible and consistently demonstrated thereby protecting the reputation of the 
Council; 

Ensure that Members take the lead in establishing specific standard operating principles or 
values for the Council and its staff and that they are communicated and understood. These will 
build on the Seven Principles of Public Life (The Nolan Principles); 

Lead by example and use code of conduct, constitution and values as a framework for decision 
making and other actions; and 

Demonstrate, communicate and embed the standard operating principles or values through 
appropriate policies and processes which will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure they are 
operating effectively. 

Being committed to using the role of Overview and Scrutiny in the Council’s governance structure, 
to provide challenge to the Executive and Senior Management Team and to drive improvement. It 
is sometimes referred to as the “critical friend” of the Council and can hold a magnifying glass 
over any area which is causing concern or issues for local residents. It can be a powerful tool for 
empowering communities and enabling local people, through the elected members, to have a say 
in decisions which affect their day to day lives.
The key roles of Overview and Scrutiny include:

 Holding the Executive to account. 
 Monitoring and reviewing policies. 
 Reviewing Council services in order to obtain better outcomes for the community. 

P
age 261



4

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Respecting the 
rule of the Law

The Constitution defines statutory roles and responsibilities and the terms of reference for 
Committees. 

The Council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of 
CIPFA’s “Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government” as the Head 
of Financial Services (s151 Officer) is a key member of the Senior Management Team and has 
unfettered access to the Leader and Chief Executive.
The Monitoring Officer and has a duty to report to the Council and Executive in any case where 
they are of the opinion that any proposal, decision or omission will give rise to unlawfulness or if 
any decision or omission has given rise to or would constitute maladministration.
The Monitoring Officer provides a range of functions relating to the conduct of Members (for 
example maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests, Code of Conduct complaints etc.), 
advising the Audit Committee and providing commentary on every report to the Executive and 
Council. 

B Ensuring 
openness and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement.

Openness

Engaging 
comprehensivel
y with 
stakeholders

The Council operates a formal Corporate Complaints System in accordance with best practice, 
giving members of the public the means through which to complain about aspects of the Council’s 
services with which they are dissatisfied. The Council’s whistle blowing arrangements are publicly 
available to ensure there is a clear channel of confidential reporting for the public.
The Senior Management Team undertakes monthly reviews of the Corporate Complaints to 
ascertain areas which we can learn to do things better in the future. The Local Government 
Ombudsman provides an annual report detailing the number of complaints and enquiries they 
receive along with the outcome. 

The Council Plan is the key policy document for the Council, providing the framework for all 
Council activity. The Council Plan provides a clear message to the public and our partners about 
the priorities for the Council over a four years period, and where the Council will focus its 
resources and activity. Along with the Council’s vision  and priorities the Council Plan also details 
the key objectives to be delivered in support of the priority themes.

P
age 262

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/overview-and-scrutiny.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/overview-and-scrutiny.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-suggestions.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/whistleblowing-policy.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/downloads/Council_Plan_2015-19_summary_finalv1_A4.pdf
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/allerdales-vision.aspx


5

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Engaging 
stakeholders 
effectively, 
including 
individual 
citizens and 
service users

User satisfaction is measured through a variety of channels and media. The Council carries out a 
large scale perceptions survey every two years. The survey specifically asks residents how 
satisfied they are with a variety of Council services as well as how informed they feel about 
Council decision making and how far they feel the Council provides value for money.
The Council Plan is reviewed annually with members to ensure the vision and priority themes are 
still relevant and consistent with members’ aspirations.  Executive Portfolios are reviewed by the 
Leader of the Council and all portfolio holders have been assigned responsibility for specific 
objectives in the Council Plan 2015-19.  

C Defining 
outcomes in 
terms of 
sustainable 
economic, 
social, and 
environmental 
benefits.

Defining 
outcomes 

Sustainable 
economic, 
social and 
environmental 
benefits

The Council Plan 2015-19 is underpinned by a set of supporting strategies and a detailed 
Business Plan that sets out key activities and performance measures for each priority theme in 
the Council Plan. This Business Plan forms the basis of quarterly performance reports considered 
by the Senior Management Team, Executive and Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The decision making framework is outlined in the Constitution and supported by an information 
system. This system documents the decisions made and provides decision makers efficient and 
effective access to good quality information. Information provided to support decisions made, 
includes the economic, social and environmental benefits and how these contribute to strategic 
plans. 

D Determining 
the interventions 
necessary to 
optimize the 
achievement of 

Determining 
Interventions

Ensure decision makers receive objective and rigorous analysis of a variety of options indicating 
how intended outcomes would be achieved and including the risks associated with those options. 
Therefore ensuring best value is achieved however services are provided.

P
age 263

https://www.facebook.com/pages/Allerdale-Borough-Council/19233423780
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance/consultation.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance/council-plan/performance-of-the-council-pla.aspx


6

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours
the intended 
outcomes.

Planning 
Interventions

Optimising 
achievement of 
intended 
outcomes

Consider feedback from service users when making decisions about service improvement 
prioritise competing demands within limited resources available including people, skills, land 
and assets and bearing in mind future impacts. 

Employ a robust financial planning and review processes setting a balanced budget each 
financial year. This is agreed by Members and includes rigorous financial monitoring 
procedures and quarterly financial reporting to the Council’s Executive.
Ensure the annual budget is set within the context of the Council’s three year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. The Medium Term Financial Strategy provides the sustainable funding 
strategy within which the Council seeks to achieve the priorities set out in the Council plan and 
highlights the key financial risks facing the Council. 

Manage and monitor appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) as part of the planning 
process in order to identify how the performance of services and projects is to be measured. 

Ensure the medium term financial strategy integrates and balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource constraints; 

Ensure the budgeting process is all-inclusive, taking into account the full cost of operations 
over the short, medium and longer term.

Ensure the medium term financial strategy sets the context for ongoing decisions on 
significant delivery issues or responses to changes in the external environment that may arise 
during the budgetary period in order for outcomes to be achieved while optimising resource 
usage; and 

Ensure the achievement of ‘social value’ through service planning and commissioning is 
demonstrated. Communicate the social value achieved as a result of commissioning activities 
to demonstrate the benefits to local residents.

P
age 264



7

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

E Developing 
the Council’s 
capacity, 
including the 
capability of its 
leadership and 
the individuals 
within it.

Developing the 
Councils 
capacity.

Developing the 
capacity of 
Councils 
leadership and 
other individuals

The Council has adopted a suite of core and functional behaviours which all staff have collectively 
agreed is ‘what great looks like’ at Allerdale Borough Council. This behaviours framework is being 
used to develop the workforce, assist with communications by providing good well thought out 
feedback, enhance accountability and decision making and provides a clear definition of the 
standards of behaviour for staff. This is supported by the Council’s code of conduct and member 
induction programme. 

Develop protocols to ensure that elected and appointed leaders receive clarification 
regarding their respective roles early on in the relationship and that a shared understanding 
of roles and objectives is maintained.

Publish a statement that specifies the types of decisions that are delegated and those 
reserved for the collective decision making of the governing body. 

Ensure the Leader and the Chief Executive have clearly defined and distinctive leadership 
roles within a structure whereby the Chief Executive leads the Council in implementing 
strategy and managing the delivery of services and other outputs set by Members and each 
provides oversight for the other’s authority. 

Develop the capabilities of Members and senior management to achieve effective shared 
leadership and to enable the organisation to respond successfully to changing legal and policy 
demands as well as economic, political and environmental changes and risks by: 

 ensuring Members and staff have access to appropriate induction tailored to their role and 
that ongoing training and development matching individual and organisational 
requirements is available and encouraged; 

 ensuring Members and Officers have the appropriate skills, knowledge, resources and 
support to fulfil their roles and responsibilities and ensuring that they are able to update 
their knowledge on a continuing basis; and 

 ensuring personal, organisational and system-wide development through shared learning, 
including lessons learnt from governance weaknesses both internal and external. 

P
age 265

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/downloads/Employee_Code_of_Conduct.pdf
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-democracy-election/member-induction.aspx
http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-democracy-election/member-induction.aspx


8

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Take steps to consider the leadership’s own effectiveness and ensure leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer review and inspections.

Ensure arrangements are in place to maintain the health and wellbeing of the workforce 
through the Employee Health and Wellbeing Group and support individuals in maintaining 
their own physical and mental wellbeing. 

F Managing 
risks and 
performance 
through robust 
internal control 
and strong 
public financial 
management.

Managing Risk

Managing 
performance

Robust Internal 
Control

To support the need for continuous improvement the Council agreed to develop an integrated 
assurance framework to contribute to the delivery of the objectives of the Council Plan. This is 
being embedded via regular facilitator led risk management sessions and improved service 
planning and risk management processes.

Manage the performance of services provided to customers and ensure this is monitored through 
a range of financial and non-financial performance measures which are reported within services 
and to the Senior Management Team, Executive and Scrutiny.

Maintain a Corporate risks and issues log that is discussed at the Senior Management Team 
meeting regularly and ensure risk owners are clear of their roles and responsibilities in the risk 
management framework. Communication of risk as part of the quarterly performance report 
ensures the Council’s Executive have an opportunity to consult and contribute

Align the Integrated Assurance strategy and policies on internal control to the achievement of 
objectives.

Evaluate and monitor the Council’s risk management and internal control arrangements on a 
regular basis.

Ensure effective counter fraud and anti-corruption arrangements are in place. 

P
age 266

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance/performance-reports.aspx


9

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Ensure additional assurance on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of 
governance, risk management and control is provided by Internal Audit. 

Establish an Audit Committee to oversee the workings of the corporate governance 
arrangements of the Council and to report to Council on these and related financial probity 
issues. The Audit Committee operates in accordance with CIPFA’s “Audit Committees – 
Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and provides a further source of effective assurance 
regarding arrangements for managing risk and maintaining an effective control environment and 
ensures agreed recommendations are implemented

G Implementing 
good practices 
in transparency, 
reporting, and 
audit to deliver 
effective 
accountability.

Implementing 
good practice in 
transparency

Implementing 
good practices 
in reporting

All formal meetings are held in public, and the reports and minutes of those meetings are 
published on the Council’s website, unless there are legal reasons for confidentiality. There are 
opportunities for members of the public to ask questions at meetings of the Council, Committees 
and Scrutiny Panels. Many channels of communication are used to ensure all stakeholders find 
information accessible.

Report to stakeholders quarterly on performance, value for money and the use of its resources 
in the delivery of priorities in a timely, clear and concise way. 

Ensure robust arrangements for assessing the extent to which the principles contained in this 
Framework have been applied and publish the results on this assessment including an action 
plan for improvement and evidence to demonstrate good governance (Annual Governance 
Statement).

Ensure the performance information that accompanies the financial statements is prepared on a 
consistent and timely basis and the statements allow for comparison with other similar 
organisations. 

P
age 267

http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.allerdale.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1


10

Principle Sub Principles Councils Actions and Behaviours

Assurance and 
effective 
accountability 

Provide an annual audit opinion the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisations framework 
for risk management, control and governance processes is provided to the Audit Committee 
based on the work undertaken by Internal Audit during the year. 
Ensure the Assurance Risk and Audit Manager reports to the Council’s Head of Governance and 
Monitoring Officer and has access to the Senior Management Team, Section 151 Officer and 
Chief Executive as required. 
Embed the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards into the Internal Audit Service operations 
and constantly review quality and strive for improvement.
Employs a Head of Financial Services who is designated as the responsible officer for the 
administration of the Council’s financial affairs under section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972; their responsibilities are defined in the constitution.

Signed

Leader of Allerdale Borough Council

Signed

Chief Executive of Allerdale Borough Council

P
age 268

http://www.allerdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/internal-audit.aspx


Allerdale Borough Council

Council – 7 March 2018

Waiver of six month councillor attendance rule (section 85 of the Local 
Government Act 1972)

The Reason for the Decision For the Council to consider whether to 
approve a reason for the non-attendance 
of Councillor Duncan Fairbairn.

Summary of options considered Whether to approve or not to approve a 
reason for non-attendance.

Recommendations That the Council considers the request to 
extend Councillor Duncan Fairbairn’s 
period of office beyond the six month 
period of non-attendance provided for 
within section 85(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds of 
ill health and extends the period for a 
further six months, to expire on 
20 September 2018.

Financial /  Resource Implications None arising from this report.

Legal / Governance Implications Section 85(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 states that “if a member of a 
local authority fails throughout a period of 
six consecutive months from the date of 
his last attendance to attend any meeting 
of the authority, he shall, unless the 
failure was due to some reason approved 
by the authority before the expiry of that 
period, cease to be a member of the 
authority”.

Community Safety Implications None arising from this report.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None arising from this report.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected Warnell

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

N/A

Page 269

Agenda Item 21



Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis

Lead Officer Dean Devine
Democratic and Support Services Officer
01900 702502
dean.devine@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial N
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

Local Government Act 1972

Knowles on Local Authority Meetings

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 sets out that if a councillor 
does not attend any meeting within a six month period, he will cease to be a 
member of the authority. This requirement can be waived and the time limit 
extended if any failure to attend was due to a reason approved by the Council, 
in advance of the six month period expiring.

1.2 Due to ill health and his ongoing recovery, Councillor Duncan Fairbairn has 
been unable to attend any meetings since Council on 20 September 2017. A 
request has therefore been made for an extension of the six month rule which 
must be approved by Council before the period expires on 20 March 2018.

1.3 If the Council does not approve the reason for non-attendance and therefore 
does not agree to extend the non-attendance period, Councillor Duncan 
Fairbairn will cease to be a member of Allerdale Borough Council after 
20 March 2018.

Page 270



2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That the Council considers the request to extend Councillor Duncan 
Fairbairn’s period of office beyond the six month period of non-attendance 
provided for within section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the 
grounds of ill-health and extends the period for a further six months, to expire 
on 20 September 2018.

Dean Devine
Democratic and Support Services Officer

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 272


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meetings Wednesday 17 January 2018 of Council
	Minutes , 17/01/2018 Council

	8 Announcements from the Mayor, Leader or Head of Paid Service
	9 Portfolio Holder Updates
	10 Executive Minutes
	11 Reference from Executive 21 February 2018 - Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20
	Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

	12 Reference from Executive 21 February 2018 - Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendices A & B for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix C for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendices D & E for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix F for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix G for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix H for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix I for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix J for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix K for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19

	13 Council Tax Resolution Report 2018/19
	Appendix A
	Appendix B1
	Appendix B2
	Appendix B3
	Appendix C

	14 Reference from Audit Committee 19 February 2018 - Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19
	Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19
	Appendix 1 for Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19
	Appendix 2 for Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2018/19

	15 Members' Allowances 2018/19
	Appendix 1 - report by the Independent Panel for Councillors Allowances
	Appendix 2 - Allerdale Borough Council Members' Allowances Scheme 2018/19

	16 Pay Policy Statement 2018/19
	17 Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	18 Community Governance Reviews
	Appendix A for Community Governance Reviews
	Appendix B for Community Governance Reviews

	19 Appointment of Deputy Electoral Registration Officers
	20 Reference from Audit Committee 19 February 2018 - Local Code of Corporate Governance
	Report for Local Code of Corporate Governance
	Local Code of Corporate Governance

	21 Waiver of six month councillor attendance rule (section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972)

